


About our Cover

on the cover is the balangay team raising the Philippine flag. the balangay team, consisting of a hardy crew of 40, journeyed 

throughout Southeast Asia in 14 months, using three replicas of ancient Filipino boats and relying on the sun, the stars, the wind, 

cloud formations, wave patterns, and bird migrations to navigate. the team covered 14,000 kilometers and braved unfamiliar, 

even stormy seas thereby showcasing the best of the Filipino to the world. 

First Philippine Holdings renews its commitment to Philippine development, as it braves new horizons through pioneering 

and sustainable undertakings. the Company will continue to represent the best of the Filipino, united by shared values 

and consistently adhering to global best practices in clean and renewable energy generation, power distribution, property 

and infrastructure development, and manufacturing for the electrical and solar power industries, while consciously and 

deliberately protecting the environment for the benefit of future generations. 

buSineSS MiSSion
our basic purpose is to create new wealth for our stakeholders.

our businesses will focus on vital needs for national development in the areas of energy, infrastructure, manufacturing and 
supporting industries.

Credo
We believe in the Filipino’s ability to innovate, to seize developmental opportunities borne from the real needs  
of domestic and overseas markets.

We affirm our partnership with the Filipino in their endeavor of ever pushing the social development frontiers beyond 
currently known limits.

We share the Filipino’s vision of spreading gainful employment to all who are willing to put their talents in the total 
betterment of the Filipino.

tHe FPH CoMMitMentS
We at the First Philippine Holdings commit to the Filipino nation:
•	 our continuing search for innovative ventures and technology that optimize human and natural resources bringing out 

the best from the Filipino mind and skills; and
•	 our thrust towards the development of communities and persons we influence in our work. 

We commit to our suppliers of goods and services:
•	 our adherence to conducting business transactions with integrity, fairness, and professionalism;
•	 our willingness to assist in their development; and
•	 our continuous assistance in improving the quality of such services.

We commit to our stockholders:
•	 our untiring efforts to give competitive returns on their investments while exercising prudence in our decisions.

We commit to our customers:
•	 our unceasing quest to meet their needs; and
•	 our uncompromising struggle for excellence in meeting their expectations.

We commit to all members of the FPH family:
•	 our institution of better and more comprehensive programs that allow for total personal development; and
•	 our constant search for more effective ways to foster teamwork and employee participation to attain higher levels of 

productivity and creativity. 

The	cover	of	this	First	Philippine	Holdings	2010	Annual	Report	
is	printed	on	9Lives	Silk,	a	paper	made	of	carbon	neutral	quality	
composed	of	55%	post-consumer	waste.

The	inside	pages	are	printed	on	Sinar	Woodfree	which	is	55%	
recycled.
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n Financial Highlights and Management’s 

discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and results of operation

december 31
OPERATING RESULTS (In million Php)1 2010 2009 (as restated)
revenues  64,285  59,094 
   Sale of electricity  52,973  48,243 
   Sale of merchandise  6,076  4,341 
   equity in net earnings of associates  2,777  2,097 
   Contracts and services  1,697  1,390 
   Sale of real estate  657  1,044 
   Share in project revenue of joint ventures  105  1,979 
Finance costs  (5,594)  (6,897)
Foreign exchange loss  (241)  (442)
Provision for income tax  1,935  2,027 
Gain on sale of investment in an associate  23,560  8,957 
net income for the year  28,372  13,074 
net income attributable to equity holders of the parent  24,850  8,731 
FINANCIAL POSITION (In million Php)2

total assets  160,534  149,027 
investments and deposits in associates  57,222  63,529 
total debt  66,437  86,236 
total long-term debt  42,311  54,852 
total liabilities  69,154  88,920 
total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  63,679  38,691 
total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent - adjusted3  80,984  53,863 
total equity  91,380  60,107 
total equity - adjusted3  108,685  75,279 
FINANCIAL RATIOS
return on equity4 36.86% 17.60%
dividend payout ratio5 13.28% 39.18%
Current ratio (times)6  1.87  1.41 
debt to equity (times)7  0.61  1.15 
PER SHARE DATA (In Php)
earnings per share8

   basic 41.076  13.837 
   diluted 40.652  13.779 
book value per share9  133.55  83.39 
Price earnings ratio10  1.52  3.47 
Market price 62.60  48.00 
Cash dividend per share11 1.96 0.79 
number of common shares issued, subscribed and outstanding  574,194,048  594,326,513 
Weighted average number of shares
   basic 591,270,907  590,355,623 
   diluted 597,441,198  592,805,699 
number of stockholders 12,899  13,019 

1  the statements of income for the years ended december 31, 2010 and 2009 are set out on the consolidated financial statements. 
2  the statement of financial position as of december 31, 2010 and 2009 are set out on the consolidated financial statements.
3  equity - adjusted excludes cumulative translation adjustments (CtA), share in other comprehensive income of associates, and equity reserve pertaining to effect of dilution 

of a subsidiary and effect of acquisition of minority interests
4  return on equity = net income for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent / average total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent - adjusted
5  dividend payout ratio = dividends paid to common shareholders by parent / last year’s net income attributable to equity holders of the parent
6  Current ratio = current assets / current liabilities
7  debt to equity ratio = total debt / total equity - adjusted.  the details of the total debt are set out on the notes to consolidated financial statements (note 32).
8  the ePS computation for the years ended december 31, 2010 and 2009 are set out on the notes to the consolidated financial statements (note 29).
9  book value per share = (total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent - adjusted less preferred equity) / number of common shares, subscribed and outstanding
10  Price-earnings ratio = market value per share / basic earnings per share
11 Cash dividend per share = cash dividends paid to common shareholders / weighted average number of common shares (basic)
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the following management’s discussion and analysis of the Company’s financial condition and results of operations 
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes 
as at december 31, 2010 and 2009 and for each of the three years in the period ended december 31, 2010, 2009 and 
2008.  this discussion includes forward-looking statements, which may include statements regarding future results of 
operations, financial condition or business prospects, which are subject to significant risks, uncertainties and other factors 
and are based on FPH’s current expectations, some of which are beyond FPH’s control and are difficult to predict.  these 
statements involve risks and uncertainties and our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these 
forward-looking statements.

OVERVIEW

the Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the products and 
services, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different 
markets.  the Group conducts the majority of its business activities in the following areas:
•	 Power generation and power-related activities – power generation subsidiaries under First Gen Corporation (First 

Gen).
•	 Manufacturing – manufacturing subsidiaries under First Philippine electric Corporation (First Philec).
•	 others – investments holdings, oil transporting company, construction, real estate development, securities transfer 

services and financing.

the table below shows the contribution of each of our business segments to our consolidated revenues, finance income, 
finance cost, benefit from (provision for) income tax and net income (loss).  our revenues are derived from our operations 
conducted in the Philippines.

(in	Millions) Power	Generation	
and	Power-related	
Activities

Manufacturing Investment	Holdings,	
Oil	transporting,	
Construction,	Real	
Estate	Development	and		
Others

Eliminations Consolidated

For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2010

revenues* P52,973 P6,076 P2,459 P- P61,508

equity in net earnings of associates 2,163 39 575 - 2,777

Finance cost 4,722 137 809 (74) 5,594

Finance income 402 3 746 (74) 1,077

Provision for income tax 1,895 20 20 - 1,935

Segment income 5,482 190 22,716 (16) 28,372

For	the	year	ended	December	31,	2009

revenues* P48,243 P4,341 P4,413 P- P56,997

equity in net earnings of associates 56 46 1,995 - 2,097

Finance cost 5,354 74 1,491 (22) 6,897

Finance income 332 4 402 (22) 716

Provision for income tax 1,821 21 185 - 2,027

Segment income (loss) 2,535 (131) 8,667 (1) 11,070

* excluding equity in net earnings of associates
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DECEMBER 31, 2010 COMPARED TO DECEMBER 31, 2009

Financial Condition
As of december 31, 2010, the Group’s audited consolidated 
assets totaled P160.5 billion, higher by 8% compared to the 
december 31, 2009 audited consolidated balance of  
P149.0 billion.

Short-term cash investments increased by 100%
this account consists of short-term placements made for 
period of more than three months.  the P5.0 billion short-
term cash investments are that of the Parent Company.

Trade and other receivables – net decreased by 28%
this account consists of trade receivables, receivables from 
Meralco on annual deficiency (arising from FGPC and FGP’s 
gas take-or-pay receivables), cost of estimated earnings in 
excess of billings on uncompleted contract of Fbi and others.  
trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally 
on 30 days’ terms.  trade and other receivables decreased by 
28%, or P2.2 billion, to P5.7 billion mainly due to the lower 
trade receivables of the gas plants and FPiP.  the former was 
due to early payment made by its off-taker (Meralco), whereas 
FPiP reported an unusually high trade receivables last year 
owing to the major lot and rbF sale made towards the end 
of last year.  Moreover, the receivable from Meralco on annual 
deficiency (P485 million) were fully settled in 2010.

Inventories – decreased by 21%
inventories decreased by 21%, or P1.0 billion, to P3.7 billion 
due to the use of liquid fuel by the gas plants during the 
period as a result of the Malampaya’s scheduled maintenance 
outage and sale of land by FPiP in March 2010.  these were 
tempered by the increase in inventory level of Fbi.

Other current assets decreased by 11%
this account includes prepaid expenses and taxes, share in 
current assets of joint ventures and others.  other current 
assets decreased by 11%, or P325 million, to P2.7 billion 
due to lower share in the current assets of the joint venture 
projects of Fbi as a result of the completion of the major 
projects.

Investments and deposits in associates decreased by 
10%
investment and deposits in associates decreased by 10%, or 
P6.3 billion to P57.2 billion, due to  the sale of 6.6% interest 
in Meralco to beacon electric and the reclassification of the 
remaining investment in Meralco to the investments in equity 
securities account.  the decline was tempered by equity 
in net earnings during the period, additional deposit for 
future stock subscriptions and cost of additional edC shares 
purchased by First Gen through an ordinary block sale in 
the Philippine Stock exchange (PSe). First Gen also has a call 
option agreement over an aggregate 585 million common 
shares of stock in edC within a period of three years or up to 
April 2013.

Investments in equity securities increased 13,175%
the investments in equity securities mainly pertains to the 
P17.0 billion investment in Meralco, which was reclassified 
from investments and deposits in associates account as a 
result of the reduced ownership in Meralco to 6.6%.  the 
balance represents other equity securities investments.

Property, plant and equipment increased by 6%
Property, plant and equipment increased by 6%, or  
P1.8 billion, to P31.0 billion due to reclassification of prepaid 
major spare parts resulting from the scheduled major 
maintenance outage of the Santa rita and San lorenzo 
plants, as well as new capital equipment purchased by First 
Philec Solar Corp. during the year.  these were reduced by the 
depreciation and amortization for the year.

Goodwill and intangible assets decreased by 9%
Goodwill and intangible assets decreased by 9%, or  
P63 million, to P634 million due mainly to amortization and 
translation of First Gen’s uS dollar denominated financial 
statements into Philippine peso.

Retirement benefit asset increased by 8%
retirement benefit asset increased by 8%, or P69 million, to 
P906 million due to contribution to the Parent Company’s 
pension fund.

Deferred tax assets increased by 173%
the increase in deferred tax assets was due to foreign 
currency movements during the period.

Other noncurrent assets decreased by 25%
other noncurrent assets decreased by 25%, or P2.7 billion, 
to P7.9 billion due to the following: consumption of prepaid 
gas by FGPC and FGP during the latter part of 2010; and cost 
of spare parts pertaining to turbine blades of the Santa rita 
and San lorenzo power plants were reclassified into property, 
plant and equipment account as these parts were installed 
during the gas plant’s scheduled major maintenance outages 
during the year.

Loans payable decreased by 96%
this account consists of bridge loans and Short-term loans.  
the P11.2 billion short-term loans from MPiC were settled on 
March 30, 2010.

Trade payables and other current liabilities increased by 
4% 
this account includes, among others, trade payables, accrued 
interest and financing costs.  trade payables are non-interest 
bearing and are normally settled on 30 to 60 days’ payment 
terms.  Accrued interest and financing costs are normally 
settled semi-annually throughout the year.

trade payables and other current liabilities increased by 4%, 
or P392 million, to P9.2 billion mainly due to higher provisions 
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for pipeline-related costs.  in 2010, FPiC recognized provisions 
amounting to P274 million for the estimated engineering and 
rehabilitation works and contingency compensation for any 
damages relative to the petroleum seepage detected at a 
certain area.

Income tax payable decreased by 37%
income tax payable decreased by 37%, or P160 million, to 
P267 million mainly due to the net result of higher creditable 
withholding taxes applied against the income tax payables of 
FGPC and FGP in 2010.

Bonds Payable, including current portion, decreased by 
50%
First Gen’s P5.0 billion Philippine peso-denominated bonds 
were settled on July 30, 2010.  in addition to the Philippine 
peso-denominated bonds, First Gen Corp. issued on 
February 11, 2008, uS$260 million, uS dollar-denominated 
Convertible bonds (Cbs) due on February 11, 2013 with a 
coupon rate of 2.5%.  the Cbs are listed on the Singapore 
exchange Securities trading limited.  First Gen has bought 
back some of its Cbs with a face value of uS$74.0 million 
for a total settlement amount of uS$83.2 million.  this was, 
however, partially offset by the accretion of the embedded 
derivatives in the Cbs and debt issuance cost.

Subsequent to the balance Sheet date, on February 11, 2011, 
holders of First Gen’s Cbs amounting to uS$72.5 million 
exercised their option to require the First Gen to redeem the 
Cbs at a price of 115.6% of the face value.  the total put value 
amounting to uS$83.8 million (with a face value of uS$72.5 
million and a carrying value of uS$83.1 million) was paid on 
February 11, 2011.

Long-term debt, including current portion, increased by 
2%
long-term debt, including current portion increased by 2%, 
or P819 million, to P47.0 billion, due to loans obtained by First 
Gen and First Philec Group tempered by principal payments 
on existing loans.

Obligations to Gas Sellers decreased by 100%
obligations to Gas Sellers were reduced to zero following the 
final settlement.

Derivative liabilities increased by 50%
the increase in derivative liabilities to P1.8 billion was mainly 
due to lower libor rates.  FGPC recognizes derivative 
liabilities as it entered into interest rate swap agreements to 
hedge the interest payments of its debt.

Deferred tax liabilities decreased by 47%
the P401 million or 47% decrease in deferred tax liabilities 
to P459 million was mainly due to the decrease in First Gen’s 
deferred tax liabilities resulting from movements of foreign 
exchange during the period.

Retirement benefit liability increased by 5%
retirement benefit liability increased by 5%, or P11 million, 
to P241 million mainly due to accruals of retirement benefit 
obligations.

Other noncurrent liabilities decreased by 40%
other noncurrent liabilities decreased by 40%, or P937 million, 
to P1.4 billion due to the reduction in unearned revenues 
following the use of prepaid gas during the last quarter of 
2010.

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent 
increased by 65%
total equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent 
increased by 65%, or P25.0 billion, to P63.7 billion.  the 
following major items brought about the net increase in 
equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent:

1. in accordance with the company’s share repurchase 
program, which commenced on July 12, 2010, the Parent 
Company repurchased 25,689,440 common shares at an 
average cost of P63.1/share during the period for a total 
consideration of P1.6 billion;

2. unrealized fair value gains on investments in equity 
securities reached P3.5 billion from P26 million gain in 
december 2009, due to the revaluation of the remaining 
Meralco shares held by the Group.  As mentioned earlier, 
the sale of additional Meralco shares on March 30, 2010 
resulted in the change in the treatment of investment in 
Meralco shares from the equity method used previously 
to investments in equity securities, necessitating the 
regular mark-to-market revaluation of said investment.

3. Cumulative translation adjustments climbed P2.7 billion 
to P15.8 billion from P13.1 billion last december 2009 
due to translation losses from the peso appreciation.

4. Share in other comprehensive income of associates 
amounted to P5.7 billion from P3.1 billion last year  
this pertains to comprehensive income of the Prime 
terracota Group, which was deconsolidated on April 30, 
2009.

5. retained earnings increased by 62%, or P23.1 billion, to 
P60.4 billion due to the net income registered for the 
period reduced by the dividends declared.

Non-controlling interests increased by 29%
non-controlling interests represent the portion of net assets 
not held by the Group.  this includes, among others, the 
equity interests in First Gen and subsidiaries, FPiC, FPHC realty 
and FPiP and subsidiaries not held by the Group.  the increase 
was due to the non-controlling interests share in the higher 
net income of the Group.
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DECEMBER 31, 2010 COMPARED TO DECEMBER 31, 2009

Results of Operations

Revenue
the Group’s consolidated revenues totaled P64.3 billion for the year ended december 31, 2010.  this is higher by 9% or 
P5.2 billion, compared to the previous year’s P59.1 billion.

the following table sets out the contribution of each of the components of revenues as a percentage of the Company’s 
total revenue for december 31, 2010 and 2009:

For the year ended december 31 (amounts in Millions)

2010 2009 Increase	(decrease)
Amount	(%)

Sale of electricity P52,973 82% P48,243 82% P4,730 10%

Sale of merchandise 6,076 10% 4,341 7% 1,735 40%

equity in net earnings of associates 2,777 4% 2,097 4% 680 32%

Contracts and services 1,697 3% 1,390 2% 307 22%

Sale of real estate 657 1% 1,044 2% (387) -37%

Share in project revenue of joint ventures 105 -% 1,979 3% (1,874) -95%

Total P64,285 100% P59,094 100% P5,191 9%

the company’s revenues comprise of:

Sale of electricity
Sale of electricity accounts for 82% of total revenues in 
2010 and in 2009.  revenue from sale of electricity went 
up by 10% (P4.7 billion) to P53.0 billion due to higher fuel 
charges resulting from a (1) combined slightly higher 
average plant dispatch of the gas plants to 82.7% for 
2010 against 82.3% in 2009, and (2) use of the more 
expensive liquid fuel during the maintenance outage of the 
Malampaya platform.  

Sale of Merchandise
revenue from sale of merchandise is derived from the sale 
of power and distribution transformers and production 
of silicon wafers.  Sale of merchandise contributed 10% 
to total revenues in 2010, up from 7% in 2009.  Sale of 
merchandise grew by 40% (P1.7 billion) to P6.1 billion due 
to higher revenues reported by First Philec Solar Corp. – 
First Philec’s unit manufacturing sliced silicon wafers.

Equity in net earnings of associates
this represents the Company’s share in the consolidated 
net income of, among others, Meralco, Prime terracota 
Group (including energy development Corp. and FG 
Hydro), First Private Power Corporation (FPPC), rockwell 
land Corporation (rockwell land) and First Sumiden 
Circuits, inc. (FSCi).

there was a significant increase in equity in net earnings 
of associates, by 32% (P680 million) to P2.8 billion, due 
mainly to the full year recognition of equity arising from the 
deconsolidation of First Gen’s Prime terracota Group.  Prior 
to the deconsolidation, First Gen’s equity in net earnings 
pertains to share in the earnings of FPPC/bPPC only.  First 
Gen’s share in earnings for this period totaling P2.2 billion 
includes the combined share in net earnings from Prime 
terracota Group and FPPC.

equity earnings from rockwell land also increased due 
to the higher earnings combined with the increase in our 
stake to 49% when we bought lopez Holding’s (formerly 
benpres Holdings) stake in August 2009.

in the case of Meralco, in spite of the growth of its bottom 
line, the Group’s share in the net earnings of Meralco went 
down by 82% to P285 million, as the Group’s ownership in 
Meralco went down further, from 13.3% (in July 2009 until 
March 30, 2010) to the current level of 6.6% (beginning 
March 31, 2010).  At this level, the Philippine Accounting 
Standards dictates the reclassification of our investment 
in Meralco from investments and deposits in associates to 
investments in equity securities account, also presented 
in the noncurrent portion of the statement of financial 
position.  investments in equity securities are measured 
at fair value.  Any periodic gain or loss is recorded to 
an unrealized gain or loss account that is reported as a 
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separate item in the equity section of the statement of 
financial position.  the gains or losses from investments in 
equity securities are not reported in the income statement 
until such time that the investments are sold or determined 
to be impaired.  this, however, is shown as part of the 
Statement of Comprehensive income.

Contracts and services
revenue from contracts and services is primarily derived 
from construction contracts, engineering projects, pipeline 
shipment of fuel and other petroleum products, and waste-
water treatment facility of the industrial park.  revenue 
from contracts and services accounts for 3% of total 
revenues in 2010 and 2% in 2009.

revenues from contracts and services increased by 22% 
(P307 million) to P1.7 billion, due to higher revenues 
reported by First Philippine industrial Park (FPiP), First Philec 
and First balfour inc. (Fbi).

Sale of real estate
revenue from sale of real estate is derived from sale of 
industrial lots and ready-built factories (rbF) of FPiP in 
batangas.  Sale of real estate amounted to P657 million, 
accounting for about 1% of total revenues in 2010 
against 2% in 2009.  Sale of real estate contracted by 
37% (P387 million) as FPiP failed to match previous year’s 
major sale.

Share in project revenue of joint ventures
First balfour inc. entered into several unincorporated 
construction and engineering joint venture agreements.  
the share in project revenue of joint ventures amounted 
to P105 million only, a significant decline by 95% from the 
almost P2.0 billion posted last year due to the completion 
of major joint venture projects (St. luke’s and lrt 1 
northlink).

Costs and expenses
the Group’s consolidated costs and expenses totaled P53.6 
billion.  this is higher by 14% (P6.6 billion) compared to the 
previous year’s P47.0 billion.

the following table sets out the contribution of each of the components of costs and expenses as a percentage of the 
Group’s total costs and expenses for 2010 and 2009:
 

2010 2009 Increase (decrease)
Amount (%)

operations and maintenance P41,383 77% P36,089 77% P5,294 15%

Merchandise sold 5,338 10% 4,036 9% 1,302 32%

General and administrative 
expenses

4,957 9% 4,082 9% 875 21%

Contracts and services 1,523 3% 934 2% 589 63%

real estate sold 369 1% 169 -% 200 118%

Share in project costs of joint 
ventures

19 -% 1,679 3% (1,660) -99%

Total P53,589 100% P46,989 100% P6,600 14%

the major changes in the Group’s costs and expenses were 
due to the following:

Operations and maintenance
Power plant operations and maintenance (o&M) expenses 
include fuel charges, pipeline charges, fixed and variable 
o&M charges, start-up costs and net dependable Capacity 
bonuses paid to Siemens operations as o&M contractor for 
Santa rita and San lorenzo.  Cost of power plant operations 
and maintenance accounts for 77% of total costs and 
expenses in 2010 and in 2009.

Cost of power plant operations and maintenance increased 
by 15% (P5.3 billion) to P41.4 billion due to, among others, 
increase in fuel cost resulting from higher dispatch of the 

gas plants and use of liquid fuel during the maintenance 
outage of the Malampaya natural gas.

Merchandise sold
Cost of merchandise sold pertains to costs which 
are related to the manufacture of products.  Cost of 
merchandise sold accounts for 10% of total cost and 
expenses in 2010 from 9% in 2009.  Cost of merchandise 
sold increased by 32% (P1.3 billion) to P5.3 billion, due 
to the increase in manufacturing cost of First Philec Solar 
Corp., in line with the increase in its revenues.   

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses include depreciation 
and amortization, salaries and wages, taxes and license 
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fees, insurance premiums and professional fees, repairs 
and maintenance, transportation and travel, rentals, and 
office supplies, among others.  General and administrative 
expenses account for 9% of total costs and expenses in 
2010 and in 2009.  General and administrative expenses 
increased by 21% (P875 million) to P5.0 billion attributed to 
higher personnel expenses and professional fees, among 
others.

Contracts and services
Cost of contracts and services include all direct 
materials, labor costs and indirect costs related to 
contract performance.  Provision for estimated losses on 
uncompleted contracts, likewise, form part of the cost of 
contracts and services.  Such provision is recognized in the 
period in which the loss is determined.  Cost of contracts 
and services accounts for 3% of total costs and expenses for 
2010 and 2% in 2009.  Cost of contracts and services went 
up, by 63% (P589 million) to P1.5 billion.  the increase came 
from new projects of Fbi, and from FPiC, as well.

Real estate sold
Cost of real estate sold is determined on the basis of the 
acquisition cost of the land plus its full development costs, 
which include estimates of costs for future development 
work.  Cost of real estate sold accounts for 1% of total costs 
and expenses in 2010 against less than one percent in 2009.  
Cost of real estate sold went up, by 118% (P200 million) 
to P369 million, over that of last year due to higher cost 
relating to the lot and rbF sold this year.

Share in project costs of joint ventures
the Share in project costs of joint ventures was reduced 
to P19 million from P1.7 billion last year following the 
completion of the major joint venture projects (St. luke’s 
and lrt 1 northlink) and the late start of new joint venture 
project.

Gain on sale of investment in an associate
on March 30, 2010, beacon electric Asset Holdings, inc. 
exercised its call option on the 6.6% of the total outstanding 
common shares of Meralco held by the Group.  the Parent 
Company received a payment of P300 per share or a total 
purchase price of P22.4 billion.  the combined gain on 
the sale and mark-to-market accounting treatment of the 
residual shares amounted to P23.6 billion against P9.0 billion 
– which was the gain recognized during last year’s sale of 
the 20% share in Meralco.  With the remaining 6.6% shares in 
Meralco, the Parent Company may no longer use the equity 
method of accounting.  Said investment is now treated as 
investments in equity securities that will have to be adjusted 
for changes in the market price on a regular basis.

Finance cost
Finance cost comprise of interest expense on debt facilities 
of the Parent and its subsidiaries, the biggest share (84%) of 

which comes from the Power Generation Group.  Finance 
cost went down by 19% (P1.3 billion) to P5.6 billion, as a 
result of principal debt repayments made by the Group.

Mark to market gain (loss) on derivatives
Mark to market gain on derivatives of P247 million in 2010 
represents First Gen’s gain on call option to purchase edC 
shares in the market and on its Convertible bonds.  A 
derivative gain or loss arises from the movement of edC’s 
share price in the market vis-à-vis the call option’s exercise 
price and from the change in the price of the Convertible 
bonds in the market vis-à-vis the put option.

the derivative loss in 2009 mainly pertains to the 
underlying derivative on the exchangeable note 
Agreement between the Group and Piltel on P2.0 billion 
worth of voting common stock of Meralco.  the said note 
was settled on July 14, 2009.  A derivative loss of P1.7 billion 
was recognized to account for the increase in share price of 
Meralco from the agreed price exchange price of P90.00 a 
share vis-à-vis the market price of Meralco share of P168.00.

Finance Income
Finance income increased by 50% (P361 million) to 
P1.1 billion due to higher average cash balance of the 
Parent and First Gen available for short-term investments.

Foreign exchange loss
Foreign exchange gain or loss arose primarily from the 
restatement of dollar-denominated transactions.   For 
the period, net foreign exchange losses amounted to 
P241 million, lower (by 45% or P201 million) against the 
previous year, as the appreciation of the Philippine peso 
against the uS dollar (weighted average exchange rate 
of uSd1: P47.769 last year to uSd1: P45.309 this period) 
positively impacted the Group.

Other income (net)
other income represents management fees and others (like 
rent, dividends, mark-to-market gains and miscellaneous 
income).  other income increased 30% (P130 million) to 
P562 million due to higher management fees, return of 
investment in FPPC and gain on sale of certain properties.

Income before income tax
As a result of the foregoing, income before income tax for 
the period increased by P17.2 billion (131%) to P30.3 billion.

Provisions for (Benefit from) Income Tax
the Group registered a provision for income tax of  
P1.9 billion, lower against the prior yearby 5% as current 
provision for income tax went down, while deferred 
benefit from income tax increased (P420 million this 
year vis-à-vis P362 million last year), resulting from the 
movements in the foreign exchange rates between 
Philippine peso and uS dollar.  
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Income from discontinued operations
Following the deconsolidation of Prime terracota and 
its subsidiaries, operating results of edC from the period 
beginning January 1, 2009 up to April 30, 2009 amounting 
to P2.0 billion were treated as income from discontinued 
operations.

Net income
net income increased by P15.3 billion (117%) to 
P28.4 billion primarily due to gain from sale of Meralco 
shares, as well as from higher earnings reported by 
subsidiaries’ First Gen and First Philec.

Net income attributable to Equity holders of the 
Parent.
of the total net income, net income attributable to 
equity holders of the Parent amounted to P24.9 billion, 
significantly better against the P8.7 billion reported last 
year owing to the larger gain on sale of Meralco shares and 
higher income posted by First Gen and First Philec.

Non-controlling Interests
PFrS requires changes in the presentation of non-
controlling interests in the consolidated balance sheets 
and consolidated statements of income.  non-controlling 
interests is now presented as a footnote in the Statement 
of income and as part of equity in the consolidated balance 
Sheets.

non-controlling interests decreased by 19% to P3.5 billion 
due to the deconsolidation of edC.

Earnings per share for Net income attributable to 
Equity holders of the Parent
basic earnings per share is at P41.076, while diluted 
earnings per share is at P40.652, both significantly higher 
vis-à-vis the prior year owing to the bottom line growth.

Earnings per share from Continuing Operations 
attributable to Equity holders of the Parent
basic earnings per share on net income from continuing 
operations is at P41.076, while diluted earnings per share 
is at P40.652, both significantly higher vis-à-vis the prior 
year as the bottom line growth was driven by result from 
continuing operations.

Earnings per share from Discontinued Operations 
attributable to Equity holders of the Parent
Previous year’s basic and diluted earnings per share from 
discontinued operations pertains to the deconsolidation 
of Prime terracota Group, which was deconsolidated from 
First Gen effective May 1, 2009.

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period
total comprehensive income of P36.0 billion is higher by 
P22.9 billion (176%) compared to last year.  the movement 
in the comprehensive income of the group were as follows: 
1. net income increased by P15.3 billion (117%) to 

P28.4 billion due to gain from sale of Meralco shares, as 
well as from higher earnings reported by subsidiaries’ 
First Gen and First Philec;

2. unrealized gains on Meralco now treated as investments 
in equity securities amounted to P3.4 billion.

3. share in other comprehensive income of associates 
of P2.6 billion this period against P3.1 billion last year.  
this represents First Gen’s share in the translation of the 
peso denominated balance of Prime terracota Group 
into uS dollar – the functional currency of First Gen;

4. the movement on exchange gains on foreign 
currency translation totaled P6.3 billion, due mainly 
from translation of First Gen’s uS dollar-denominated 
financial statements into Philippine peso for 
consolidation purposes.

5. losses on cash flow hedge deferred in equity 
amounted to P462 million – a reversal of the prior 
year’s gains of P1.2 billion, this pertains to mark 
to market valuation of First Gen’s FGPC and FGP’s 
derivative instruments, particularly its interest rate 
swap agreements for its Covered and uncovered 
facilities;

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period 
attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent
total comprehensive income attributable to equity holders 
of the Parent increased significantly, by P17.3 billion (158%) 
to P28.2 billion, due to (1) higher income of the Parent 
(resulting from sale of Meralco shares), (2) exchange gains 
on foreign exchange translations, and (3) unrealized gains 
on investments in equity securities (Meralco).  this was 
reduced by the losses on cash flow hedge.

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period 
attributable to Non-controlling Interests
total comprehensive income attributable to the non-
controlling interests also increased significantly, by 
P5.6 billion (263%) to P7.7 billion, due to higher net 
income and non-controlling interests’ share in other 
comprehensive income reduced by losses on cash flow 
hedge and foreign currency translations.
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Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Incumbent Directors
1. Mr. oscar M. lopez
2. Mr. Federico r. lopez
3. Mr. Manuel M. lopez
4. Mr. Augusto Almeda-lopez
5. Amb. Cesar b. bautista
6.  Mr. Arthur A. de Guia
7 Mr. Peter d. Garrucho, Jr.
8. Mr. oscar J. Hilado
9. Mr. elpidio l. ibañez
10. Mr. eugenio l. lopez iii
11.  Chief Justice Artemio v. Panganiban
12.  Mr. Francis Giles b. Puno
13.  Mr. ernesto b. rufino, Jr.
14.  Mr. Juan b. Santos
15.  Mr. Washington Z. Sycip

Incumbent Corporate Officers
Mr. oscar M. lopez Chairman emeritus and Chief Strategic officer
Mr. Federico r. lopez  Chairman and Chief executive officer
Mr. Manuel M. lopez  vice Chairman of the board
Mr. elpidio l. ibañez President and Chief operating officer
Mr. Francis Giles b. Puno Senior vice President/treasurer and Chief Finance officer
Mr. Arthur A. de Guia  Managing director for Manufacturing and Portfolio investments Group
Mr. Fiorello r. estuar Head of infrastructure business development
Mr. danilo C. lachica  Senior vice President
Mr. richard b. tantoco  Senior vice President
Ms. Perla r. Catahan vice President/Comptroller
Mr. ramon t. Pagdagdagan vice President/internal Auditor
Mr. Anthony M. Mabasa vice President
Mr. leonides u. Garde vice President
Mr. ricardo b. Yatco vice President
Mr. Hector Y. dimacali vice President
Mr. victor emmanuel b. Santos, Jr. vice President
Mr. oscar r. lopez, Jr. vice President
Mr. benjamin r. lopez vice President
Mr. Ariel C. ong vice President
Ms. elizabeth M. Canlas vice President
Mr. enrique i. Quiason Corporate Secretary/Compliance officer
Mr. rodolfo r. Waga, Jr. vP/Assistant Corporate Secretary and Assistant Compliance officer
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Board of Directors
OSCAR M. LOPEZ
80 Years Old, Filipino 
Mr. oscar M. lopez was bestowed the title Chairman 
emeritus on May 31, 2010 which became effective on June 
12, 2010.  He was Chairman and Chief executive officer 
of the Corporation from 1986 to 2010.  Mr. lopez is the 
Chairman of the executive Committee and the nomination, 
election and Governance Committee of the Corporation.  
Mr. lopez is also the Chairman emeritus of lopez Holdings 
Corp., First balfour, inc., First Philec Solar Corp., First Phil. 
electric Corp., First Phil. industrial Corp., First Phil. realty 
Corp., First Phil. realty and dev’t. Corp., First Phil. utilities 
Corp. and Securities transfer Services, inc.  He is likewise 
Chairman of the board of Adtel, inc., Griffin Sierra travel, 
inc., inaec Aviation Corp., inaec business Solutions, inc., 
AbS-Cbn Holdings Corp., eugenio lopez Foundation, 
inc., lopez Group Foundation, inc., Asian eye institute, 
inc., First Phil. industrial Park, inc. and First Sumiden 
Circuits, inc., among other companies. He is also the vice 
Chairman of rockwell land Corporation.  before joining 
the Corporation, he was the President of lopez Holdings 
Corp. (formerly benpres Holdings Corp.) from 1973 to 1986.  
He studied at the Harvard College and graduated cum 
laude (bachelor of Arts) in 1951.  He finished his Masters 
of Public Administration at the littauer School of Public 
Administration, also at Harvard in 1955.  He has been part 
of the lopez group in a directorship and executive capacity 
for the last five (5) years.  Mr. lopez is likewise a director in 
AbS-Cbn broadcasting Corporation.

FEDERICO R. LOPEZ
49 Years Old, Filipino 
Mr. Federico r. lopez was elected as Chairman and Chief 
executive officer on May 31, 2010 which became effective 
on June 12, 2010. He has been a director of the Corporation 
since February 2006 and became a Senior vice President in 
december 2007. He was appointed Managing director for 
energy in February 2008. He also sits as a member of the 
executive Committee and the nomination, election and 
Governance Committee and the Chairman of the Finance 
and investment Committee.  He is also the Chairman and 
Ceo of First Gen and energy development Corp.  He is 
likewise Chairman of First balfour, inc., First Philec Solar 
Corp., First Phil. dev’t. Corp., First Philippine electric Corp., 
First Phil. industrial Corp., First Phil. realty Corp., First 
Phil. realty and dev’t. Corp., First Phil. utilities Corp. and 
Securities transfer Services, inc., among other corporations.  
He graduated with a bachelor of Arts degree with a double 
Major in economics and international relations (Cum 
laude) from the university of Pennsylvania in 1983.  He has 
been part of the lopez group in an executive capacity for 
the last five (5) years.  

MANUEL M. LOPEZ
68 Years Old, Filipino 
Mr. Manuel M. lopez was sworn in as the Philippine 
Ambassador to Japan last december 2, 2010.  Ambassador 
lopez retains his position as the Chairman of the board of 
the Manila electric Company (Meralco) where he served 
as its Chairman and Chief executive officer from 2001 to 
May 2010.  He now also serves at the Chairman and Ceo 
of lopez Holdings Corporation.  Concurrently, he is the 
chairman of the board of bayan telecommunications, 
inc., bayan telecommunications Holdings Corp., indra 
Philippines inc., rockwell land Corporation and rockwell 
leisure Club.  He is the Chairman and President of Meralco 
Millennium Foundation inc. and Meralco Management and 
leadership development Corp.  He is the vice Chairman 
of First Philippine Holdings Corporation and lopez inc. as 
well as a director of AbS-Cbn Corp., AbS-Cbn Holdings 
Corp., Sky Cable Corp., Sky vision Corp., Adtel inc., First 
Philippine realty Corp., Griffin Sierra travel inc. and the 
lopez Group Foundation, inc.  He remains as the President 
of the eugenio lopez Foundation inc.  He is a member of 
the executive Committee, the nomination, election and 
Governance Committee, the Audit Committee and the 
risk Management Committee. He obtained his bachelor 
of Science degree in business Administration from the 
university of the east, and pursued advanced studies in 
financial and management development from the Harvard 
business School.  He has been part of the lopez group and 
of First Phil. Holdings Corp. in a directorship capacity for the 
last five (5) years.  

AUGUSTO ALMEDA-LOPEZ
82 Years Old, Filipino 
Mr. Augusto Almeda-lopez has been a director of the 
Corporation since 1986.  He was vice Chairman from 1993 
to 2010. Mr. Almeda-lopez is a member of the executive 
Committee.  He is Chairman of the Compensation and 
remuneration Committee and a member of the executive 
Committee and the Audit Committee.  Mr. Almeda-lopez 
is also the Chairman of the board of Adtel, inc. and ACriS 
Corporation, vice Chairman of AbS-Cbn and a director of 
First Phil. industrial Corp., bayantel, Skyvision Corp., radio 
Communications of the Phils., inc. and a trustee of AbS-
Cbn Foundation, inc.  He graduated with an Associate in 
Arts degree from Ateneo de Manila and a bachelor of laws 
degree from the university of the Philippines.  He placed 
fourth in the 1952 bar exams. He has been part of the lopez 
group in a directorship capacity for the last five (5) years.
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CESAR B. BAUTISTA
Independent Director
73 Years Old, Filipino
Mr. Cesar b. bautista is a member of the risk Management 
Committee and the Compensation and remuneration 
Committee.  He was an Ambassador extraordinary and 
Plenipotentiary to the united Kingdom of Great britain 
and northern island, republic of ireland and republic of 
iceland.  He was a Permanent representative to the united 
nations international Maritime organization and a Special 
Presidential envoy to europe.  Ambassador bautista served 
as Secretary of the department of trade and industry 
for five years.  He served as Chairman of the board of 
investments, export development Council, industry and 
development Council, Wto/AFtA Advisory Commission, 
the national development Corp., the Presidential 
Committee on national Museum development and 
Cabinet Committee on tariff and related Matters, economic 
Growth Areas/Zones.  He was President and Chairman of 
Philippine refining Company inc.-unilever for eight years.  
He graduated with a degree in bachelor of Science in 
Chemical engineering from the university of the Philippines 
and pursued his Master’s degree in Chemical engineering 
at the ohio State university.  His business experience for 
the last five (5) years includes the positions held above.   
Mr. bautista is likewise an independent director of 
Philratings Corp., Pilipinas Shell, bayantel, Phinma inc., 
Maxicare Corp. and Chartis insurance Corp.  He is also 
the Chairman of Cibi inc. and St. James ventures, inc.  He 
is country eminent person to the ASeAn Connectivity 
task Force and ASeAn-roK ePG.  He assumed office as a 
director of FPHC last June 29, 2007.

ARTHUR A. DE GUIA
58 Years Old, Filipino
Arthur A. de Guia was elected director of the Corporation 
on August 5, 2010.  He is a member of the risk 
Management Committee and the board of trustees of 
the FPHC retirement Fund.  He has been the Managing 
director for Manufacturing and Portfolio investments 
since he joined the Corporation in June 1997.  He is 
currently the President of First Phil. electric Corp.  He is 
also a member of the board of directors of various FPHC 
subsidiaries and affiliates.  He worked for Colgate Palmolive 
Company in a senior executive position in overseas 
assignments in new York, new Zealand and Malaysia.  He 
graduated Gold Medalist/Cum laude from the Mapua 
institute of technology with a bachelor of Science degree 
in electrical engineering.  He completed his Masters of 
engineering degree in industrial Management from the 
Asian institute of technology and received the Alumni 
Award for Academic excellence.  He pursued his doctor of 
engineering degree at the university of California (berkeley) 
under the Fulbright Hayes Fellowship Program.

PETER D. GARRUCHO, JR.
67 Years Old, Filipino 
Mr. Peter d. Garrucho, Jr. was the Managing director of the 
Corporation from 1994 to January 2008.  He has been a 
member of the board for the same period.  He is a member 
of the Audit Committee, Finance and investment Committee 
and risk Management Committee.  Mr. Garrucho was 
formerly the vice Chairman and Chief executive officer of 
First Gen, and the First Gas companies.  He is also a board 
Member of First Gen and energy development Corp.  He 
was also formerly Secretary of the department of trade and 
industry (1991-1992) and of the department of tourism 
(1989-1990). He has likewise served as executive Secretary 
and Adviser on energy Affairs in the office of the President 
of the Philippines in 1992.  Prior to joining government in 
June 1989, he was President of C.C. unson Co., inc., which 
he joined in 1981 after serving as a Full Professor at the 
Asian institute of Management.  He has an Ab-bSbA degree 
from de la Salle university (1966) and an MbA degree from 
Stanford university (1971).

OSCAR J. HILADO
Independent Director
73 Years Old, Filipino 
Mr. oscar J. Hilado has been a director of the Corporation 
since 1996.  Mr. Hilado sits as Chairman of the Audit 
Committee and a member of the nomination and election 
Committee. Mr. Hilado is the Chairman of the Philippine 
investment Management (“PHinMA”), inc. He is also the 
Chairman of Holcim Phils., inc.; President & vice Chairman of 
Atlas Holdings Corporation.  He is currently Chairman of the 
board & Chairman of the executive Committee of bacnotan 
Consolidated industries, inc., Chairman of trans Asia Power 
Generation Corp.; Chairman of trans Asia oil and energy 
development Corp. and Chairman of bacnotan industrial 
Park Corp.  He graduated with Highest Honors and with a 
Gold Medal for General excellence and a bachelor of Science 
in Commerce degree from de la Salle College (bacolod).  He 
pursued his degree of Masters in business Administration 
at the Harvard Graduate School of business Administration 
from 1960-1962.  Mr. Hilado is a Certified Public Accountant.  
He has been part of the lopez Group in a directorship 
capacity within the last five (5) years.  Mr. Hilado is likewise an 
independent director of A. Soriano Corporation.

ELPIDIO L. IBAÑEZ
60 Years Old, Filipino 
Mr. elpidio l. ibañez has been a director of the Corporation 
since 1988 and  became President and Chief operating 
officer in May 1994, a position which he holds up to the 
present.  Prior to this, Mr. ibañez was an executive vice 
President from 1987 to 1994 and a vice President from 1985 
to 1987.  He is a member of the executive Committee and 
the Chairman of the board of trustees of the retirement 
Fund and the employee Stock Purchase Plan board 
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of Administrators. He is Chairman of the board of First 
batangas Hotel Corp., vice Chairman of First Phil. electric 
Corp. and First Phil. Power Systems, inc. and the President 
of First Phil. utilities Corp. and FPH Capital resources, 
inc. He is also a director of various FPHC subsidiaries and 
affiliates such as First Gen Corp. and energy development 
Corporation. He is a member of the board of trustees of the 
Philippine business for the environment and a member of 
the Management Association of the Philippines and the 
Makati business Club. He graduated with an Ab economics 
degree from Ateneo de Manila university. He obtained his 
MbA at the university of the Philippines in 1975.

EUGENIO L. LOPEZ III
58 Years Old, Filipino 
Mr. eugenio l. lopez iii is a director and member of the 
Finance and investment Committee.  He has been a 
director of the Corporation since June 2005. He is also 
the Chairman of the board of AbS-Cbn and has held this 
position since december 10, 1997. He joined AbS-Cbn 
in 1986 as Finance director before he became General 
Manager in 1988 and thereafter President in 1993.  He 
previously worked as General Manager of the MiS group, 
Crocker national bank in San Francisco, uSA.  Mr. lopez 
is a recipient of various Philippine broadcasting industry 
awards.  Mr. lopez served as director of AbS-Cbn from 
1986 to 1997 and as Chairman and Chief executive officer 
since 1997.  He graduated with a bachelor of Arts degree in 
Political Science from bowdoin College and has a Masters 
degree in business Administration from the Harvard 
business School. He has been part of the lopez group in a 
directorship capacity within the last five (5) years.

ARTEMIO V. PANGANIBAN
Independent Director
74 Years Old, Filipino 
Hon. Artemio v. Panganiban was the Chief Justice of the 
Philippines from 2005 to 2006.  He was Justice of the 
Supreme Court from 1995 to 2005.  At present, he is a 
columnist of the Philippine daily inquirer, and acts as 
Adviser, Consultant or independent director of several 
business, civic, non-government and religious groups.  He 
graduated with an Associate in Arts with Highest Honors 
from the Far eastern university in 1956 and with a bachelor 
of laws degree, cum laude and as the Most outstanding 
Student in 1960.  He was placed 6th in the 1960 bar 
examinations with a grade of 89.55 percent.  Aside from 
FPHC, Chief Justice Panganiban is also an independent 
director of GMA network, inc., Meralco, Metro Pacific 
investments Corporation, robinsons land Corporation, 
bank of P.i., Petron Corporation, Metro Pacific tollways, 
Asian terminals and tollways Management Corp.  He is also 
Senior Adviser to Metropolitan bank and trust Company 
and independent Adviser of Pldt.  He assumed office as 
an independent director of FPHC last July 5, 2007 and is 
Chairman of the risk Management Committee.

FRANCIS GILES B. PUNO
46 Years Old, Filipino
Mr. Francis Giles b. Puno was elected director of the 
Corporation on March 3, 2011.  He is a member of the 
Finance and investment Committee.  He was appointed 
Chief Finance officer and treasurer of FPHC in october 
2007, and was promoted to Senior vice President in 
december 2007. He was vice President since he joined the 
Corporation in June 1997. He is currently the President and 
Chief operating officer of First Gen.  He is also a director 
and officer of First Gen, its subsidiaries and affiliates, and 
of First balfour, inc., First Phil. dev’t. Corp., First Phil. electric 
Corp., First Phil. industrial Park, inc., First Phil. realty Corp., 
First Phil. realty and dev’t. Corp., First Phil. utilities Corp. 
and energy development Corp.  before joining FPHC, he 
worked with the Chase Manhattan bank as vice President 
for Global Power and environmental Group. He has a 
bachelor of Science degree in business Management 
from the Ateneo de Manila university and a Master in 
business Administration degree from northwestern 
university’s Kellogg Graduate School of Management in 
Chicago, illinois.  He has been part of the lopez group in an 
executive capacity for the last five (5) years.

ERNESTO B. RUFINO, JR.
69 Years Old, Filipino
Mr. ernesto b. rufino, Jr. was the Chief Finance officer, 
treasurer, and a Senior vice President of the Corporation 
until his retirement in 2007.  He became a director of the 
Corporation from 1986 to 2001.  He was re-elected to the 
board in January 2003 and has remained a director since 
then. He sits as member of the Finance and investment 
Committee and the risk Management Committee.  He is 
also the Chairman and Chief executive officer of Health 
Maintenance, inc. and the President of Securities transfer 
Services, inc.  He is also the Chairman and President 
of Xyloid Management, inc. and a director of trust 
international Paper Corp. before joining the Corporation, 
he served as the President of Merchants investments Corp. 
and Chairman and Ceo of Mever Films, inc.  He has Ab and 
bSbA degrees (Cum laude) from de la Salle university and 
an MbA degree from Harvard university.  He is currently 
active with the Knights of Malta and General lim’s division 
bataan, inc.
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JUAN B. SANTOS
Independent Director
72 Years Old, Filipino 
Mr. Juan b. Santos has been a director of the Corporation 
since 2009.  He is a member of the Audit Committee and 
the nomination, election and Governance Committee. He is 
currently the Chairman of the Social Security Commission, 
the top policy-making body of the Social Security System.  
Mr. Santos was the Chairman and President of nestle 
Philippines, inc. (nPi) up to end March 2003.  Prior to his 
appointment as President of nPi in 1987, he served as 
Ceo of the nestle Group of Companies in thailand.  From 
1989 to 1995, he acted on concurrent capacity as Ceo of 
nestle Singapore Pte. ltd. and nPi.  in addition to his post 
at nPi, he served as director of San Miguel Corp., Pldt, 
Manila electric Company, Malayan insurance Company, 
inc., equitable Savings bank, inc., PCi leasing and Finance, 
inc., inter-Milling Holdings limited and Pt indofood Sukses 
Makmur tbk.  He served as Secretary of trade and industry 
from 14 February to 8 July 2005.  Mr. Santos obtained 
his bSbA degree from the Ateneo de Manila university 
and pursued post-graduate studies at the thunderbird 
Graduate School of Management in Arizona, u.S.A.  He 
completed the Advanced Management Course at iMd in 
lausanne, Switzerland.

WASHINGTON Z. SYCIP
Independent Director
89 Years Old, American 
Mr. Washington Z. Sycip has been a director since 1997.  
Mr. Sycip also sits as member of the Audit Committee, 
nomination, election and Governance Committee and the 
Compensation and remuneration Committee.  Mr. Sycip is 
the Founder of the SGv group, auditors and management 
consultants, with operations throughout east Asia. He is the 
Chairman emeritus of the board of trustees and board of 
Governors of the Asian institute of Management.  He was 
Chairman of the euro-Asia Centre, inSeAd Fountainbleau 
from 1981 to 1988 and President of the international 
Federation of Accountants from 1982 to 1985. He 
graduated with a bachelor of Science in Commerce degree 
(Summa Cum laude) and a Master of Science in Commerce 
degree (Meritissimus) from the university of Santo tomas, 
Philippines.  He pursued his Master of Science in Commerce 
at Columbia university, new York and was admitted to the 
beta Gamma Sigma, Honorary business Society.  He has 
been part of the lopez group in a directorship capacity 
within the last five (5) years.  Mr. Sycip is likewise Chairman 
of MacroAsia Corporation and an independent director of 
benpres, belle Corporation and Highlands Prime, inc.  He 
was the third person to receive the lifetime achievement 
award from the Columbia business School.
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Key Executives

FIORELLO R. ESTUAR
72 Years Old, Filipino
Fiorello r. estuar became the Head of the infrastructure 
business development of the Corporation in August 2007.  
He has been the vice Chairman and Chief executive officer 
of First balfour since november 2006.  He was President of 
Maynilad Water Services from 2004 up to June 2007.  He 
also served as President of First balfour from 2001 to 2004, 
and as a board Member of Security land Corporation 
from 2004 to 2006.  He was Head of Agency of four major 
government agencies, namely, niA, PnCC, eSF and dPWH 
from 1980 to 1991.  He earned his Phd degree in Civil 
engineering at the age of 27 while serving as a faculty and 
research staff at lehigh university uSA from 1960 to 1965.  
He was also a faculty member at the u.P. Graduate School 
of engineering from 1968 to 1970. He has been part of the 
lopez group in an executive capacity within the last five (5) 
years.

DANILO C. LACHICA
56 Years Old, 
Holds American and Filipino Citizenships 
danilo C. lachica has been a Senior vice President of the 
Corporation since July 2005.  He was a vice President 
from May 1999 until June 2005.  He was President of First 
Sumiden Circuits, inc. until october 1, 2007. He is a director 
& Managing director for electronics of First Philec, Philec 
and FedCor. He is currently President of First Philec Solar 
Corporation, First Philec Solar Solutions Corporation and 
First Philec nexolon Corporation. He graduated with a b.S. 
in electrical engineering degree from the university of the 
Philippines and pursued his M.b.A. at the San Jose State 
university, San Jose, California, u.S.A.  He pursued his d.b.A. 
degree at de la Salle university. He has been part of the 
lopez group in an executive capacity for the last five (5) 
years.

RICHARD B. TANTOCO
44 Years Old, Filipino 
richard b. tantoco was promoted to Senior vice President 
last december 2007.  He has been a vice President of the 
Corporation since May 1997. He is currently executive vice 
President and Chief operating officer of First Gen.  He is also 
a director and officer of First Gen subsidiaries and affiliates.  
He is currently the President of edC.  Prior to joining FPHC, 
he worked as a brand Manager with Procter and Gamble 
Philippines and as a member of the consulting firm booz 
Allen and Hamilton, inc. based in new York. He has a bS in 
business Management degree from the Ateneo de Manila 
university where he graduated with honors and an MbA 
in Finance from the Wharton School of business of the 
university of Pennsylvania.  He has been part of the lopez 
group in an executive capacity for the last five (5) years.

PERLA R. CATAHAN
57 Years Old, Filipino 
Perla r. Catahan has been a vice President and Comptroller 
of the Corporation since 1994.  She is a director of First 
Philec, Philippine electric Corp., and Securities transfer 
Services, inc.  She is Group Comptroller of the lopez Group 
of Companies and is also the comptroller of various FPHC 
subsidiaries.  She graduated Magna Cum laude with a 
bachelor of Science in Commerce (Major in Accounting) 
degree from the Philippine College of Commerce in 1974 
and pursued her Master in business Management degree 
at the Asian institute of Management in 1983. She has been 
part of the lopez group in an executive capacity for the last 
five (5) years.

RAMON T. PAGDAGDAGAN
52 Years Old, Filipino
ramon t. Pagdagdagan is a vice President & Head of 
internal Audit of the Corporation since August 2007.  He 
has been with FPHC since october 1994.  He was Assistant 
vice President of the internal Audit group from April 
2000 until July 2007.  He was Assistant vice President-
Comptroller of First Philippine industrial Park, inc. from 
July 1997 to March 2000.  He was assigned to Maxidata, 
inc. as Assistant Comptroller from July 1993 to September 
1994.  He graduated with a bachelor of Science degree in 
Commerce-Accounting from the Polytechnic university of 
the Philippines in 1980.  He pursued his executive Masters 
in business Administration degree at the Asian institute of 
Management from 1999 to 2000. He has been part of the 
lopez group in an executive capacity for the last five (5) 
years.

ANTHONY M. MABASA
51 Years Old, Filipino 
Anthony M. Mabasa has been a vice President of the 
Corporation since 1994.  He is currently the President 
of First Phil. industrial Corp. and of thermaPrime Well 
Services, inc.  He is also a director of First balfour, inc. He 
was President of tollways Management Corporation from 
2003 to 2008, President of FPiC from 2000 to 2003, an 
executive vice President of First balfour from 1998 to 1999 
and President & Chief operating officer of eCCo-Asia from 
August 1994 to october 1999.  He has a bachelor of Science 
in Commerce degree, Major in Management of Financial 
institutions, from the de la Salle university in 1979.  He 
pursued his Master in business Administration degree at 
the university of the Philippines in 1994.  He has been part 
of the lopez group in an executive capacity for the last five 
(5) years.
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OSCAR R. LOPEZ, JR.
52 Years Old, Filipino 
oscar r. lopez, Jr. has been vice President of the 
Corporation since May 2001.  He is currently the Head of 
the Administration Group of FPHC.  He is currently the 
President of First Philippine realty Corp. and First Philippine 
development Corp.  He also serves as a director in First 
Phil. electric Corp.  He has been with the Corporation 
since october 1996.  He went to college at the de la Salle 
university and has attended the executive Masters in 
business Administration Program of the Asian institute of 
Management.  He has been part of the lopez group in an 
executive capacity for the last five (5) years.
 
BENJAMIN R. LOPEZ
38 Years Old, Filipino 
benjamin r. lopez is a vice President and Head of 
Corporate Communications of the Corporation. He has 
occupied this position since november 2006.  He has 
been with FPHC since october 1993.  He was assigned 
to rockwell in May 1995 where he held various posts in 
business development, Sales and Marketing.  Prior to his 
recall to FPHC in June 2004, he was a vice President for 
Project development of rockwell.  He is also a member 
of the board of directors of various subsidiaries such 
as First balfour, inc., First Philec and First Philippine 
utilities Corp.  He graduated with a bachelor of Arts 
degree in international Affairs in 1992 from the George 
Washington university.  He pursued his executive Masters 
in business Administration degree at the Asian institute 
of Management in 2001.  He has been part of the lopez 
group in an executive capacity for the last five (5) years.
 
ARIEL C.  ONG
49 Years Old, Filipino        
Ariel C. ong joined First Philec as a consultant in 2007. 
He was elected as vice President of FPHC last September 
6, 2007 and is seconded to First Philec as a Senior vice 
President. He is currently the President of Philippine electric 
Corp., First electro dynamics Corp. and First Phil. Power 
Systems, inc.  He has over twenty years of experience in 
plant general management and end-to-end supply chain 
leadership as well as project management and business 
process engineering. Prior to joining First Philec, he was 
regional vice President / General Manager and Supply 
Chain Head for Southeast Asia of Avon Products - Asia 
Pacific Supply Chain. He is a Mechanical engineer and 
obtained his Master of Science in engineering (energy) 
from the university of the Philippines in 1990.

LEONIDES U. GARDE 
53 Years Old, Filipino
leonides u. Garde has been a vice President of the 
Corporation since 1994.  He is currently a Consultant for 
First Philippine industrial Corp. of which he was President 
from August 2003 to January 2011.  He earned a degree 
in bSMe from the university of the Philippines in 1979 
and pursued his MbA at the Ateneo Graduate School of 
business from 1981 to 1984. He has been part of the lopez 
group in an executive capacity for the last five (5) years.

RICARDO B. YATCO
56 Years Old, Filipino 
ricardo b. Yatco has been a vice President of the 
Corporation since 1996.  Prior to this posting, he was a 
vice President of FPiC.  He earned a degree in bS industrial 
Management engineering from the de la Salle university 
from 1972 to 1977 and pursued his MbA at the university 
of San Francisco from 1980 to 1982. He has been part of 
the lopez group in an executive capacity for the last five (5) 
years.

HECTOR Y. DIMACALI
60 Years Old, Filipino 
Hector Y. dimacali has been a vice President of the 
Corporation since April 1997.  He is currently the President 
of First Phil. industrial Park, inc..  He was also a director and 
President of First Sumiden realty, inc. in 1997.  He is also 
a director of First Philec and First batangas Hotel Corp.  
He earned a degree in b.S.e.e. from the university of the 
Philippines in 1973.  He has been part of the lopez group in 
an executive capacity for the last five (5) years.

VICTOR EMMANUEL B. SANTOS, JR.
43 Years Old, Filipino 
victor emmanuel b. Santos, Jr. has been vice President since 
March 30, 2001.  He is currently Senior vice President and 
Compliance officer of First Gen and Senior vice President of 
FGP.  before joining FPHC, he worked as director for Global 
Markets at enron Singapore.  He earned his MbA in Finance 
at Fordham university, new York in 1995.  He has been part 
of the lopez group in an executive capacity for the last five 
(5) years.
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ELIZABETH M. CANLAS
59 Years Old, Filipino 
elizabeth M. Canlas has been a vice President of the 
Corporation since november 2007.  She is currently a core 
group member of the lopez Group’s Corporate Hr, Hr 
Council, CSr (Corporate Social responsibility) Council and 
the lopez lifelong Wellness team.  She is the chair of the 
Hr professional development committee of the Hr Council 
and the functional head of the Human resource officers’ 
Committee of the First Holdings’ Group Hrs.  She is also the 
Managing editor of tanglaw, the official publication of the 
First Holdings Group of Companies.  She has been part of 
the lopez group in an executive capacity for the last five (5) 
years.
 
ENRIQUE I. QUIASON
50 Years Old, Filipino 
enrique i. Quiason has been the Corporate Secretary of 
the Corporation since 1993.  He is a Senior Partner of 
the Quiason Makalintal barot torres ibarra & Sison law 
Firm.  He is also the Corporate Secretary of benpres and 
Assistant Corporate Secretary of AbS-Cbn. He is also the 
Corporate Secretary and Assistant Corporate Secretary of 
various subsidiaries or affiliates of FPHC and benpres.  He 
graduated with a b.S. business economics degree in 1981 
and with a bachelor of laws degree in 1985 from the 
university of the Philippines. He pursued a degree in ll.M. 
Securities regulation at Georgetown university in 1991.  His 
law firm has acted as legal counsel to the lopez group for 
the last five (5) years.

RODOLFO R. WAGA, JR.
51 Years Old, Filipino 
rodolfo r. Waga, Jr. has been a vice President of the 
Corporation since May 2001 and is the Assistant Corporate 
Secretary of the Corporation.  He is also the Corporate 
Secretary and Assistant Corporate Secretary of various 
FPHC subsidiaries and affiliates.    He is also a director of 
some subsidiaries.  He graduated Magna Cum laude with a 
bachelor of Arts degree Major in economics from the Xavier 
university (Ateneo de Cagayan) in 1979 and a bachelor of 
laws degree from the university of the Philippines in 1983.  
He completed the academic requirements for his eMbA at 
the Asian institute of Management.  He has been part of 
the lopez group in an executive capacity for the last five (5) 
years.

Significant Employees
the Corporation considers all its employees to be 
significant partners and contributors to the business.

Family Relationships

a) oscar M. lopez and Manuel M. lopez are brothers.
b) ernesto b. rufino, Jr. is the brother-in-law of oscar M. 

lopez.  His sister, Mrs. Consuelo rufino-lopez, is the 
wife of oscar M. lopez.

c) Federico r. lopez, oscar r. lopez, Jr. and benjamin r. 
lopez are the sons of oscar M. lopez.

d) eugenio l. lopez iii is the nephew of oscar M. lopez 
and Manuel M. lopez.

Involvement in certain legal proceedings
With respect to the last five (5) years and up to the date of 
this information Statement:

(i) the Corporation is not aware of any bankruptcy 
proceedings filed by or against any business of which 
a director, person nominated to become a director, or 
executive officer or control person of the Corporation is 
a party or of which any of their property is subject.

(ii) the Corporation is not aware of any conviction by 
final judgment in a criminal proceeding, domestic 
or foreign, or being subject to a pending criminal 
proceeding, domestic or foreign, of any of its directors, 
or executive officer or control person nominated to 
become a director, executive officers or control person.

(iii) the Corporation is not aware of any order, judgment 
or decree not subsequently reversed, superseded 
or vacated, by any court of competent jurisdiction, 
domestic or foreign, permanently or temporarily 
enjoining, barring, suspending or otherwise limiting 
the involvement of a director, person nominated to 
become a director, executive officer or control person 
in any type of business, securities, commodities or 
banking activities except for a disqualification directed 
against Messrs. W.Z. Sycip and e.l. lopez iii to sit as a 
director in a finding made by the SeC’s CFd.  this is still 
being questioned before the Commission.

 
(iv) the Corporation is not aware of any findings by a 

domestic or foreign court of competent jurisdiction (in 
a civil action), the Commission or comparable foreign 
body, or a domestic or foreign exchange or electronic 
marketplace or self-regulatory organization, that any of 
its directors, person nominated to become a director, 
executive officer, or control person has violated a 
securities or commodities law.
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Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers

Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus Other Compensation
oscar M. lopez – Chairman emeritus    
Federico r. lopez – Chairman & Ceo    
elpidio l. ibañez – President & Coo    
Arthur A. de Guia – Managing director, MPiG    
Perla r. Catahan – vice President & Comptroller    
 totAl1  (estimated) 2011 112,690,620 131,472,390 
 (Actual) 2010 98,103,356 117,766,806 0
 (Actual)    2009 97,673,812 36,622,648 0
    
All other directors  (estimated)  2011 0 65,963,880 
 (Actual) 2010 0 48,825,000 0
 (Actual) 2009 0 22,500,000 0
    
All other officers  (estimated) 2011 62,148,414 72,506,483 
as a Group unnamed  (Actual) 2010 50,286,868 63,443,537 0
 (Actual) 2009 61,851,043 20,318,955 0

1 Includes projected movements of personnel who would qualify.

Compensation of Directors
•	 Standard Arrangements.  directors receive a per diem of P20,000 for every board meeting.  under the Corporation’s 

by-laws, directors may receive up to a maximum of three Fourths (3/4) of one Percent (1%) of the Corporation’s annual 
profits or net earnings as may be determined by the Chairman of the board and the President.

•	 other Arrangements.  the Corporation does not have any other arrangements pursuant to which any director is 
compensated directly or indirectly for any service provided as a director.

Employment Contracts and Termination of Employment and Change-in-Control Arrangements
•	 All employees of the Corporation, including officers, sign a standard engagement contract which states their 

compensation, benefits and privileges.  under the Corporation’s by-laws, officers and employees may receive not more 
than two and three Fourths (2 ¾ %) Percent of the Corporation’s annual profits or net earnings as may be determined by 
the Chairman of the board and the President.  the Corporation maintains a qualified, non-contributory trusteed pension 
plan covering substantially all employees.

•	 the Corporation does not have any compensatory plan or arrangement resulting from the resignation, retirement, or 
any other termination of an executive officer’s employment with the Corporation or its subsidiaries or from a change 
in control of the Corporation or a change in an executive officer’s responsibilities following a change-in-control except 
for such rights as may have already vested under the Corporation’s retirement Plan or as may be provided for under its 
standard benefits.

Options Outstanding
the Corporation has an existing executive Stock option Plan (eSoP) which is based on compensation.  the eSoP entitles 
the directors and senior officers to purchase up to 10% of the Corporation’s authorized capital stock on the offering years 
at a pre-set purchase price with payment and other terms to be defined at the time of the offering. non-executive and 
independent directors are not granted eSoP shares.  the outstanding options are held as follows: 

2010
Name No. of Shares Date of Grant Exercise Price Market Price at
    Date of Grant
*oscar M. lopez  various various various
*Federico r. lopez  various various various
*elpidio l. ibañez  various various various
*Francis Giles b. Puno  various various various
*roberto r. ledesma  various various various
   Sub-total 3,968,961   
All other officers 1,588,014   
   total 5,556,975   
 *Top Five
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Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and 
Management
the equity securities of the Corporation consist of common and preferred shares.

FPHC Security Owners of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners of more than 5% 
As of March 15, 2011

Security Ownership of Certain Record and Beneficial Owner/s of more than 5%

Title of Class  Name and Address of Record 
Owner and Relationship with 

Issuer  

Name of Beneficial Owner 
& Relationship with Record 

Owner

Citizenship No. of 
Shares Held

Percent 
to Total 

Issued and 
Outstanding

Common lopez Holdings Corporation (lHC)
5/F benpres building exchange 
road cor. Meralco Avenue, ortigas 
Ctr., Pasig City

lHC is the parent of the 
Corporation. 1

lopez Holdings Corporation 2 Filipino 254,121,719 44.79%

Common PCd nominee Corporation
G/F Makati Stock exchange
6767 Ayala Avenue, Makati City

various Filipino
non-Filipino

139,111,375
 109,425,454

24.52%
19.29%

As advised to the Corporation, the 
following are the owners of more 
than 5% under the PCd:

the Hongkong & Shanghai banking 
Corp.
 Custody and Clearing dept.
 30/F discovery Suites
 25 Adb Ave., ortigas Center,  
 Pasig City

various Filipino
non-Filipino

0
60,393,601

  0.00%
10.64%

Social Security System (“SSS”) 3

SSS bldg., east Ave., diliman, Q.C.
SSS
(Same as record owner.)

Filipino 38,051,403 6.71%

Apart from the foregoing, there are no other persons holding more than 5% of FPHC’s outstanding capital stock.

 1   the Chairman emeritus of lopez Holdings Corp. (“lHC”), Mr. oscar M. lopez, is also the Chairman emeritus of the Corporation.
2   the board of directors of lHC has the authority to decide how the shares of lHC in the Corporation are to be voted. it has, however, executed a 

voting trust Agreement in favor of lopez, inc.
3   the board of directors of SSS has the authority to decide how its shares in the Corporation are to be voted, including the grant of a proxy.  in 

connection with the special stockholders’ meeting last January 15, 2009, the SSS sent a proxy in favor of the Corporation’s Chairman emeritus.
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FPHC Security Owners of Certain Record and Beneficial Owners of more than 5%
As of March 15, 2011

Security Ownership of Certain Records

Title of Class  Name and Address of Record 
Owner and Relationship with 

Issuer  

Name of Beneficial Owner 
& Relationship with Record 

Owner

Citizenship No. of 
Shares Held

Percent 
to Total 

Issued and 
Outstanding

Preferred 
“b”

PCd nominee Corporation
G/F Makati Stock exchange,
6767 Ayala Avenue, Makati City

various Filipino
non-Filipino

40,872,470
59,500

95.05%
0.14%

As advised to the Corporation, the 
following are the owners of 5% or 
more under the PCd.

Preferred
“b”

the Hongkong and Shanghai bank-
HSbC
Securities Services 12th Floor,
the enterprise Center, tower 1
6766 Ayala Avenue cor. Paseo de 
roxas, Makati City

various 9,934,040 23.10%

Preferred
“b”

rCbC trust & investment division
333 Sen. Gil J. Puyat Ave., Makati City

various Filipino 2,500,000 5.81%

Preferred
“b”

banco de oro – trust banking Group 
4

17/F, South tower, bdo Corporate 
Center, H.v. dela Costa cor. Makati 
Ave., Makati City

various Filipino 7,772,790 18.08%

Preferred
“b”

MbtC – trust banking Group
5/F Metrobank Plaza, Sen. Gil Puyat 
Ave., Makati City

various Filipino 2,210,500 5.14%

Preferred
“b”

Social Security System (“SSS”)
SSS bldg., east Ave., diliman, Q.C.

SSS Filipino 4,300,000 10.00%

Preferred
“b”

bdo Securities Corporation
27/F tower 1 & exchange Plaza
Ayala Avenue, Makati City

various Filipino 3,265,060 7.59%

4  under the law, the board of directors of bdo has the authority to decide how its shares in the Corporation are to be voted, including the grant of 
a proxy.  this is, however, subject to any internal arrangements on trust or otherwise that the Corporation may have.  bdo has previously issued a 
proxy in favor of the Chairman emeritus, Mr. oscar M. lopez, in connection with the special stockholders’ meeting last January 15, 2009.

lHC has disclosed the execution of a voting trust Agreement dated 4 december 2008 in favor of lopez, inc. as voting 
trustee over 254,121,720 shares of common stock in the Corporation.  this is for a period of five (5) years.  the voting 
trustee is entitled to exercise all voting right and powers over the shares.
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Security Ownership of Management as of March 15, 2011

to the best of the knowledge of FPHC, the following are the shareholdings of the directors and officers:

Common Shares
Title of Class Name of Beneficial Owner Amount & Nature of 

Beneficial Ownership
Citizenship Percent of Class

Common oscar M. lopez 8,301,758 – d/i Filipino 1.4632%

Common Augusto Almeda lopez 42,001 – d Filipino 0.0074%

Common Peter d. Garrucho, Jr. 575,581 -  d/i Filipino 0.1014%

Common elpidio l. ibañez 2,189,247 –  d Filipino 0.3859%

Common oscar J. Hilado 12,001 –  d/i Filipino 0.0021%

Common Manuel M. lopez 2,283,929 – d/i Filipino 0.4025%

Common ernesto b. rufino, Jr. 1,390,778– d/i Filipino 0.2451%

Common Juan b. Santos 1 – d Filipino 0.0000%

Common Federico r. lopez 1,737,956 – d/i Filipino 0.3063%

Common Washington Z. Sycip 1 – d American 0.0000%

Common Arthur A. de Guia 681,809 – d Filipino 0.1202%

Common eugenio l. lopez iii 14,335 – d Filipino 0.0025%

Common Artemio v. Panganiban 25,001 – d Filipino 0.0044%

Common Cesar b. bautista 1 – d Filipino 0.0000%

Common Francis Giles b. Puno 2,554,335 – d/i Filipino 0.4502%

Common elizabeth M. Canlas 31,799 – d Filipino 0.0056%

Common Perla r. Catahan 731,439– d/i Filipino 0.1289%

Common Anthony M. Mabasa 140,775 – d Filipino 0.0248%

Common leonides u. Garde 153,632 – d Filipino 0.0271%

Common ricardo b. Yatco 84,032 – d Filipino 0.0148%

Common Hector Y. dimacali 112,508 – d Filipino 0.0198%

Common richard b. tantoco 432,356 – d/i Filipino 0.0762%

Common danilo C. lachica  85,857 – d American 0.0151%

Common victor emmanuel b. Santos - Filipino 0.0000%

Common oscar r. lopez, Jr. 27,958 – d/i Filipino 0.0049%

Common benjamin r. lopez 276,001 – d/i Filipino 0.0486%

Common ramon t. Pagdagdagan - Filipino 0.0000%

Common Fiorello r. estuar 10,048 – d Filipino 0.0018%

Common Ariel C. ong 9,000-d Filipino 0.0016%

Common enrique i. Quiason - Filipino 0.0000%

Common rodolfo r. Waga, Jr. 167,118 – d Filipino 0.0295%

Sub-total 22,071,257 3.8901%

Common lopez Holdings Corp. 254,121,719  - d Filipino 44.7892%

Common other Stockholders Filipino & non-Filipino 51.3207%

SUBTOTAL 291,179,809

TOTAL 567,372,785 100.0000%
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Preferred
Title of Class Name of Beneficial Owner Amount & Nature of 

Beneficial Ownership
Citizenship Percent of Class

oscar M. lopez 218,530 Filipino 0.5083%

Augusto Almeda lopez - Filipino -

Preferred Peter d. Garrucho, Jr. - Filipino -

elpidio l. ibañez - Filipino -

oscar J. Hilado - Filipino -

Manuel M. lopez - Filipino -

Preferred ernesto b. rufino, Jr. 100,000 Filipino 0.2326%

Juan b. Santos - Filipino -

Federico r. lopez - Filipino -

Washington Z. Sycip - American -

Arthur A. de Guia - Filipino

eugenio l. lopez iii - Filipino -

Artemio v. Panganiban - Filipino -

Cesar b. bautista - Filipino -

Preferred elizabeth M. Canlas 10,000 Filipino 0.0233%

Perla r. Catahan 50,000 Filipino 0.1163%

Preferred Anthony M. Mabasa 10,000 Filipino 0.0233%

Preferred leonides u. Garde 10,000 Filipino 0.0233%

ricardo b. Yatco 10,000 Filipino 0.0233%

Preferred Hector Y. dimacali 40,000 Filipino 0.0930%

richard b. tantoco - Filipino -

Francis Giles b. Puno - Filipino -

danilo C. lachica - American -

victor emmanuel b. Santos - Filipino -

oscar r. lopez, Jr. - Filipino -

Preferred benjamin r. lopez 30,000 Filipino 0.0698%

ramon t. Pagdagdagan - Filipino -

Fiorello r. estuar - Filipino -

Ariel C. ong - Filipino -

enrique i. Quiason - Filipino -

rodolfo r. Waga, Jr. - Filipino -

Sub-total 478,530 1.1129%

Other Stockholders 42,521,470 Filipino & Non-Filipino 98.8871%

TOTAL 43,000,000 100.00000000%

there has been no change of control of the Corporation since the beginning of its last fiscal year.
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Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
Management is required to declare any related-party transactions with the Corporation.  there have been no material 
transactions during the past two years, nor is any material transaction presently proposed, to which the Corporation was 
or is to be a party in which any director executive officer of the Corporation or security holder of more than 10% of the 
Corporation’s voting securities, any relative or spouse of any such director or executive officer or owner of more than 10% 
of the Corporation’s voting securities had or is to have a direct or indirect material interest except as provided hereinafter. 

lopez Holdings Corporation, the major stockholder of the Corporation, is the registered owner of 44.79% of the voting 
stock of the Corporation.  All the directors, except for the independent directors, are nominated by lopez Holdings Corp.  
lopez Holdings does not control any of the Corporation’s key suppliers and customers.

no director has resigned or declined to stand for re-election to the board of directors since the date of the last annual 
meeting of the Corporation because of a disagreement with the Corporation on matters relating to the Corporation’s 
operations, policies and practices.

the Corporation is not aware of any complaint/dispute/claim against related-party transactions in the last two years.

Related Party Disclosures
enterprises and individuals that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by, or 
under common control with the Group, including holding companies, and fellow subsidiaries are related entities of the 
Group.  Associates and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group that gives 
them significant influence over the enterprise, key management personnel, including directors and officers of the Group 
and close members of the family of these individuals and companies associated with these individuals also constitute 
related entities.
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Governance Initiatives
First Philippine Holdings (FPH) adopted a Manual on 
Corporate Governance (the Manual) on January 1, 2003 
as amended last March 29, 2010.  in compliance with the 
requirements of the Securities and exchange Commission, 
FPH filed on March 11,  2011,  an amended Manual 
enhancing and clarifying its provisions.  FPH also has in 
place a Corporate Code of Conduct.  

the Corporate Code of Conduct reiterates the values 
and principles instilled by its founder and carried 
on by the Company, namely: nationalism, integrity, 
entrepreneurship and innovation, teamwork, and a strong 
work ethic. it embodies the principles and guidelines 
for the conduct of the business of the Company and in 
dealing with its shareholders, customers, joint venture 
partners, suppliers/service providers, the government, 
creditors, and employees.  the Code also affirms the 
Company’s commitment to pursue civic, charitable, and 
social projects and undertakings.  the Corporate Code of 
Conduct, the business Mission, the Company Credo and its 
Commitments are made part of the Manual of Corporate 
Governance. 

to further flesh out its commitment to sound corporate 
governance, FPH has been active with the institute of 
Corporate directors (iCd) and has accredited some of its 
officers as fellows of the iCd.

FPH is likewise active in the Good Governance Advocates 
and Practitioners of the Philippines which is composed 
of a number of companies dedicated towards corporate 
governance, among other things. it is also a member of the 
Philippine Association of Publicly-listed Companies.

Compliance
Apart from its own governance initiatives, FPH has sought 
to be in compliance with legal requirements. it has filed the 
Certificate required by the SeC certifying its compliance, as 

well as that of its directors, officers and employees, with the 
Manual. FPH has likewise submitted to the Philippine Stock 
exchange (PSe) its responses to the disclosure template on 
Corporate Governance Guidelines for listed Companies.

Governance Awards
in recognition of its continuing pursuit to enhance 
shareholder value, FPH has received the platinum award in 
the Corporate Governance ScoreCard (CGS) administered 
by iCd. FPH received a gold award for two consecutive 
years in 2009 and 2008 for garnering the highest ratings 
(a rating between 95% to 99%) among 169 publicly-listed 
companies. CGS is jointly conducted with the PSe and 
Security exchange Commission.

As stated by its President and Coo, Mr. elpidio l. ibañez, 
“this award validates our group’s advocacy to espouse 
integrity, transparency, and fairness in all our business 
practices.  We are indeed very honored, and would like to 
thank the iCd for this award.” 

the companies reviewed under the Corporate Governance 
Scorecard were graded based on: (1) rights of shareholders; 
(2) equitable treatment of shareholders; (3) role of 
stakeholders; (4) disclosure and transparency; and (5) board 
responsibilities. iCd was formally established in 2004 and 
is chiefly made up of individual corporate directors and 
reputational agents committed to the professional practice 
of corporate directorship in the Philippines in line with 
global principles of modern corporate governance. 

FPH has consistently advocated that corporate governance 
is an indispensable component of  “sound strategic 
business management to improve the economic and 
commercial prosperity of the corporation and enhance 
shareholder value.” 
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The Board
to this end, the Company endeavors to have a board 
of directors composed of individuals with proven 
competence, probity, and integrity.   And FPH tries to insure 
that they are provided with the structures and support that 
will enable them to effectively fulfill their duties.

FPH’s board of directors are: Messrs. oscar M. lopez 
(Chairman emeritus and Chief Strategic officer), Federico 
r. lopez (Chairman and Chief executive officer), Manuel M. 
lopez (vice Chairman), Augusto Almeda-lopez, elpidio l. 
ibañez (President and Coo), Peter d. Garrucho, Jr., oscar J. 
Hilado,  eugenio lopez iii, Arthur A. de Guia, Washington Z. 
Sycip, ernesto b. rufino, Jr., Juan b. Santos, Cesar b. bautista,  
Artemio v. Panganiban, and Francis Giles b. Puno. 

Standing Committees
the board has constituted standing committees from 
among its ranks which exercises the duties and functions 
provided for in the Manual for Corporate Governance.  

the nomination election and Governance Committee 
passes upon the nomination and election of directors as 
well as oversees the implementation of the Manual. the 
members of the Committee are as follows:  Mr. oscar M. 
lopez as Chair, with Messrs. Federico r. lopez, Manuel M. 
lopez, oscar J. Hilado, Juan b. Santos, and Washington 
Z. Sycip, as members.  this committee performs a crucial 
function, as it selects the directors and passes upon their 
qualifications, seeking to entrust management to those 
who can “bring prudent judgment to bear on the decision 
making process.”   in addition, it reviews recommendations 
with respect to governance, the relevant trainings of the 
board and Senior Management, as well as the charters of 
the different committees. 

the Compensation and remuneration Committee oversees 
the appropriate corporate rewards system. it is composed 
of the following:  Messrs. Augusto Almeda-lopez 

(Chairman), with Washington Z. Sycip and Cesar b. bautista 
as members. it seeks to promote a culture that supports 
enterprise and innovation, with suitable performance-
related rewards that help motivate management and the 
employees to be effective and productive.

the Audit Committee assists the board of directors in 
fulfilling its oversight responsibilities for the financial 
reporting process, the system of internal controls, the 
maintenance of an effective audit process, and the process 
for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations.  the 
Audit Committee is composed of six (6) members chaired 
by independent director Mr. oscar J. Hilado and with the 
following members: Messrs. Juan b. Santos (independent 
director); Washington Z. Sycip (independent director); 
Manuel M. lopez; Augusto Almeda-lopez; and Peter d. 
Garrucho, Jr.

FPH has an internal Audit Group (iAG) composed of 
Certified Public Accountants (CPA), Certified internal 
Auditors (CiA), Certified information Systems Auditor 
(CiSA), among others. the iAG reports to the board through 
the Audit Committee. the iAG provides assurance and 
consulting functions for FPH and its subsidiaries in the 
areas of internal control, corporate governance, and risk 
management. it conducts its internal audit activities 
in accordance with the international Standards for the 
Professional Practice of internal Auditing (iSPPiA) under the 
international Professional Practices Framework (iPPF).

As a company focused on financing and business 
prospects, FPH has a Finance and investment committee 
composed of Messrs. Federico r. lopez (Chairman), 
elpidio l. ibañez, Peter d. Garrucho, Jr., eugenio l. lopez 
iii, Mr. ernesto b. rufino, Jr., and Francis Giles b. Puno as 
members.  this committee reviews the investments and 
financing efforts of the Company, investment objectives 
and strategies, fund raising, major capital expenditures, 
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investment opportunities as well as divestments, among 
other things.  

the Company has constituted a risk Management 
Committee headed by Artemio v. Panganiban as Chairman 
with Messrs. Manuel M. lopez, Peter d. Garrucho, Jr., Arthur 
A. de Guia, ernesto b. rufino, Jr. and Cesar b. bautista, 
as members. this committee is tasked to: (a) oversee 
the formulation and establishment of an enterprise-
wide risk management system; (b) review, analyze, and 
recommend the policy, framework, strategy, method and/
or system of or used by the company to manage risks, 
threats or liabilities; (c) review with management the 
corporate performance in the areas of legal risks and crisis 
management; and (d) review and assess the likelihood 
and magnitude of the impact of material events on the 
Company and/or to recommend measures, responses or 
solutions to avoid or reduce risks or exposure.

Transparency and Compliance, 
Management Standards
Complete, prompt, and timely disclosures of material 
information have been made by the Company to the 
exchange and to the SeC for the benefit of the investing 
public.

the law only requires two (2) independent directors 
for covered companies. FPH has over the years had 
and continues to have five (5) such directors and the 
requirement for independent directors is likewise enshrined 
in its by-laws.   the independent directors are also members 
of their respective board committees.

Atty. enrique i. Quiason has been designated as 
Compliance officer and Atty. rodolfo r. Waga, Jr. as Asst. 
Compliance officer, specifically for corporate governance. 
both are FPH’s Corporate Secretary and Assistant Corporate 
Secretary, respectively. 

FPH likewise implements corporate excellence initiatives 
both at the parent and subsidiary levels such as iSo 
certification, environment, Safety and Health programs, risk 
Management, Six Sigma and Knowledge Management, 
the oscar M. lopez Award for Performance excellence and 
the lopez Achievement Award, among others. last August 
16, 2010, it successfully hurdled the requirements of the 
surveillance audit for its transition to the standards for an 
integrated management system under iSo 9001:2008. 
iSo 9001:2008 specifies the requirements for a quality 
management system.

Other Offices
the board of trustees of the FPH retirement Fund which 
administers the retirement fund of the company is 
composed of Mr. elpidio l. ibañez as Chairman and Francis 
Giles b. Puno, Arthur A. de Guia, Ms. Perla r. Catahan and 
Ms. elizabeth M. Canlas as members.  

the employee Stock Purchase Plan board of Administrators 
which administers the Company’s stock option plan is 
composed of Mr. elpidio l. ibañez as Chairman and  
Mr. Francis Giles b. Puno and Ms. Perla r. Catahan as 
members.

The Seven Lopez Values
Group-wide, the lopez Credo has likewise been launched. 
it is a statement of purpose that puts all lopez Group 
businesses in the service of the Filipino and articulates 
the seven lopez values to guide corporate decisions and 
operations as well as employees.

the distinct lopez values are: 
•	 A pioneering entrepreneurial spirit 
•	 business excellence 
•	 unity 
•	 nationalism 
•	 Social justice 
•	 integrity 
•	 employee welfare and wellness 

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
For its concrete contributions as a responsible corporate 
citizen, FPH’s CSr activities include providing support 
to the lopez Group Foundation, inc., the Paliparan 
Site 3 integrated Community development Program 
in dasmariñas, Cavite, the eugenio lopez Memorial 
Foundation, Knowledge Channel Foundation, inc., 
AbS-Cbn Foundation,  Philippine business for Social 
Progress, Philippine business for the environment, a 
feeding program of the Philippine General Hospital, the 
Manggahan elementary School and the Senen Gabaldon 
Foundation.  the foregoing covers activities relating to 
education, financial and medical assistance to biodiversity 
conservation, among others.
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responsibility For Financial Statements
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FIRST PHILIPPINE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Amounts in Millions) 
 
 
  December 31 
 2010 2009 

ASSETS   
Current Assets   
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 6, 32 and 33) P=25,857 P=25,835 
Short-term investments (Notes 32 and 33) 4,958 – 
Trade and other receivables (Notes 7, 32, 33 and 36) 5,711 7,887 
Inventories (Notes 8) 3,711 4,715 
Other current assets (Notes 9, 13, 32 and 33) 2,688 3,013 
  Total Current Assets 42,925 41,450 
Noncurrent Assets   
Investments and deposits in associates (Notes 10 and 30) 57,222 63,529 
Investments in equity securities (Notes11, 32 and 33) 17,125 129 
Property, plant and equipment (Note 12) 30,925 29,126 
Investment properties (Note 14) 2,508 2,562 
Goodwill and intangible assets (Note 15) 634 697 
Retirement benefit asset - net (Note 27) 906 837 
Deferred tax assets - net (Note 28) 428 157 
Other noncurrent assets (Notes 16, 32 and 33) 7,861 10,540 
  Total Noncurrent Assets 117,609 107,577 
TOTAL ASSETS P=160,534 P=149,027 
   

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY   
Current Liabilities   
Loans payable (Notes 17, 32 and 33) P=441 P=11,626 
Trade payables and other current liabilities (Notes 13, 18, 32 and 33) 9,168 8,776 
Income tax payable (Note 28) 267 427 
Current portion of:   
 Bonds payable (Note 19) 8,365 4,989 
 Long-term debt (Notes 20, 32 and 33) 4,721 3,192 
 Obligations to Gas Sellers (Notes 21, 32 and 33) – 433 
  Total Current Liabilities 22,962 29,443 
Noncurrent Liabilities   
Bonds payable - net of current portion (Notes 19, 32 and 33) – 11,831 
Long-term debt - net of current portion (Notes 20, 32 and 33) 42,311 43,021 
Derivative liabilities - net of current portion (Note 33) 1,750 1,167 
Deferred tax liabilities - net (Note 28) 459 860 
Retirement benefit liability (Notes 27) 241 230 
Other noncurrent liabilities (Notes 22, 32 and 33) 1,431 2,368 
  Total Noncurrent Liabilities 46,192 59,477 
  Total Liabilities 69,154 88,920 
Equity (Notes 23 and 24)   
Common stock  5,999 5,943 
Preferred stock 6,300 6,300 
Subscriptions receivable (4) (4) 
Capital in excess of par value  3,826 3,688 
Parent company preferred shares held by a consolidated subsidiary (2,000) (2,000) 
Treasury stock (Note 23a) (1,625) – 
Unrealized fair value gains on investment in equity securities (Note 11) 3,470 26 
Cumulative translation adjustments (15,791) (13,113) 
Share in other comprehensive income of associates (Note 10) 5,675 3,072 
Equity reserve (Note 23c) (2,557) (2,475) 
Retained earnings  60,386 37,254 
Equity Attributable to Equity Holders of the Parent 63,679 38,691 
Non-controlling Interests 27,701 21,416 
  Total Equity 91,380 60,107 
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY P=160,534 P=149,027 
   
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
(Amounts in Millions, Except Per Share Data) 
 
 
 
  Years Ended December 31 

 2010 

2009 
(As restated - 

Note 10) 2008 

REVENUES    
Sale of electricity P=52,973 P=48,243 P=53,293 
Sale of merchandise 6,076 4,341 2,455 
Equity in net earnings of associates (Note 10) 2,777 2,097 1,405 
Contracts and services 1,697 1,390 1,302 
Sale of real estate 657 1,044 266 
Share in project revenue of joint ventures (Note 13) 105 1,979 1,527 
 64,285 59,094 60,248 

COSTS AND EXPENSES (Notes 24, 25, 26 and 27)    
Operations and maintenance 41,383 36,089 41,927 
Merchandise sold 5,338 4,036 2,096 
General and administrative expenses 4,957 4,082 4,273 
Contracts and services  1,523 934 786 
Real estate sold 369 169 202 
Share in project costs of joint ventures (Note 13) 19 1,679 1,399 
 53,589 46,989 50,683 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)    
Gain on sale of investment in an associate (Note 10) 23,560 8,957 – 
Finance costs (Notes 17, 19, 20 and 26) (5,594) (6,897) (7,286) 
Mark-to-market gain (loss) on derivatives (Notes 10 and 33) 247 (1,774) 529 
Finance income (Note 26) 1,077 716 661 
Foreign exchange loss (241) (442) (314) 
Other income - net (Notes 10 and 26) 562 432 317 
 19,611 992 (6,093) 

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX 30,307 13,097 3,472 

PROVISION FOR (BENEFIT FROM) INCOME TAX (Note 31)     
Current 2,355 2,389 1,571 
Deferred (420) (362) 807 
 1,935 2,027 2,378 

NET INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 28,372 11,070 1,094 

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Note 5)    
Income from discontinued operations  – 2,004 1,598 
Gain on sale of a subsidiary  – – 2,762 

NET INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS – 2,004 4,360 

NET INCOME P=28,372 P=13,074 P=5,454 

Attributable To    
Equity holders of the Parent P=24,850 P=8,731 P=1,192 
Non-controlling Interests 3,522 4,343 4,262 
 P=28,372 P=13,074 P=5,454 

Earnings per Share for Net Income Attributable 
to the Equity Holders of the Parent (Note 29)    

Basic P=41.076 P=13.837 P=1.859 
Diluted 40.652 13.779 1.838 

Earnings Per Share from Continuing Operations (Note 29)    
Basic P=41.076 P=12.827 P=2.458 
Diluted 40.652 12.774 2.430 

Earnings (Loss) Per Share from Discontinued Operations (Note 29)    
Basic P=– P=1.009 (P=0.599) 
Diluted – 1.005 (0.592) 
    
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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FIRST PHILIPPINE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(Amounts in Millions) 
 
 
 
  Years Ended December 31 

 2010 

2009 
(As restated - 

Note 10) 2008 

NET INCOME P=28,372 P=13,074 P=5,454 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)     
Unrealized gains (losses) on investment in equity securities (Note 11) 3,444 (1) (2) 
Share in other comprehensive income of associates (Note 10) 2,603 3,067 – 
Exchange gains (losses) on foreign currency translation 2,011 (4,287) (6,495) 
Net gains (losses) on cash flow hedge deferred in equity - net of tax (462) 1,201 (1,910) 
 7,596 (20) (8,407) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) P=35,968 P=13,054 (P=2,953) 

Attributable to    
Equity holders of the Parent P=28,219 P=10,920   (P=5,096) 
Non-controlling Interests 7,749 2,134  2,143 
 P=35,968 P=13,054 (P=2,953) 
    
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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FIRST PHILIPPINE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
(Amounts in Millions) 
 
 
 
  Years Ended December 31 
 2010 2009 2008 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Income before tax from continuing operations P=30,307 P=13,097 P=3,472 
Income before tax from discontinued operations – 2,938 5,391 
Income before tax 30,307 16,035 8,863 
Adjustments for:    
 Gain on sale of investment in an associate (Note 10)  (23,560) (8,957) – 
 Finance costs (Notes 18, 20, 21 and 27) 5,594 6,897 7,286 
 Depreciation and amortization (Notes 26 and 27) 3,029 3,166 2,616 
 Equity in net earnings of associates (Note 11) (2,777) (2,097) (1,405) 
 Mark-to-market loss (gain) on derivatives (Notes 11 and 34) (247) 1,774 (529) 
 Net unrealized foreign exchange loss 375 400 8,430 
 Finance income (Note 27) (1,077) (716) (661) 
 Retirement benefit expense 157 255 316 
 Unrealized fair value loss (gain) on fair value through profit or loss 

investments (Notes 9 and 26) 2 (13) (83) 
 Share-based payments (Note 28) 2 6 22 
 Gain on sale of property and equipment and investment properties 

(Note 26) (12) (5) – 
 Gain on sale of a subsidiary (Note 5) – – (2,762) 
Operating income before working capital changes 11,793 16,745 22,093 
Decrease (increase) in:    
 Trade and other receivables 1,687 (2,455) 774 
 Inventories 1,004 (661) (255) 
 Other current assets (61) (423) 992 
 Long-term receivables  485 907 5,505 
 Share in current assets of joint ventures 484 85 (56) 
Increase (decrease) in:    
 Trade payables and other current liabilities 1,877 546  (858) 
 Share in current liabilities of joint ventures (396) (542) 75 
 Unearned revenues (Notes 21 and 22) (1,089) (1,135) 893 
Net cash generated from operations 15,784 13,067 29,163 
Interest received 1,059 716 1,233 
Income tax paid (2,515) (2,447) (4,627) 
Net cash provided by operating activities 14,328 11,336 25,769 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Additions to:    
 Investments and deposits in associates  (2,390) (7,006) (132) 
 Property, plant and equipment (Note 12) (3,853) (1,492) (2,979) 
 Investment properties  (130) (211) (61) 
 Intangible assets – (274) (863) 
 Evaluation and exploration assets – – (562) 
Decrease (increase) in:    
 Short-term investments (4,958) 1,850 (1,850) 
 Due from related parties 23 (813) (199) 
 Other noncurrent assets (Note 16) 2,241 521 13,450 
 Advances to non-controlling shareholder of First Gen 344 336 (4,943) 
Dividends received from associates (Note 11) 523 1,107 1,146 
Return of investment (Note 10) 757 – – 
Contributions made to retirement plan (219) (632) (617) 
Payment for acquisition of non-controlling interest (Note 23) – – (1,238) 
Proceeds from:    
 Sale of investment in shares of stock (Note 10) 22,410 20,070 505 
 Sale of property and equipment and investment properties 239 222 5 
 Dilution of a subsidiary (Note 24) – 112 – 
 Sale of a subsidiary (Note 5) – – 5,876 
Net cash provided by investing activities 14,987 13,790  7,538 

(Forward)    
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  Years Ended December 31 
 2010 2009 2008 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Payments of borrowings from banks and other financial institutions  

(Notes 17, 19, and 20) (P=25,428) (P=16,024) (P=59,308) 
Proceeds from:    
 Borrowings from banks and other financial institutions  

(Notes 17, 19, and 20) 5,824 10,893 35,151 
 Subscriptions to and issuances of shares of capital stock 192 72 4,312 
Payments of:    
 Interest (5,864) (7,186) (2,474) 
 Dividends to non-controlling interest  (1,464) (2,565) (5,902) 
 Acquisition of treasury stocks (Note 23) (1,625) – – 
 Obligations to Gas Sellers (83) (1,238) (1,139) 
 Cash dividends (1,537) (909) (96) 
 Deferred payment facility with PSALM  – – (375) 
 Obligation to power contractors  – – (243) 
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash deposit (7) 6 (41) 
Decrease (increase) in other noncurrent liabilities 733 – (142) 
Net cash used in financing activities (29,259) (16,951) (30,257) 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 56 8,175 3,050 

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS (34) (289) 76 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 25,835 17,949 14,823 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR  P=25,857 P=25,835 P=17,949 
   
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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FIRST PHILIPPINE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 
 
1. Corporate Information 

First Philippine Holdings Corporation (the Parent Company) was incorporated and registered with the Philippine 
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on June 30, 1961.  The extension of the Parent Company’s corporate 
life was approved by the SEC on June 29, 2007 for another 50 years from June 30, 2011.  Under its amended articles 
of incorporation, its principal activities consist of investments in real and personal properties including, but not limited 
to, shares of stocks, notes, securities and entities in the power generation, real estate development, roads and 
tollways operations, manufacturing and construction, financing and other service industries.  The Parent Company 
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to as the “Group”.  Except for FGHC International Limited (FGHC 
International), FPH Fund Corporation (FPH Fund) and FPH Ventures Corporation (FPH Ventures), which are 
registered in the Cayman Islands, all the other subsidiaries are incorporated in the Philippines. 

The Parent Company is 44.26%-owned by Lopez Holdings Corporation [Lopez Holdings and formerly Benpres 
Holdings Corporation (Benpres), a publicly-listed Philippine-based entity] as of December 31, 2010.  Majority of Lopez 
Holdings is owned by Lopez, Inc.  The remaining shares are held by various unrelated shareholder groups and 
individuals. 

The common shares of the Parent Company were listed beginning May 3, 1963 and have since been traded in the 
Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE). 

The registered office address of the Parent Company is 6th Floor, Benpres Building, Exchange Road, corner Meralco 
Avenue, Pasig City. 

The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2010 were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors (BOD) on April 7, 
2011, as reviewed and recommended for approval by the Audit Committee on March 22, 2011. 

 
 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Preparation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost convention, except for derivative 
financial instruments, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL) and investments in quoted equity 
shares which are measured at fair value.  The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, the 
Parent Company’s functional and presentation currency.  All values are rounded to the nearest million peso, except 
when otherwise indicated. 

Statement of Compliance 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements are prepared in compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting 
Standards (PFRS). 

References to PFRS standards include the application of Philippine Accounting Standards (PAS), PFRS, and 
Philippine Interpretations as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council. 

Basis of Consolidation 

Basis of Consolidation from January 1, 2010.  The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial 
statements of the Parent Company and its subsidiaries (see Note 5) as at December 31, 2010. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, 
and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control ceases.  The financial statements of the subsidiaries 
are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies.  All intra-
group balances, transactions, unrealized gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are 
eliminated in full. 
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Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.  A 
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.   
If an entity losses control over a subsidiary, it: 

 Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary 
 Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest 
 Derecognizes the related cumulative other comprehensive income recorded in equity 
 Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received 
 Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained 
 Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss 
 Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income to profit or 

loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 

Basis of Consolidation Prior to January 1, 2010.  Certain of the above-mentioned requirements were applied on a 
prospective basis.  The following differences, however, are carried forward in certain instances from the previous 
basis of consolidation: 

 Acquisitions of non-controlling interests, prior to January 1, 2010, were accounted for using the entity concept 
method, whereby, the difference between the consideration and the book value of the share of the net assets 
acquired were recognized in goodwill. 

 Losses incurred by the Group were attributed to the non-controlling interest until the balance was reduced to nil. 
Any further excess losses were attributed to the parent, unless the non-controlling interest had a binding 
obligation to cover these. Losses prior to January 1, 2010 were not reallocated between non-controlling interests 
and the parent shareholders. 

 Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the investment retained at its proportionate share of net asset 
value at the date control was lost. The carrying value of such investments at January 1, 2010 has not been 
restated.  

New Standards and Interpretations Issued and Effective as of January 1, 2010
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the following new, 
amended and improved PFRSs and Philippine Interpretations which were adopted as of January 1, 2010. 

These new and amended standards and interpretations did not have any impact on the accounting policies, financial 
position or performance of the Group. 

 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC - 17, Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners
 Revised PFRS 3, Business Combinations 
 Amendments to PFRS 2, Share-based Payment - Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions 
 Amendments to PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
 Amendments to PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement - Eligible Hedged Items 
 Improvements to PFRS issued in May 2008 and April 2009 

Improvements to PFRS.  Improvements to PFRSs, an omnibus of amendments to standards, deal primarily with a 
view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording.  There are separate transitional provisions for each standard.  
The adoption of the following amendments resulted in changes to accounting policies but did not have any impact on 
the financial position or performance of the Group. 

 PFRS 2, Share-based Payment
 PFRS 5, Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations 
 PFRS 8, Operating Segments 
 PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements
 PAS 7, Statement of Cash Flows
 PAS 17, Leases
 PAS 36, Impairment of Assets
 PAS 38, Intangible Assets 
 PAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC - 9, Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives
 Philippine Interpretation IFRIC - 16, Hedge of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 
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Business Combination and Goodwill 

Business Combinations Starting January 1, 2010.  Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method.  The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at fair 
value on acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  For each business 
combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at its 
proportionate share in the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed and 
included in general and administrative expenses. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and financial liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date.  This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 
acquiree. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and any gain or loss on 
remeasurement is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.  
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration, which is deemed to be an asset or liability, is 
recognized in accordance with PAS 39 either in the consolidated statement of income or as a change to other 
comprehensive income.  If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured until it is finally 
settled within equity. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognized for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  If this 
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in 
the consolidated statement of income. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets 
or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.  Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured 
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

Business Combinations Prior to January 1, 2010.  In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements, the following 
differences applied: 

Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase method.  Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs.  The non-controlling interest (formerly known as minority interest) was 
measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Business combinations achieved in 
stages were accounted for as separate steps.  Any additional acquired share of interest did not affect previously 
recognized goodwill. 

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the acquiree were 
not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a change in the terms of the contract that 
significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise would have been required under the contract.  Contingent 
consideration was recognized if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the economic outflow was more likely 
than not and a reliable estimate was determinable.  Subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration were 
recognized as part of goodwill. 

Interest in a Joint Venture 
The Group has an interest in a joint venture which is a jointly controlled entity, whereby the venturers have a 
contractual arrangement that establishes joint control over the economic activities of the entity.  The agreement 
requires unanimous agreement for financial and operating decisions among the venturers.  Interest in the joint 
venture, which is a jointly controlled entity, is accounted for using proportionate consolidation.  The Group includes 
separate line items for its share of the total assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled entity in its 
consolidated financial statements.  The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporting 
period as the Group.  Adjustments are made where necessary to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the 
Group.  
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Business Combination and Goodwill 

Business Combinations Starting January 1, 2010.  Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition 
method.  The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at fair 
value on acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree.  For each business 
combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at its 
proportionate share in the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed and 
included in general and administrative expenses. 

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and financial liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent 
conditions as at the acquisition date.  This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by the 
acquiree. 

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and any gain or loss on 
remeasurement is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.  
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration, which is deemed to be an asset or liability, is 
recognized in accordance with PAS 39 either in the consolidated statement of income or as a change to other 
comprehensive income.  If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured until it is finally 
settled within equity. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the 
amount recognized for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.  If this 
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognized in 
the consolidated statement of income. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.  For the purpose of 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the 
Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets 
or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.  Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured 
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

Business Combinations Prior to January 1, 2010.  In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements, the following 
differences applied: 

Business combinations were accounted for using the purchase method.  Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs.  The non-controlling interest (formerly known as minority interest) was 
measured at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  Business combinations achieved in 
stages were accounted for as separate steps.  Any additional acquired share of interest did not affect previously 
recognized goodwill. 

When the Group acquired a business, embedded derivatives separated from the host contract by the acquiree were 
not reassessed on acquisition unless the business combination resulted in a change in the terms of the contract that 
significantly modified the cash flows that otherwise would have been required under the contract.  Contingent 
consideration was recognized if, and only if, the Group had a present obligation, the economic outflow was more likely 
than not and a reliable estimate was determinable.  Subsequent adjustments to the contingent consideration were 
recognized as part of goodwill. 

Interest in a Joint Venture 
The Group has an interest in a joint venture which is a jointly controlled entity, whereby the venturers have a 
contractual arrangement that establishes joint control over the economic activities of the entity.  The agreement 
requires unanimous agreement for financial and operating decisions among the venturers.  Interest in the joint 
venture, which is a jointly controlled entity, is accounted for using proportionate consolidation.  The Group includes 
separate line items for its share of the total assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the jointly controlled entity in its 
consolidated financial statements.  The financial statements of the joint venture are prepared for the same reporting 
period as the Group.  Adjustments are made where necessary to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the 
Group.  

  

Adjustments are made in the Group’s consolidated financial statements to eliminate the Group’s share of intragroup 
balances, transactions and unrealized gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its jointly controlled 
entity.  Losses on transactions are recognized immediately if the loss provides evidence of a reduction in the net 
realizable value of assets or an impairment loss.  The joint venture is proportionately consolidated until the date on 
which the Group ceases to have joint control over the joint venture. 

Upon loss of joint control the Group measures and recognizes its remaining investment at its fair value.  Any 
difference between the carrying amount of the former jointly controlled entity upon loss of joint control and the fair 
value of the remaining investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in profit or loss. When the remaining 
investment constitutes significant influence, it is accounted for as investment in an associate. 

Investments in Associates 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method.  An associate is an entity in which the Group 
has significant influence. 

Under the equity method, the investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement of financial position 
at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the associates.  Goodwill relating to an 
associate is included in the carrying amount of investment and is neither amortized nor individually tested for 
impairment.  

The Group’s share in its associate’s post-acquisition profit or loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of 
income.  This is the profit or loss attributable to equity holders of the associate and is therefore profit or loss after tax 
and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.  Where there has been a change recognized directly 
in the equity of the associate, the Group recognizes its share of any changes and discloses this, when applicable, in 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.  Unrealized gains and losses arising from transactions with the 
associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associate. 

The financial reporting dates of the associates and the Group are identical and the associates’ accounting policies 
conform to those used by the Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

After application of equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize any impairment loss on 
its investment in associates.  The Group determines at each financial reporting date whether there is any objective 
evidence that the investment in associate is impaired.  If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of 
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes 
the amount in the consolidated statement of income. 

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognizes any retaining investment at 
its fair value.  Any difference between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the 
fair value of the retaining investment and proceeds from disposal is recognized in profit or loss. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash includes cash on hand and in banks.  Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible with original maturities of three months or less and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in 
value.   

Short-term investments 
Short-term investments are short-term, highly liquid investments that are convertible to known amounts of cash with 
original maturities of more than three months but less than one year and that are subject to insignificant risk of change 
in value. 

Financial Instruments 

Date of Recognition.  Financial instruments within the scope of PAS 39 are recognized in the consolidated statement 
of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  Purchases or 
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in 
the marketplace are recognized using the settlement accounting date.  Derivatives are recognized on trade date 
basis. 

Initial Recognition of Financial Instruments.  All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value.  The initial 
measurement of financial instruments includes transaction costs, except for financial assets at FVPL.  The Group 
classifies its financial assets in the following categories:  financial assets at FVPL, held-to-maturity (HTM) 
investments, loans and receivables, or available-for-sale (AFS) financial assets.  Financial liabilities are classified as 
either financial liabilities at FVPL or other financial liabilities.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
investments were acquired and whether they are quoted in an active market.  The Group determines the classification 
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of financial assets on initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every 
financial reporting date. 

Determination of Fair Value.  The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets at the financial reporting 
date is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and 
ask price for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs. 

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined by using appropriate valuation 
techniques.  Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions, reference to the current fair 
value of another instrument that is substantially the same discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation models. 

“Day 1” Difference.  Where the transaction in a non-active market is different from the fair value of other observable 
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include only 
data from observable market, the Group recognizes the difference between the transaction price and fair value 
(“Day 1” difference) in the consolidated statement of income unless it qualifies for recognition as some other type of 
asset.  In cases where there was use of data, which is not observable, the difference between the transaction price 
and model value is only recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the inputs become observable or 
when the instrument is derecognized.  For each transaction, the Group determines the appropriate method of 
recognizing the “Day 1” difference amount. 

Financial Assets or Liabilities at FVPL.  Financial assets or liabilities at FVPL include financial assets and liabilities 
held for trading purposes and financial assets and liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at FVPL. 

Financial assets and liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling and 
repurchasing in the near term. 

Derivatives are also classified under financial assets and liabilities at FVPL unless they are designated as hedging 
instruments in an effective hedge. 

Financial assets or liabilities may be designated by management on initial recognition as at FVPL when the following 
criteria are met: 

� The designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that would otherwise arise from 
measuring the assets or liabilities or recognizing gains or losses on them on a different basis; 

� The assets or liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, liabilities or both which are managed and their 
performance evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented risk management or investment 
strategy; or 

� The financial instrument contains an embedded derivative, unless the embedded derivative does not significantly 
modify the cash flows or it is clear, with little or no analysis, that it would not be separately recorded. 

Financial assets and liabilities at FVPL are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value.  
Subsequent changes in fair value are recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  Interest earned or 
incurred is recorded in interest income or expense, respectively, while dividend income is recorded in “Other income” 
when the right to receive payment has been established. 

The Parent Company’s investment in quoted shares of stock of Cambridge Silicon Radio plc (CSR, a U.K.-based 
corporation) presented under “Other current assets” is classified as financial assets at FVPL as of December 31, 2010 
and 2009 (see Note 9). 

The embedded derivatives on First Gen group’s convertible bonds as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 are classified 
as financial liabilities at FVPL (see Note 19).  These derivatives were not designated as hedging instruments by First 
Gen group and do not qualify as effective accounting hedges. 

HTM Investments.  HTM investments are quoted non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
and fixed maturities for which the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity.  
Where the Group sells other than an insignificant amount of HTM investments, the entire category is deemed tainted 
and reclassified as AFS financial assets.  After initial measurement, these investments are subsequently measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment in value.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  
Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the HTM investments are 
derecognized and impaired, as well as through the amortization process.  The effects of restatement on foreign 
currency-denominated HTM investments are also recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 
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The Group has no HTM investments as of December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

Loans and Receivables.  Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 
maturities and that are not quoted in an active market.  They are not entered into with the intention of immediate or 
short-term resale and are not classified or designated as AFS financial assets or financial assets at FVPL.  Loans and 
receivables are included in current assets if maturity is within 12 months from financial reporting date.  Otherwise, 
these are classified as noncurrent assets. 

After initial measurement, the loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method, less allowance for impairment.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or 
premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.  Gains and losses are 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the loans and receivables are derecognized and impaired 
as well as through the amortization process. 

Classified under loans and receivables are cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, trade and other 
receivables, restricted cash deposits (included in “Other noncurrent assets” account), and advances to a non-
controlling shareholder of First Gen (included in “Other noncurrent assets” account) (see Note 16). 

AFS Financial Assets.  AFS financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets which are designated as such or 
do not qualify to be classified in any of the three preceding categories.  These are purchased and held indefinitely, 
and may be sold in response to liquidity requirements or changes in market conditions.  AFS financial assets are 
classified as current assets if management intends to sell these financial assets within 12 months from financial 
reporting date.  Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent assets. 

After initial measurement, AFS financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealized gains and 
losses being recognized as other comprehensive income until the investments are derecognized or until the 
investments are determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported as other 
comprehensive income (losses) is included in the consolidated statement of income. 

AFS financial assets that do not have quoted market prices in an active market and whose fair values cannot be 
measured reliably and derivatives that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted equity 
instruments are measured at cost. 

Classified under AFS financial assets are investments in equity securities, which include quoted and unquoted equity 
investments and investments in proprietary membership shares, as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 (see Note 11).  

Other Financial Liabilities.  Financial liabilities are classified in this category if these are not held for trading or not 
designated as at FVPL upon the inception of the liability.  These include liabilities arising from operations or 
borrowings.  Other financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if maturity is within 12 months from financial 
reporting date.  Otherwise, these are classified as noncurrent liabilities. 

Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value of the consideration received, less directly attributable 
transaction costs.  After initial recognition, other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method.  Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any related issue costs, 
discount or premium.  Gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of income when the liabilities 
are derecognized, as well as through the amortization process. 

Classified under other financial liabilities are loans payable, trade payables and other current liabilities, bonds payable 
and long-term debt as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.  Obligations to Gas Sellers are also classified under other 
financial liabilities as of December 31, 2009 (see Note 21). 

Debt Issuance Costs 
Expenditures incurred in connection with availments of long-term debt and issuances of bonds are deferred and 
amortized using the effective interest method over the term of the loans and bonds.  Debt issuance costs are included 
in the measurement of the related long-term debt and bonds payable and are allocated accordingly to the respective 
current and noncurrent portions. 

Derivative Financial Instruments 
The Group enters into derivative and hedging transactions, primarily interest rate swaps, as needed, for the sole 
purpose of managing the risks that are associated with the Group’s borrowing activities or as required by the lenders 
in certain cases. 

Derivative financial instruments (including bifurcated embedded derivatives) are initially recognized at fair value on the 
date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value.  Derivatives are 
carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.  Any gain or loss 
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arising from changes in fair value of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting is taken directly to the 
consolidated statement of income for the current year under “Mark-to-market gain (loss) on derivatives” account. 

For purposes of hedge accounting, derivatives can be designated either as cash flow hedges or fair value hedges 
depending on the type of risk exposure it hedges. 

At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to 
which the Group opts to apply hedge accounting and the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the 
hedge.  The documentation includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the 
nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the 
exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows attributable to the hedged risk.  Such hedges are 
expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows and are assessed on an 
ongoing basis that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting periods for which they 
were designated. 

The Group accounts for its interest rate swap agreements as cash flow hedges of the floating rate exposure of its 
long-term debt (see Note 32). 

The Group has no derivatives that are designated as fair value hedges as of December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

Cash Flow Hedges.  Cash flow hedges are hedges of the exposure to variability of cash flows that are attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognized asset, liability or a highly probable forecast transaction and could affect 
profit or loss.  The effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognized directly as other 
comprehensive income (loss) under the “Cumulative translation adjustments” account in the consolidated statement 
of financial position while the ineffective portion is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Amounts recognized as other comprehensive income (loss) are transferred to the consolidated statement of income 
when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss, such as when hedged financial income or expense is recognized or 
when a forecast sale or purchase occurs.  Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or liability, the 
amounts recognized as other comprehensive income (loss) are transferred to the initial carrying amount of the non-
financial asset or liability. 

If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive 
income (loss) are transferred to the consolidated statement of income.  If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, 
terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts 
previously recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs.  If 
the related transaction is not expected to occur, the amount is recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Embedded Derivatives.  An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid (combined) instrument that also includes 
a non-derivative host contract with the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined instrument vary in a way 
similar to a stand-alone derivatives.  Embedded derivatives are bifurcated from their host contracts, when the 
following conditions are met: (a) the entire hybrid contracts (composed of both the host contract and the embedded 
derivative) are not accounted for as financial assets at FVPL; (b) when their economic risks and characteristics are 
not closely related to those of their respective host contracts; and (c) a separate instrument with the same terms as 
the embedded derivative would meet the definition of a derivative. 

The Group assesses whether embedded derivatives are required to be separated from host contracts when the 
Group first becomes a party to the contract.  Reassessment only occurs if there is a change in the terms of the 
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required. 

Embedded derivatives that are bifurcated from the host contracts are accounted for either as financial assets or 
financial liabilities at FVPL.  Changes in fair values are included in the consolidated statement of income. 

The Group’s embedded derivatives through First Gen group’s convertible bonds as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 
are neither designated as hedging instruments nor qualify as effective accounting hedges (see Notes 19 and 33). 

Derecognition of Financial Assets and Liabilities  

Financial Asset.  A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of financial 
assets) is derecognized when: 

� the rights to receive cash flows from the asset expire; 

� The Group retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in 
full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; or 
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� The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained the risk and 
rewards of the asset but has transferred the control of the asset. 

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a “pass-through” 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor 
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the 
asset.  Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be 
required to repay. 

Financial Liability.  A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged, is 
cancelled or expires. 

Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income. 

Impairment of Financial Assets 
The Group assesses at each financial reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired.  A financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and 
only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Objective 
evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is experiencing significant 
financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization and where observable data indicate that there is measurable decrease in 
the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults. 

Financial Assets Carried at Amortized Cost.  For loans and receivables carried at amortized cost, the Group first 
assesses whether an objective evidence of impairment (such as the probability of insolvency or significant financial 
difficulties of the borrower) exists individually for financial assets that are individually significant, or collectively for 
financial assets that are not individually significant. 

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortized cost has been incurred, the 
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted using 
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.  If there is no objective evidence that impairment exists for 
individually assessed financial asset, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and collectively assesses for impairment.  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future 
cash flows for groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors’ ability to pay all amounts due according to the 
contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which 
an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective assessment for impairment. 

The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the use of allowance account and the amount of loss is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  If in case the receivable is proven to have no realistic prospect 
of future recovery, any allowance provided for such receivable is written off against the carrying value of the impaired 
receivable.  Interest income continues to be recognized based on the original effective interest rate of the asset. 

If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss decreases because of an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reduced by adjusting the allowance 
account.  Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income, to 
the extent that the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortized cost at reversal date. 

AFS Financial Assets.  For AFS financial assets, the Group assesses at each financial reporting date whether there is 
objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 

In the case of equity investments classified as AFS financial assets, this would include a significant or prolonged 
decline in fair value of the investments below its cost.  “Significant” is to be evaluated against the original cost of the 
investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair value has been below its original cost.  Where there is 
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current 
fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognized in the other comprehensive income 
(loss), is removed from other comprehensive income (loss) and recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  
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Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed in the consolidated statement of income.  Increases in fair 
value after impairment are recognized directly in other comprehensive income (loss). 

In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS financial assets, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria 
as financial assets carried at amortized cost.  Future interest income is based on the reduced carrying amount and is 
accrued based on the rate of interest used to discount future cash flows for the purpose of measuring impairment 
loss.  If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and that increase can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the consolidated statement of income, the 
impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated statement of income. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the 
case with master netting arrangements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented at gross amounts in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  Costs incurred in bringing each item of inventory to 
its present location and conditions are accounted for as follows: 

 
Finished goods and work in-process − Determined on the weighted average basis; cost includes 

materials and labor and a proportion of manufacturing 
overhead costs based on normal operating capacity but 
excluding borrowing costs; 

Real estate – Costs include expenditures for development and 
improvements of the land;  

Fuel inventories – Weighted average cost of fuel  

Raw materials  – Purchase cost based on weighted average cost method; 

Spare parts and supplies – Purchase cost on moving average basis. 

The net realizable value is determined as follows: 
 

Real estate for sale and work in-process – Selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion, marketing and distribution  

Finished goods – Estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale 

Fuel inventories – Cost charged to MERALCO, under the respective Power 
Purchase Agreements (PPAs) of FGPC and FGP with 
MERALCO (see Note 34a), which is based on weighted 
average cost of actual fuel consumed 

Raw materials, spare parts and supplies  – Current replacement cost 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment, except land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, amortization and any 
impairment in value.  Land is carried at cost (initial purchase price and other cost directly attributable to such property) 
less any impairment in value. 

The initial cost of property, plant and equipment, consist of its purchase price including import duties, borrowing costs 
(during the construction period) and other costs directly attributable in bringing the asset to its working condition and 
location for its intended use.  Cost also includes the cost of replacing the part of such property, plant and equipment 
when the recognition criteria are met and the estimated cost of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the 
site. 

Expenditures incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance, are normally charged to current operations in the period the costs are incurred.  In situations where it 
can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits 
expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment beyond its originally assessed 
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as additional costs of property, plant and equipment. 
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Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed in the consolidated statement of income.  Increases in fair 
value after impairment are recognized directly in other comprehensive income (loss). 

In the case of debt instruments classified as AFS financial assets, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria 
as financial assets carried at amortized cost.  Future interest income is based on the reduced carrying amount and is 
accrued based on the rate of interest used to discount future cash flows for the purpose of measuring impairment 
loss.  If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and that increase can be objectively 
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized in the consolidated statement of income, the 
impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated statement of income. 

Offsetting Financial Instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  This is not generally the 
case with master netting arrangements, and the related assets and liabilities are presented at gross amounts in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

Inventories 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  Costs incurred in bringing each item of inventory to 
its present location and conditions are accounted for as follows: 

 
Finished goods and work in-process − Determined on the weighted average basis; cost includes 

materials and labor and a proportion of manufacturing 
overhead costs based on normal operating capacity but 
excluding borrowing costs; 

Real estate – Costs include expenditures for development and 
improvements of the land;  

Fuel inventories – Weighted average cost of fuel  

Raw materials  – Purchase cost based on weighted average cost method; 

Spare parts and supplies – Purchase cost on moving average basis. 

The net realizable value is determined as follows: 
 

Real estate for sale and work in-process – Selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
estimated costs of completion, marketing and distribution  

Finished goods – Estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less 
estimated costs necessary to make the sale 

Fuel inventories – Cost charged to MERALCO, under the respective Power 
Purchase Agreements (PPAs) of FGPC and FGP with 
MERALCO (see Note 34a), which is based on weighted 
average cost of actual fuel consumed 

Raw materials, spare parts and supplies  – Current replacement cost 

Property, Plant and Equipment 
Property, plant and equipment, except land, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation, amortization and any 
impairment in value.  Land is carried at cost (initial purchase price and other cost directly attributable to such property) 
less any impairment in value. 

The initial cost of property, plant and equipment, consist of its purchase price including import duties, borrowing costs 
(during the construction period) and other costs directly attributable in bringing the asset to its working condition and 
location for its intended use.  Cost also includes the cost of replacing the part of such property, plant and equipment 
when the recognition criteria are met and the estimated cost of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the 
site. 

Expenditures incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and 
maintenance, are normally charged to current operations in the period the costs are incurred.  In situations where it 
can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditures have resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits 
expected to be obtained from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment beyond its originally assessed 
standard of performance, the expenditures are capitalized as additional costs of property, plant and equipment. 

  

The Group divided the power plants into significant parts.  Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with 
a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately.  Depreciation and 
amortization are computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives of the assets: 

 
Asset Type Number of Years 
Buildings, other structures and improvements 5 to 25 years 
Transportation equipment 3 to 20 years 
Machinery and equipment  2 to 25 years 
Leasehold improvements 5 years or lease term, whichever is shorter 

The useful lives and depreciation and amortization method are reviewed at each financial reporting date to ensure 
that the years and method of depreciation and amortization are consistent with the expected pattern of economic 
benefits from items of property, plant and equipment. 

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use.  Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the assets (calculated as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of income in 
the year the asset is derecognized. 

Construction in progress represents properties under construction.  This includes cost of construction, equipment and 
other direct costs.  Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the construction of the property, plant and 
equipment are capitalized during the construction period.  Construction in progress is not depreciated until such time 
that the relevant assets are substantially completed and available for use. 

Discontinued Operations 
In the consolidated statement of income of the reporting period, and of the comparable period of the previous year, 
income and expenses from discontinued operations are reported separately from income and expenses from 
continuing operations, down to the level of profit after taxes, even when the Group retains a non-controlling interest in 
the subsidiary after the sale.  The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) is reported separately in the consolidated 
statement of income.  Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once classified as held for sale are not 
depreciated or amortized. 

Investment Properties 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.  The carrying amount includes the 
cost of replacing part of an existing investment property at the time that cost is incurred if the recognition criteria are 
met and excludes the costs of day-to-day servicing of an investment property.  Subsequent to initial recognition, 
investment properties, except land, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. 

Land is carried at cost (initial purchase price and other cost directly attributable to such property) less any impairment 
in value. 

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 5 to 20 years.  The 
investment properties’ estimated useful lives and depreciation method adopted for investment properties are reviewed 
and adjusted, as appropriate, at each financial reporting date. 

Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the investment is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal.  The difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognized in the consolidated statement 
of income in the year of derecognition. 

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use.  Transfers into and from 
investment property do not change the carrying amount of the property transferred. 

Intangible Assets 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost.  The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is the fair value as of the date of acquisition.  Following initial recognition, 
intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and any impairment losses.  Internally generated 
intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized.  Instead, related expenditures are 
reflected in the consolidated statement of income in the year the expenditure is incurred. 

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.  Intangible assets with finite lives are 
amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful economic life and assessed for impairment 
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.  The amortization period and method for an 
intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least each financial reporting date. 
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Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in 
the said intangible asset are accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are 
treated as changes in accounting estimates.  The amortization expense on intangible assets with finite lives is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income in the expense category consistent with the function of the 
intangible asset. 

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually, either individually or at the cash 
generating unit level.  Such intangibles are not amortized.  The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life 
is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable.  If not, the 
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is made prospectively. 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the consolidated statement of 
income in the year the asset is derecognized. 

Prepaid Major Spare Parts 
Prepaid major spare parts (included in the “Other noncurrent assets” account in the consolidated statement of 
financial position) (see Note 16) consist of capitalizable portion of the operation and maintenance fees for the Sta. 
Rita and San Lorenzo power plants owned by FGPC and FGP, respectively.  The cost of the major spare parts during 
scheduled maintenance outages will be included as cost of the “Property, plant and equipment” account when such 
items are issued. 

Prepaid Gas 
Prepaid gas (included in the “Other noncurrent assets” account in the consolidated statement of financial position) 
(see Note 16) consists of payments to Gas Sellers for unconsumed gas, net of adjustment.  The prepaid gas is 
recoverable in the form of future gas deliveries in the order that it arose and can be consumed within a 10-year 
period.  The terms and conditions on the payment and recovery of outstanding prepaid gas are covered by the 
respective settlement agreements (SA) and Payment Deferral Agreements (PDA) of FGP and FGPC (see Note 21). 

If it should be determined at some future date that the likelihood of any amount of gas usage or delivery is remote, 
then the relevant amount deemed no longer realizable will be written off in the consolidated statement of income. 

Research and Development Costs 
Research costs are expensed as incurred.  Development expenditures incurred on an individual project are carried 
forward when its future recoverability can reasonably be regarded as assured.  Any expenditure carried forward is 
amortized in line with the expected future sales from the related project.  Otherwise, development costs are expensed 
as incurred. 

The carrying value of development costs is reviewed for impairment annually when the asset is not yet in use, or more 
frequently when an indication of impairment arises during the reporting year. 

Impairment of Nonfinancial Assets 

Investments and Deposits in Associates, Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Properties, Intangible Assets, 
Prepaid Major Spare Parts and Prepaid Gas.  At each financial reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is 
any indication that its non-financial assets may be impaired.  When an indicator of impairment exists or when an 
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group makes a formal estimate of an asset’s recoverable 
amount.  Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  The 
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is assessed as part 
of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs.  Where the carrying amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset (or cash-generating unit) is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific 
to the asset (or cash-generating unit).  An impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income in 
the year in which it arises. 

An assessment is made at each financial reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognized impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.  If such indication exists, the assets or 
cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount is estimated.  A previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if 
there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognized.  The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its 
recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 
impairment loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income.  
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Goodwill.  Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.  

Impairment is determined for goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of 
cash-generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (or 
group of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated, an impairment loss is recognized immediately in the 
consolidated statement of income. 

Impairment loss relating to goodwill cannot be reversed for subsequent increases in its recoverable amount in future 
periods.  The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as of December 31 of each year. 

Borrowing Costs 
Borrowing costs are capitalized if they are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of 
qualifying assets until such time that the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale, which 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time.  Capitalization of borrowing costs commences when the activities to 
prepare the asset are in progress and expenditures and borrowing costs are being incurred.  Borrowing costs are 
capitalized until the asset is substantially ready for its intended use.  If the resulting carrying amount of the asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  All other 
borrowing costs are expensed in the year they occur. 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive): (a) as a result of a past 
event, (b) it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and (c) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.  Where the Group expects some 
or all of the provision to be reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognized as 
a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.  The expense relating to any provision is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of income, net of any reimbursement.  If the effect of the time value of 
money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that 
reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized under the 
“Finance costs” account in the consolidated statement of income. 

The Group recognized provisions arising from legal and/or constructive obligation associated with the cost of 
dismantling and removing an item of property, plant and equipment and restoring the site where it is located.  The 
obligation occurs either when the asset is acquired or as a consequence of using the asset for the purpose of 
generating electricity during a particular year.  A corresponding asset is recognized in property, plant and equipment.  
Dismantling costs are provided at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated cash 
flows.  The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the dismantling liability.  
The unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred and recognized in the consolidated statement of income under 
the “Finance costs” account.  The estimated future costs of dismantling are reviewed annually and adjusted, as 
appropriate.  Changes in the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are added to or deducted from the 
cost of the asset. 

Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the consolidated financial statements but are disclosed in the notes to 
consolidated financial statements unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is 
remote.  Contingent assets are not recognized but are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements 
when an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

Capital Stock and Capital in Excess of Par Value 
Capital stock is measured at par value for all shares issued.  Incremental costs incurred directly attributable to the 
issuance of new shares are shown in equity as deduction, net of tax, from proceeds when the stocks are sold at 
premium, otherwise such are expensed as incurred.  Proceeds and/or fair value of considerations received in excess 
of par value, if any, are recognized as capital in excess of par value. 

Treasury Stock 
Stocks of the Parent Company that are acquired by any of the Group entities are recorded at cost in the equity section 
of the consolidated statement of financial position.  No gain or loss is recognized on the purchase, sale, re-issue or 
cancellation of the treasury stocks.  Upon reissuance of treasury stocks, the excess of proceeds from reissuance over 
the cost of treasury stocks is credited to “Capital in excess of par value.”  However, if the cost of treasury stocks 
exceeds the proceeds from reissuance, such excess is charged to “Capital in excess of par value” account but only to 
the extent of previously set up capital in excess of par for the same class of stock.  Otherwise, this is debited against 
the “Retained earnings” account. 
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Retained Earnings 
The amount included in retained earnings includes profit or loss attributable to the Group’s equity holders and 
reduced by dividends on capital stock.  Retained earnings may also include the effect of changes in accounting 
policies as may be required by the standards’ transitional provisions. 

Dividends on Preferred and Common Stocks 
The Group may pay dividends in cash or by the issuance of shares of stock.  Cash and property dividends are subject 
to the approval of the BOD, while stock dividends are subject to approval by the BOD, at least two-thirds of the 
outstanding capital stock of the shareholders at a shareholders’ meeting called for such purpose, and by the 
Philippine SEC.  

Cash and property dividends on preferred and common stocks are recognized as liability and deducted from equity 
when declared.  Stock dividends are treated as transfers from retained earnings to additional paid-in capital.  The 
Group may declare dividends only out of its unrestricted retained earnings.  Dividends for the year that are approved 
after the financial reporting date are dealt with as an event after the financial reporting date. 

Revenue Recognition 
Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will 
flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, regardless of when the payment is being 
made.  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into account 
contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duty.  The Group assesses its revenue arrangements 
against specific criteria in order to determine if it is acting as principal or agent.  The Group has concluded that it is 
acting as principal in all of its revenue arrangements. 

The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognized: 

Sale of Electricity.  Revenue from sale of electricity (in the case FGP and FGPC) is based on the respective PPAs of 
FGP and FGPC. The PPAs qualify as leases on the basis that FGP and FGPC sell all of its output to MERALCO.  
These agreements call for a take-or-pay arrangement where payment is made principally on the basis of the 
availability of the power plants and not on actual deliveries of electricity generated.  These arrangements are 
determined to be operating leases as the significant portion of the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets are 
retained by FGP and FGPC.  

Revenue from sale of electricity is composed of fixed capacity fees, fixed and variable operating and maintenance 
fees, fuel, wheeling and pipeline charges, and supplemental fees.  The portion related to the fixed capacity fees is 
considered as operating lease component and the same fees are recognized on a straight-line basis, based on the 
actual Net Dependable Capacity (NDC) tested or proven, over the terms of the respective PPAs. Variable operating 
and maintenance fees, fuel, wheeling and pipeline charges and supplemental fees are recognized monthly based on 
the actual energy delivered. 

Sale of Merchandise.  Revenue from the sale of merchandise is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer, usually on delivery of the goods. 

Revenue from Construction Contracts.  Revenue is recognized based on the percentage of completion method of 
accounting using surveys of work performed by professionally-qualified surveyors to measure the stage of completion. 

Contract costs include all direct materials, labor costs and indirect costs related to contract performance.  Changes in 
job performance, job conditions and estimated profitability including those arising from contract penalty provisions and 
final contract settlements, which may result in revisions to estimated costs and gross margins, are recognized in the 
year in which the revisions are determined. 

Claims for additional contract revenues are recognized when negotiations have reached an advanced stage such that 
it is probable that the customer will accept the claim; and the amount that will be accepted by the customer can be 
measured reliably.  Variation orders are included in contract revenue when it is probable that the customer will 
approve the variation and the amount of revenue arising from the variation can be measured reliably. 

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of amounts billed on uncompleted contracts accounted for under the 
percentage of completion method are classified as Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted 
contracts (included in Trade and other receivables) (see Note 7) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Pipeline Services.  Revenues from pipeline services are recognized when services are rendered using base charges.  
Adjustments of billings for pipeline services over and above the base charges are recorded at the time of settlement 
with shippers. 
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Sale of Real Estate.  Revenue from and cost of sale of completed real estate projects is accounted for using the full 
accrual method.  The percentage of completion method is used to recognize income from sales of projects where the 
Group has material obligations under the sales contract to complete the project after the property is sold.  Under the 
percentage of completion method, revenue and costs are measured principally on the basis of the ratio of actual costs 
incurred to date over the estimated total costs of the project. 

Interest Income.  Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues (using the effective interest rate, which is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset), taking into account the effective yield on the asset. 

Dividends.  Dividend income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established. 

Foreign Currency Translations 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine peso, which is the Parent Company’s functional and 
presentation currency.  All subsidiaries and associates evaluate their primary economic and operating environment 
and, determine their functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are initially 
measured using that functional currency. 

Transactions and Balances.  Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate 
prevailing on the period of the transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are re-
translated at the functional currency spot rate of exchange prevailing at the financial reporting date. 

All differences are recognized in the consolidated statement of income.  Nonmonetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial 
transactions.  Nonmonetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. 

Group Companies.  The financial statements of the consolidated subsidiaries and associates with functional currency 
other than the Philippine peso are translated to Philippine peso as follows: 

� Assets and liabilities using the spot rate of exchange prevailing at the financial reporting date; 
� Components of equity using historical exchange rates; and 
� Income and expenses using the monthly weighted average exchange rate. 

The exchange differences arising on the translation are recognized as other comprehensive income (loss).  Upon 
disposal of any of these subsidiaries and associates, the deferred cumulative amount recognized in other 
comprehensive income (loss) relating to that particular subsidiary or associate will be recognized in the consolidated 
statement of income. 

First Gen group, First Sumiden Realty, Inc. (FSRI), First Private Power Corporation (FPPC), First Philec Solar 
Corporation (First Philec Solar), First Sumiden Circuits, Inc. (FSCI), FGHC International, FPH Fund and FPH 
Ventures have identified the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. 

Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement 
and requires an assessment of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset 
or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.  A reassessment is made after inception of the lease 
only if one of the following applies: 

a. there is a change in contractual terms, other than a renewal or extension of the arrangement; 
b. a renewal option is exercised or extension granted, unless that term of the renewal or extension was initially 

included in the lease term; 
c. there is a change in the determination of whether fulfillment is dependent on a specified asset; or 
d. there is a substantial change to the asset. 

Where a reassessment is made, lease accounting will commence or cease from the date when the change in 
circumstances gave rise to the reassessment for scenarios (a), (c) or (d) above, and at the date of renewal or 
extension period for scenario (b). 

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as 
operating leases.  In cases where the Group acts as a lessee, operating lease payments are recognized as expense 
in the consolidated statement of income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  In cases where the Group is a 
lessor, the initial direct costs incurred in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognized over the lease term on the same bases as rental income.  Contingent rents are recognized as 
revenue in the year in which they are earned. 
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Retirement Costs and Other Post-Retirement Benefits 
The Parent Company and certain of its subsidiaries have distinct funded, noncontributory defined benefit retirement 
plans.  The plans cover all permanent employees, each administered by their respective retirement committee. 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined using the projected unit credit method.  
Under this method, the current service cost is the present value of retirement benefits obligation in the future with 
respect to services rendered in the current period.  Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments 
and changes in actuarial assumptions are credited to or charged against income when the net cumulative 
unrecognized actuarial gains and losses for each individual plan at the end of the previous reporting year exceeded 
10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  These gains or 
losses are recognized over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plans. 

Past service costs are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits 
become vested.  If the benefits have already vested, immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, a 
retirement plan, past service costs are recognized immediately. 

The defined benefit asset or liability is comprised of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and actuarial 
gains and losses not recognized, reduced by past service cost not yet recognized, and the fair value of plan assets 
out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.  Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee 
benefit fund.  Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Group nor can be paid directly to the Group.  The 
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 
the interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement 
obligation.  The value of any plan assets recognized is restricted to the sum of any past service costs not yet 
recognized and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or 
reductions in the future contributions to the plan. 

If the asset is measured at the aggregate of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial losses and past service cost and 
the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future 
contributions to the plan, net actuarial losses of the current period and past service costs for the current period are 
recognized immediately to the extent that they exceed any reduction in the present value of those economic benefits.  
If there is no change or an increase in the present value of the economic benefits, the entire net actuarial losses of the 
current period and past service costs for the current period are recognized immediately. 

Similarly, net actuarial gains of the current period after the deduction of past service cost of the current period 
exceeding any increase in the present value of the economic benefits stated in the foregoing are recognized 
immediately if the asset is measured at the aggregate of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial losses and past 
service cost and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or 
reductions in the future contributions to the plan.  If there is no change or a decrease in the present value of the 
economic benefits, the entire net actuarial gains of the current period after the deduction of past service cost of the 
current period are recognized immediately. 

Share-based Payment Transactions 
Certain employees (including senior executives) of the Parent Company, First Gen group and First Balfour, Inc. 
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions.  Under such circumstance, the employees 
render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled transactions”). 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the stock options 
at the date the option is granted.  The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing Model.  
In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked 
to the price of the shares (“market conditions”), if applicable. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period 
in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees 
become fully entitled to the award (“the vesting date”). 

The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each financial reporting date until the vesting 
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest.  The charge or credit to the consolidated statement of income for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as of the beginning and end of that year. 

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon 
a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, 
provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied. 
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Retirement Costs and Other Post-Retirement Benefits 
The Parent Company and certain of its subsidiaries have distinct funded, noncontributory defined benefit retirement 
plans.  The plans cover all permanent employees, each administered by their respective retirement committee. 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is determined using the projected unit credit method.  
Under this method, the current service cost is the present value of retirement benefits obligation in the future with 
respect to services rendered in the current period.  Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments 
and changes in actuarial assumptions are credited to or charged against income when the net cumulative 
unrecognized actuarial gains and losses for each individual plan at the end of the previous reporting year exceeded 
10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets at that date.  These gains or 
losses are recognized over the expected average remaining working lives of the employees participating in the plans. 

Past service costs are recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the average period until the benefits 
become vested.  If the benefits have already vested, immediately following the introduction of, or changes to, a 
retirement plan, past service costs are recognized immediately. 

The defined benefit asset or liability is comprised of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and actuarial 
gains and losses not recognized, reduced by past service cost not yet recognized, and the fair value of plan assets 
out of which the obligations are to be settled directly.  Plan assets are assets that are held by a long-term employee 
benefit fund.  Plan assets are not available to the creditors of the Group nor can be paid directly to the Group.  The 
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using 
the interest rate on government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related retirement 
obligation.  The value of any plan assets recognized is restricted to the sum of any past service costs not yet 
recognized and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or 
reductions in the future contributions to the plan. 

If the asset is measured at the aggregate of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial losses and past service cost and 
the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in the future 
contributions to the plan, net actuarial losses of the current period and past service costs for the current period are 
recognized immediately to the extent that they exceed any reduction in the present value of those economic benefits.  
If there is no change or an increase in the present value of the economic benefits, the entire net actuarial losses of the 
current period and past service costs for the current period are recognized immediately. 

Similarly, net actuarial gains of the current period after the deduction of past service cost of the current period 
exceeding any increase in the present value of the economic benefits stated in the foregoing are recognized 
immediately if the asset is measured at the aggregate of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial losses and past 
service cost and the present value of any economic benefits available in the form of refunds from the plan or 
reductions in the future contributions to the plan.  If there is no change or a decrease in the present value of the 
economic benefits, the entire net actuarial gains of the current period after the deduction of past service cost of the 
current period are recognized immediately. 

Share-based Payment Transactions 
Certain employees (including senior executives) of the Parent Company, First Gen group and First Balfour, Inc. 
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions.  Under such circumstance, the employees 
render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (“equity-settled transactions”). 

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the stock options 
at the date the option is granted.  The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing Model.  
In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions linked 
to the price of the shares (“market conditions”), if applicable. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period 
in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees 
become fully entitled to the award (“the vesting date”). 

The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled transactions at each financial reporting date until the vesting 
date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity 
instruments that will ultimately vest.  The charge or credit to the consolidated statement of income for a period 
represents the movement in cumulative expense recognized as of the beginning and end of that year. 

No expense is recognized for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon 
a market condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, 
provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied. 

  

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, the minimum expense recognized is the expense as if the 
terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the award are met.  An additional expense is recognized for any 
modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise beneficial to 
the employee as measured at the date of modification. 

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any 
expense not yet recognized for the award is recognized immediately.  However, if a new award is substituted for the 
cancelled award, and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new 
awards are treated as if they were modifications of the original award, as described in the foregoing. 

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per 
share (see Notes 24 and 29). 

Income Tax 

Current Income Tax.  Tax assets and liabilities for the current year are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authority.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantially enacted as at the financial reporting date. 

Deferred Tax.  Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method on temporary differences as at the 
financial reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial 
reporting purposes. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

� Where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

� In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests 
in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable 
that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits from 
excess minimum corporate income tax (MCIT) over the regular income tax, and unused net operating loss carryover 
(NOLCO), to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits from MCIT and unused NOLCO can be utilized.  Deferred 
income tax, however, is not recognized: 

� where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and 

� in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, 
deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse 
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilized. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each financial reporting date and reduced to the extent that 
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilized.  Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each financial reporting date and are recognized to the 
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax relating to items recognized outside profit or loss is recognized outside of profit or loss.  Deferred tax 
items are recognized in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
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Earnings per Share (EPS) Attributable to the Equity Holders of the Parent Company 
Basic EPS is calculated by dividing the net income (less preferred dividends, if any) for the year attributable to 
common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year, with 
retroactive adjustment for any stock dividends or stock splits declared during the year. 

Diluted EPS is calculated in the same manner, adjusted for the effects of the outstanding stock options under the 
Parent Company’s Executive Stock Option Plan (ESOP).  Outstanding stock options will have dilutive effect under the 
treasury stock method only when the average market price of the underlying common share during the period 
exceeds the exercise price of the option. 

Where the EPS effect of the assumed exercise of outstanding options has anti-dilutive effect, diluted EPS is 
presented the same as basic EPS with a disclosure that the effect of the exercise of the instruments is anti-dilutive. 

Segment Reporting 
For purposes of financial reporting, the Group is organized and managed separately according to the nature of the 
products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic business unit.  Such business segments 
are the bases upon which the Group reports its primary segment information. 

Financial information on business segments is presented in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.  The 
Group has one geographical segment and derives principally all its revenues from domestic operations. 

Events After the Financial Reporting Date 
Post year-end events that provide additional information about the Group’s financial position at the financial reporting 
date (adjusting events) are reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not 
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to consolidated financial statements when material (see Note 37). 

Standards and Interpretations Effective Subsequent to December 31, 2010 
The Group will adopt the following standards and interpretations enumerated below when these become effective.  
Except as otherwise indicated, the Group does not expect the adoption of these new and amended PFRS and 
Philippine Interpretations to have significant impact on its consolidated financial statements. 

� PAS 24, Related Party Disclosures (Amended) 

The amended standard is effective for the Group beginning January 1, 2011.  It clarified the definition of a related 
party to simplify the identification of such relationships and to eliminate inconsistencies in its application.  The 
revised standard introduces a partial exemption of disclosure requirements for government-related entities.  Early 
adoption is permitted for either the partial exemption for government-related entities or for the entire standard. 

� PAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendment) - Classification of Rights Issues 

The amendment to PAS 32 is effective for the Group beginning January 1, 2010 and amended the definition of a 
financial liability in order to classify rights issues (and certain options or warrants) as equity instruments in cases 
where such rights are given pro rata to all of the existing owners of the same class of an entity’s non-derivative 
equity instruments, or to acquire a fixed number of the entity’s own equity instruments for a fixed amount in any 
currency.  

� PAS 12, Income Taxes (Amendment) - Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets 

The amendment to PAS 12 is effective for the Group beginning January 1, 2012.  It provides a practical solution 
to the problem of assessing whether recovery of an asset will be through use or sale.  It introduces a presumption 
that recovery of the carrying amount of an asset will normally be through sale. 

� PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures (Amendments) - Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets 

The amendments to PFRS 7 are effective for the Group beginning January 1, 2012.  The amendments will allow 
users of financial statements to improve their understanding of transfer transactions of financial assets (for 
example, securitizations), including understanding the possible effects of any risks that may remain with the entity 
that transferred the assets.  The amendments also require additional disclosures if a disproportionate amount of 
transfer transactions are undertaken around the end of a reporting period. 
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� PFRS 9, Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement 

PFRS 9, as issued in 2010, reflects the first phase of the work on the replacement of PAS 39 and applies to 
classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in PAS 39.  The standard is 
effective for the Group beginning on or after January 1, 2013.  In subsequent phases, hedge accounting and 
derecognition will be addressed.  The completion of this project is expected in the 2nd quarter of 2011.  The 
adoption of the first phase of PFRS 9 will have an effect on the classification and measurement of the Company’s 
financial assets.  The Company will quantify the effect in conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to 
present a comprehensive picture. 

� Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-14 (Amendment), Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement 

The amendment to Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-14 is effective for the Group beginning January 1, 2011, with 
retrospective application.  The amendment provides guidance on assessing the recoverable amount of a net 
pension asset.  The amendment permits an entity to treat the prepayment of a minimum funding requirement as 
an asset.  

� Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-15, Agreement for Construction of Real Estate 

This Interpretation, effective for the Group beginning January 1, 2012, covers accounting for revenue and 
associated expenses by entities that undertake the construction of real estate directly or through subcontractors.  
The Interpretation requires that revenue on construction of real estate be recognized only upon completion, 
except when such contract qualifies as construction contract to be accounted for under PAS 11, Construction 
Contracts, or involves rendering of services in which case revenue is recognized based on stage of completion.  
Contracts involving provision of services with the construction materials and where the risks and reward of 
ownership are transferred to the buyer on a continuous basis will also be accounted for based on stage of 
completion. 

� Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-19, Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments 

Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-19 is effective for the Group beginning January 1, 2011.  The interpretation 
clarifies that equity instruments issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial liability qualify as consideration paid.  
The equity instruments issued are measured at their fair value.  In case that this cannot be reliably measured, the 
instruments are measured at the fair value of the liability extinguished.  Any gain or loss is recognized 
immediately in profit or loss.  

� Improvements to PFRSs issued in 2010 

Improvements to IFRSs is an omnibus of amendments to PFRSs.  The amendments have not been adopted as 
they become effective for the Group on January 1, 2011.  The Group, however, expects no impact from the 
adoption of the amendments on its financial position or performance. 

� PFRS 3, Business Combinations 
� PFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures 
� PAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements 
� PAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
� Philippine Interpretation IFRIC-13, Customer Loyalty Programmes 

 
 
3. Significant Accounting Judgments and Estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the Group’s management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, at the financial reporting date.  However, uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the 
asset and liability affected in future years. 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, which 
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 

Judgments 

Determination of Functional Currency.  The Parent Company and all other subsidiaries and associates, except for 
First Gen group, FSRI, FPPC, First Philec Solar, FSCI, FGHC International, FPH Fund and FPH Ventures, have 
determined that their functional currency is the Philippine peso.  The Philippine peso is the currency of the primary 
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economic environment in which the Parent Company and all other subsidiaries and associates, except for those 
entities earlier mentioned, operate.  The Philippine peso is also the currency that mainly influences the sale of goods 
and services as well as the costs of selling such goods and providing such services.  First Gen group, FSRI, FPPC, 
First Philec Solar, FSCI, FGHC International, FPH Fund and FPH Ventures have determined the U.S. dollar to be 
their functional currency.  The accounts of the Group entities using U.S. dollar as functional currency were translated 
to Philippine peso for purposes of consolidation to the Group’s accounts. 

Operating Lease Commitments - the Group as Lessor.  The respective PPAs of FGP and FGPC qualify as leases on 
the basis that FGP and FGPC sell all of their output to MERALCO.  These agreements call for a take-or-pay 
arrangement where payment is made principally on the basis of the availability of the power plants and not on actual 
deliveries of electricity generated.  These lease arrangements are determined to be operating leases as the significant 
portion of the risks and benefits of ownership of the assets are retained by FGP and FGPC. 

Accordingly, the power plant assets are recorded as part of the cost of property, plant and equipment and the fixed 
capacity fees billed to MERALCO are recorded as operating revenues on straight-line basis over the applicable terms 
of the PPAs. 

Classification of financial instruments.   The Group exercises judgment in classifying a financial instrument, or its 
component parts, on initial recognition as either a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement and the definition of a financial asset, a financial 
liability or an equity instrument. The substance of a financial instrument, rather than its legal form, governs its 
classification in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

Discontinued operations.  A discontinued operation is a component of the Group business that represents a separate 
major line of business or geographical area of operations that has been disposed of or is held for sale, or is a 
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.  Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal 
or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale.  When an operation is classified as a 
discontinued operation, the comparative consolidated statements of income and consolidated statements of cash 
flows are restated, as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative periods, so as to 
provide some form of comparability with the new presentation. 

On May 12, 2009, the BOD of Prime Terracota approved and issued voting preferred stocks to Quialex Realty 
Corporation and Lopez Inc. Retirement Fund.  Due to the said equity transaction, the Group through First Gen is 
deemed to have lost control over Prime Terracota since First Gen’s voting interest in Prime Terracota has been 
reduced to approximately 45% and has lost control over the BOD of Prime Terracota.  In addition, the loss of control 
is treated as a deemed sale transaction in accordance with the Amended PAS 27 (see Note 5). 

Estimates 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year, are described below.  The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when 
the consolidated financial statements were prepared.  Existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the 
Group.  Such changes are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Impairment of Other Non-financial Assets (i.e., Investment and Deposits in Associates, Investment Properties, 
Property, Plant and Equipment, Intangible Assets, Prepaid Gas and Prepaid Major Spare Parts).  The Group 
assesses impairment of these non-financial assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  The factors that the Group consider important, which could 
trigger an impairment review include the following: 

� Significant under-performance relative to expected historical or projected future operating results; 

� Significant changes in the manner of use of the acquired assets or the strategy for overall business; and  

� Significant negative industry and economic trends. 

The Group recognizes an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, 
which is the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value-in-use. The fair value less cost to sell calculation is based 
on available data from binding sales transactions in an arm's length transaction of similar assets or observable market 
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset.  The value in use calculation is based on a discounted cash 
flow model which requires use of estimates of a suitable discount rate and expected future cash inflows.  Recoverable 
amounts are estimated for individual assets or, if it is not possible, for the cash-generating unit to which the assets 
belong. 
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There were no indicators for impairment as at December 31, 2010 and 2009.  Therefore, no impairment testing was 
performed.  The aggregate carrying amount of the non-financial assets amounted to P=93,573 million and P=101,030 
million as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Notes 10, 12, 14, 15 and 16). 

Estimating Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Properties and Intangible Assets.  The Group 
estimated the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment, investment properties and intangible assets based on 
the periods over which the assets are expected to be available for use and on the collective assessment of industry 
practices, internal technical evaluation and experience with similar assets and arrangements. 

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment, investment properties and intangible assets are reviewed 
at each financial reporting date and updated, if expectations differ from previous estimates due to physical wear and 
tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other limits in the use of these property, plant and equipment, 
investment properties and intangible assets.  However, it is possible that future results of operations could be 
materially affected by changes in the estimates brought about by changes in the aforementioned factors. 

The amounts and timing of recording the depreciation and amortization for any year, with regard to the property, plant 
and equipment, investment properties and intangible assets, would be affected by changes in these factors and 
circumstances.  A reduction in the estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment, investment properties 
and intangible assets would increase the recorded depreciation and amortization and decrease the noncurrent assets. 

There is no change in the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment, investment properties and 
intangible assets during the year.  The aggregate carrying values of property, plant and equipment, investment 
properties and intangible assets as of December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 amounted to P=33,796 million and 
P=32,099 million, respectively (see Notes 12, 14 and 15). 

Impairment of Investments in Equity Securities.  The Group considers investments in equity securities as impaired 
when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of such investments below their cost or where 
other objective evidence of impairment exists.  The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires 
judgment.  Except for investment in MERALCO shares which the Group considers impaired if the decline in fair value 
is at least 50%, the Group treats “significant” generally as 20% or more and “prolonged” as greater than 12 months.  
In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, including normal volatility in share price for quoted equities and the 
future cash flows and the discount factors for unquoted equities. 

No impairment loss was recognized in the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2010, 
2009 and 2008.  Investments in equity securities are carried at P=17,125 million and P=129 million as of December 31, 
2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 11). 

Impairment of Loans and Receivables.  The Group reviews its loans and receivables at each financial reporting date 
to assess whether an allowance for impairment should be recorded in the consolidated statement of income.  In 
particular, judgment by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when 
determining the level of allowance required.  Such estimates are based on assumptions about a number of factors 
and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes in the allowance. 

The Group maintains an allowance for impairment of receivables at a level that management considers adequate to 
provide for potential uncollectibility of its trade and other receivables.  The Group evaluates specific balances where 
management has information that certain amounts may not be collectible.  In these cases, the Group uses judgment, 
based on available facts and circumstances, and a review of the factors that affect the collectibility of the accounts 
including, but not limited to, the age and status of the receivables, collection experience, and past loss experience. 

The review is made by management on a continuing basis to identify accounts to be provided with allowance.  These 
specific reserves are re-evaluated and adjusted as additional information received affects the amount estimated. 

In addition to specific allowance against individually significant receivables, the Group also makes a collective 
impairment allowance against exposures which, although not specifically identified as requiring a specific allowance, 
have a greater risk of default than when originally granted.  Collective assessment of impairment is made on a 
portfolio or group basis after performing a regular review of age and status of the portfolio/group of accounts relative 
to historical collections, changes in payment terms, and other factors that may affect ability to collect payments. 

Allowance for impairment losses on receivables amounted to P=108 million and P=83 million as of December 31, 2010 
and 2009, respectively.  The carrying amount of receivables amounted to P=5,802 million and P=8,018 million as of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively (see Note 7). 

Estimating Net Realizable Value of Inventories.  Inventories are presented at the lower of cost or net realizable value.  
Estimates of net realizable value are based on the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are 
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made, of the amount the inventories are expected to realize.  A review of the items of inventories is performed at each 
financial reporting date to reflect the accurate valuation of inventories in the consolidated financial statements. 

Inventories amounted to P=3,711 million and P=4,715 million as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, net of 
allowance for impairment losses on inventories of P=40 million and P=41 million as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively (see Note 8). 

Estimation of Retirement Obligation.  The determination of the Group’s retirement cost is dependent on certain 
assumptions which the management provided to the actuary to use as basis to calculate such amount.  The actuarial 
valuation involves making assumptions on discount rates, expected returns on plan assets, future salary increases, 
mortality rates, future retirement increases, and rates of compensation increase. 

In accordance with PAS 19, past service costs, experience adjustments, and effects of the changes in actuarial 
assumptions are deemed to be amortized over the average remaining working lives of employees.  While the 
assumptions are reasonable and appropriate, significant differences in the Group’s actual experience or significant 
changes in the assumptions may materially affect the retirement benefit obligation.  Further, due to the long-term 
nature of the plan, such estimates are subject to significant uncertainty.  The expected rate of return on plan assets 
was based on the average historical premium of the fund assets.  The assumed discount rates were determined using 
the market yields on Philippine government bonds with terms consistent with the expected employee benefit payout 
as at the financial reporting date.  See Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements for details of the assumptions 
used in the calculation. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the present value of benefit obligation of the Group amounted to P=2,555 million 
and P=2,187 million, respectively.  Carrying value of retirement asset as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted to 
P=906 million and P=837 million, respectively.  Unrecognized cumulative actuarial losses as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009 amounted to P=163 million and P=133 million, respectively (see Note 27).   

Asset Retirement Obligations.  Under certain Environmental Compliance Certificate (ECC) issued by the Department 
of Environmental and Natural Resources (DENR), the Group, specifically, FGP and FGPC, has legal obligations to 
dismantle the power plant assets at the end of their useful lives.  FG Bukidnon, on the other hand, has contractual 
obligation under the lease agreements with Power Sector Assets and Liabilities Management (PSALM) Corporation to 
dismantle its power plant assets at the end of the useful lives.  The asset retirement obligations recognized represent 
the best estimate of the expenditures required to dismantle the power plants at the end of their useful lives.  Such cost 
estimates are discounted using a pre-tax rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the liability. 

Each year, the asset retirement obligation is increased to reflect the accretion of discount and to accrue an estimate 
for the effects of inflation, with the charges being recognized in the “Finance costs” account, presented in the 
consolidated statement of income.  While it is believed that the assumptions used in the estimation of such costs are 
reasonable, significant changes in these assumptions may materially affect the recorded expense or obligations in 
future periods. 

Asset retirement obligations amounted to P=47 million and P=46 million as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively (see Note 22). 

Impairment of Goodwill.  The Group performs impairment review on goodwill on an annual basis or more frequently if 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.  This requires an estimation of 
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill is allocated.  Estimating the value in use requires us to 
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. 

No impairment loss on goodwill was recognized in the consolidated financial statements for each of the three years in 
the period ended December 31, 2010.  The carrying value of goodwill as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted 
to P=271 million and P=286 million, respectively (see Note 15). 

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets.  The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets at each financial reporting date are 
reviewed and reduced to the extent that there are no longer sufficient taxable profits available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax assets to be utilized.  The Group’s assessment of the recognition of deferred tax assets on deductible 
temporary differences, carryforward benefits of MCIT and NOLCO is based on the forecasted taxable income of the 
following reporting period.  This forecast is based on the Group’s past results and future expectations on revenues 
and expenses. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the amount of gross deferred tax assets recognized in the consolidated 
statement of financial position amounted to P=428 million and P=157 million, respectively.  Deductible temporary 
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differences and carryforward benefits of NOLCO and MCIT for which no deferred tax asset has been recognized as of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009 amounted to P=14,079 million and P=11,455 million, respectively (see Note 28). 

Estimating Revenue and Cost of Real Estate Sales.  The Group’s revenue and cost recognition policies require 
management to make use of estimates and assumptions that may affect the reported amounts of revenues and costs.  
The Group’s revenue from real estate contracts recognized based on the percentage of completion method is 
measured principally on the basis of the ratio of actual costs incurred to date over the estimated total costs of the 
project.  The total estimated cost of the project is determined by the Group’s engineers and technical staff.  At each 
financial reporting date, these estimates are reviewed and revised to reflect the current conditions, when necessary. 

Revenues and costs from real estate sold amounted to P=657 million and P=369 million, respectively in 2010;  
P=1,044 million and P=169 million, respectively in 2009; and P=266 million and P=202 million, respectively in 2008. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments.  Certain financial assets and financial liabilities are required to be carried at fair 
value, which requires the use of accounting estimates and judgment.  While significant components of fair value 
measurement are determined using verifiable objective evidence (i.e., foreign exchange rates, interest rates and 
volatility rates), the timing and amount of changes in fair value would differ with the valuation methodology used.  Any 
change in the fair value of these financial assets and financial liabilities would directly affect consolidated profit and 
loss and consolidated equity. 

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the consolidated statement of financial 
position cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that 
include the use of mathematical models.  The input to these models is taken from observable markets where possible, 
but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values.  The judgments include 
considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as correlation and volatility for longer dated financial instruments. 
Fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are set out in Note 33 of the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Legal Contingencies and Regulatory Assessments.  The Group is involved in various legal proceedings and 
regulatory assessments as discussed in Note 35.  The Group has developed estimates of probable costs for the 
resolution of possible claims in consultation with the external counsels handling the Group’s defense for various legal 
proceedings and regulatory assessments and is based upon an analysis of potential results. 

The Group, in consultation with its external legal counsel, does not believe that these proceedings will have a material 
adverse effect on the consolidated financial statements.  However, it is possible that future results of operations could 
be materially affected by changes in the estimates or the effectiveness of management’s strategies relating to these 
proceedings. 

 
 
4. Operating Segment Information 

Operating segments are components of the Group that engage in business activities from which they may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Group to make decisions about 
how resources are to be allocated to the segment and assess their performances, and for which discrete financial 
information is available. 

The Group’s operating businesses are organized and managed separately according to the nature of the products 
and services, with each segment representing a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves 
different markets. 

The Group conducts majority of its business activities in the following areas: 

� Power generation and related companies - power generation subsidiaries under First Gen 
� Manufacturing - manufacturing subsidiaries under First Philec 
� Others - investment holdings, oil transporting company, construction, real estate development, securities transfer 

services and financing 

Segment income is evaluated based on net income from continuing operations and is measured consistently with net 
income from continuing operations in the consolidated statements of income.  Segment revenue, segment expenses 
and segment performance include transfers between business segments.  The transfers are accounted for at 
competitive market prices charged to unrelated customers for similar products.  Such transfers are eliminated in 
consolidation.   

The operations of these business segments are in the Philippines.  Substantially, all of the revenues of First Gen are 
derived from MERALCO. 
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Financial information about the business segments follows: 
 

   2010   

 

Power 
Generation 

and Related 
Companies Manufacturing 

Investment 
Holdings, 

Construction, 
Real Estate 

Development 
and Others Eliminations Consolidated 

   (In Millions)   
Revenue:      
 External sales P=52,973  P=6,076  P=2,459 P=– P=61,508 
 Inter-segment sales – – 61 (61) – 
Equity in earnings of associates 2,163 39 575 – 2,777 
Total revenue 55,136 6,115 3,095 (61) 64,285 
Costs and expenses (44,036) (5,643) (3,974) 64 (53,589) 
Finance income 402 3 746 (74) 1,077 
Finance costs (4,722) (137) (809) 74 (5,594) 
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) (232) (20) (22) 33 (241) 
Other income/(loss) 829 (108) 23,700 (52) 24,369 
Income before income tax 7,377 210 22,736 (16) 30,307 
Provision for income tax (1,895) (20) (20) – (1,935) 
Segment income P=5,482 P=190 P=22,716 (P=16) P=28,372 

Operating assets:      
 Segment current assets P=16,567 P=2,244 P=24,203 (89) P=42,925 
 Segment noncurrent assets 86,080 4,839 76,234 (49,544) 117,609 
Total consolidated assets P=102,647 P=7,083 P=100,437 (49,633) P=160,534 

Operating liabilities:      
 Segment current liabilities P=16,818 P=3,503 P=5,259 (P=2,618) P=22,962 
 Segment noncurrent  liabilities 35,502 1,920 8,837 (67) 46,192 
Total consolidated liabilities P=52,320 P=5,423 P=14,096 (P=2,685) P=69,154 

Other information:      
 Investments and deposits 

in associates P=53,087 P=176 P=3,959 P=– P=57,222 
 

   2009   

 

Power 
Generation 

and Related 
Companies Manufacturing 

Investment 
Holdings, 

Construction, 
Real Estate 

Development 
and Others Eliminations Consolidated 

   (In Millions)   
Revenue:      
 External sales P=48,243 P=4,341 P=4,413 P=– P=56,997 
 Inter-segment sales – – 40 (40) – 
Equity in earnings of associates 56 46 1,995 – 2,097 
Total revenue 48,299 4,387 6,448 (40) 59,094 
Costs and expenses (38,657) (4,398) (3,997) 63 (46,989) 
Finance income 332 4 402 (22) 716 
Finance costs (5,354) (74) (1,491) 22 (6,897) 
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) (415) (32) 5  (442) 
Other income/(loss) 151 3 7,485 (24) 7,615 
Income before income tax 4,356 (110) 8,852 (1) 13,097 
Provision for income tax (1,821) (21) (185) – (2,027) 
Segment income P=2,535 (P=131) P=8,667 (P=1) P=11,070 

Operating assets:      
 Segment current assets P=16,009 P=2,128 P=51,307  (P=27,994) P=41,450 
 Segment noncurrent assets 83,830 2,642 70,929 (49,824) 107,577 
Total consolidated assets P=99,839 P=4,770 P=122,236 (P=77,818) P=149,027 

Operating liabilities:      
 Segment current liabilities P=13,055 P=2,847 P=42,854 (P=29,313) P=29,443 
 Segment noncurrent liabilities 49,500 422 10,545 (990) 59,477 
Total consolidated liabilities P=62,555 P=3,269 P=53,399 (P=30,303) P=88,920 

Other information:      
 Investments and deposits 

in associates P=47,157 P=237 P=16,135 P=– P=63,529 
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   2008   

 

Power 
Generation 

and Related 
Companies Manufacturing 

Investment 
Holdings, 

Construction, 
Real Estate 

Development 
and Others Eliminations Consolidated 

   (In Millions)   
Revenue:      
 External sales P=53,293 P=3,117 P=2,433 P=– P=58,843 
 Inter-segment sales – 4 84 (88) – 
Equity in earnings of associates 155 29 1,221 – 1,405 
Total revenue 53,448 3,150 3,738 (88) 60,248 
Costs and expense (42,294) (2,409) (6,018) 38 (50,683) 
Finance income 399 11 251 – 661 
Finance costs (5,339) (50) (1,897) – (7,286) 
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) (7,083) 15 6,754 – (314) 
Other income/(loss) – – 1,585 (739) 846 
Income before income tax (869) 717 4,413 (789) 3,472 
Provision for income tax (2,195) (162) (21) – (2,378) 
Segment income (P=3,064) P=555 P=4,392 (P=789) P=1,094 

Operating assets:      
 Segment current assets P=32,446 P=2,128 P=11,651 (P=184) P=46,041 
 Segment noncurrent assets 148,054 2,215 67,022 (36,325) 180,966 
Total consolidated assets P=180,500 P=4,343 P=78,673 (P=36,509) P=227,007 

Operating liabilities:      
 Segment current liabilities P=47,354 P=2,403 P=4,751 (P=1,066) P=53,442 
 Segment noncurrent liabilities 84,752 344 19,473 (151) 104,418 
Total consolidated liabilities P=132,106 P=2,747 P=24,224 (P=1,217) P=157,860 

Other information:      
 Investments and deposits 

in associates P=996 P=240 P=26,158 P=– P=27,394 

Discontinued operations are shown separately in the consolidated statement of income as a one-line item, “Net 
income from discontinued operations” (see Note 5). 

 
 
5. Consolidated Subsidiaries 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Parent Company and 
the following subsidiaries.  

 
 Percentage of Ownership 
 2010 2009 2008 
Subsidiaries  Direct Indirect Direct Indirect Direct Indirect 
Power Generation and Related Companies       
First Gen Corporation (First Gen)  66.25 – 54.84 11.39 54.84 11.39 
AlliedGen Power Corporation – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
FG Bukidnon Power Corp. (FG Bukidnon) – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Gen Energy Solutions, Inc. – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Gen Geothermal Power Corporation – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Gen Luzon Power Corporation. – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Gen Mindanao Hydro Power Corporation – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Gen Premier Energy Corporation – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Gen Prime Energy Corporation – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Gen Renewables, Inc. – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Gen Visayas Energy Corporation – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Gen Visayas Hydro Power Corporation – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
Unified Holdings Corporation (Unified) – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
Northern Terracotta Power Corporation (Northern Terracotta) – 100.00 – – – – 
FGP Corp. (FGP) – 60.00 – 60.00 – 60.00 
FG Land Corporation – 60.00 – 60.00 – 60.00 
First Gas Holdings Corporation (FGHC) – 60.00 – 60.00 – 60.00 
First Gas Pipeline Corporation – 60.00 – 60.00 – 60.00 
First Gas Power Corporation (FGPC) – 60.00 – 60.00 – 60.00 
First NatGas Power Corporation – 60.00 – 60.00 – 60.00 
First Gen Northern Energy Corporation (FGNEC)d – – – 100.00 – 100.00 
Batangas Cogeneration Corporation (Batangas Cogen) – – 60.00 – 60.00 – 
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 Percentage of Ownership 
 2010 2009 2008 
Subsidiaries  Direct Indirect Direct Indirect Direct Indirect 
Prime Terracota Holdings Corporation (Prime Terracota) e – – – – – 100.00 
Red Vulcan Holdings Corporation (Red Vulcan) e – – – – – 100.00 
Energy Development Corporation (EDC) e – – – – – 60.00 
First Gen Hydro Power Corporation (FG Hydro)e – – – – – 76.00 
Manufacturing       
First Philippine Electric Corporation (First Philec) 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
First Electro Dynamics Corporation (FEDCOR) – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Philippine Power Systems, Inc. (FPPSI) – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Philec Manufacturing Technologies Corporation (FPMTC)  – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First PV Ventures Corporation c  – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
Philippine Electric Corporation (PHILEC) – 99.15 – 99.15 – 99.15 
First Philec Solar Corporation (First Philec Solar) – 74.54 – 66.82 – 68.00 
Real Estate Development       
First Philippine Realty Development Corporation (FPRDC) 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
First Philippine Realty Corporation (FPRC) 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
First Philippine Properties Corporation  100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
FPHC Realty and Development Corporation (FPHC Realty) 98.00 – 98.00 – 98.00 – 
First Philippine Industrial Park, Inc. (FPIP) 70.00 – 70.00 – 70.00 – 
FPIP Property Developers and Management Corporation – 70.00 – 70.00 – 70.00 
FPIP Utilities, Inc. – 70.00 – 70.00 – 70.00 
First Sumiden Realty, Inc. (FSRI)a – 60.00 – 60.00 – 60.00 
Construction       
First Balfour, Inc. (First Balfour) 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
Others       
FPH Capital Resources, Inc. (FCRI, formerly First Philippine 

Lending Corporation)b 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
Securities Transfer Services, Inc. 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
FPH Fund 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
FGHC International 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
First Philippine Utilities Corporation (FPUC, formerly First 

Philippine Union Fenosa, Inc.) 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
First Philippine Industrial Corporation (FPIC) 60.00 – 60.00 – 60.00 – 
FPH Ventures – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 

a Through First Philec 
b Lending investor 
c Special-purpose entities of the Parent Company 
d Subsidiary up to 2009 (see Note 10) 

e Subsidiary up to 2008 (see Note 5a) 

Discontinued Operations 

a. Deconsolidation of Prime Terracota (major subsidiaries include Red Vulcan, EDC and FG Hydro) 

On May 12, 2009, the BOD of Prime Terracota approved and issued 16,000,000 Class “B” preferred shares with 
a par value of one peso (P=1.00) per share to Quialex Realty Corp. (QRC) and 44,000,000 Class “B” preferred 
shares with a par value of one peso (P=1.00) per share to Lopez, Inc. Retirement Fund (LIRF), which shares shall 
be entitled to cumulative dividends of P=0.10 per share per annum, payable at the end of each quarter from the 
time of their issuance or at such times as may be determined by the BOD of Prime Terracota, subject to the 
availability of unrestricted retained earnings.  Based on the above transactions, First Gen is deemed to have lost 
control over Prime Terracota since First Gen’s voting interest in Prime Terracota has been reduced to 
approximately 45% and has lost control over the BOD of Prime Terracota.  In addition, the loss of control is 
treated as a deemed sale transaction in accordance with the Amended PAS 27 

The results of operations of Prime Terracota and its subsidiaries for the four-month period ended April 30, 2009 
and for the year ended December 31, 2008 are summarized below.  

 
 2009 2008 
  (In Millions) 

Revenue P=7,821 P=23,087 
Costs and expenses (4,883) (21,209) 
Income before income tax 2,938 1,878 
Provision for income tax (934) (1,032) 
Net income from discontinued operations  P=2,004 P=846 
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 Percentage of Ownership 
 2010 2009 2008 
Subsidiaries  Direct Indirect Direct Indirect Direct Indirect 
Prime Terracota Holdings Corporation (Prime Terracota) e – – – – – 100.00 
Red Vulcan Holdings Corporation (Red Vulcan) e – – – – – 100.00 
Energy Development Corporation (EDC) e – – – – – 60.00 
First Gen Hydro Power Corporation (FG Hydro)e – – – – – 76.00 
Manufacturing       
First Philippine Electric Corporation (First Philec) 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
First Electro Dynamics Corporation (FEDCOR) – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Philippine Power Systems, Inc. (FPPSI) – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First Philec Manufacturing Technologies Corporation (FPMTC)  – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
First PV Ventures Corporation c  – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 
Philippine Electric Corporation (PHILEC) – 99.15 – 99.15 – 99.15 
First Philec Solar Corporation (First Philec Solar) – 74.54 – 66.82 – 68.00 
Real Estate Development       
First Philippine Realty Development Corporation (FPRDC) 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
First Philippine Realty Corporation (FPRC) 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
First Philippine Properties Corporation  100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
FPHC Realty and Development Corporation (FPHC Realty) 98.00 – 98.00 – 98.00 – 
First Philippine Industrial Park, Inc. (FPIP) 70.00 – 70.00 – 70.00 – 
FPIP Property Developers and Management Corporation – 70.00 – 70.00 – 70.00 
FPIP Utilities, Inc. – 70.00 – 70.00 – 70.00 
First Sumiden Realty, Inc. (FSRI)a – 60.00 – 60.00 – 60.00 
Construction       
First Balfour, Inc. (First Balfour) 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
Others       
FPH Capital Resources, Inc. (FCRI, formerly First Philippine 

Lending Corporation)b 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
Securities Transfer Services, Inc. 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
FPH Fund 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
FGHC International 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
First Philippine Utilities Corporation (FPUC, formerly First 

Philippine Union Fenosa, Inc.) 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 – 
First Philippine Industrial Corporation (FPIC) 60.00 – 60.00 – 60.00 – 
FPH Ventures – 100.00 – 100.00 – 100.00 

a Through First Philec 
b Lending investor 
c Special-purpose entities of the Parent Company 
d Subsidiary up to 2009 (see Note 10) 

e Subsidiary up to 2008 (see Note 5a) 

Discontinued Operations 

a. Deconsolidation of Prime Terracota (major subsidiaries include Red Vulcan, EDC and FG Hydro) 

On May 12, 2009, the BOD of Prime Terracota approved and issued 16,000,000 Class “B” preferred shares with 
a par value of one peso (P=1.00) per share to Quialex Realty Corp. (QRC) and 44,000,000 Class “B” preferred 
shares with a par value of one peso (P=1.00) per share to Lopez, Inc. Retirement Fund (LIRF), which shares shall 
be entitled to cumulative dividends of P=0.10 per share per annum, payable at the end of each quarter from the 
time of their issuance or at such times as may be determined by the BOD of Prime Terracota, subject to the 
availability of unrestricted retained earnings.  Based on the above transactions, First Gen is deemed to have lost 
control over Prime Terracota since First Gen’s voting interest in Prime Terracota has been reduced to 
approximately 45% and has lost control over the BOD of Prime Terracota.  In addition, the loss of control is 
treated as a deemed sale transaction in accordance with the Amended PAS 27 

The results of operations of Prime Terracota and its subsidiaries for the four-month period ended April 30, 2009 
and for the year ended December 31, 2008 are summarized below.  

 
 2009 2008 
  (In Millions) 

Revenue P=7,821 P=23,087 
Costs and expenses (4,883) (21,209) 
Income before income tax 2,938 1,878 
Provision for income tax (934) (1,032) 
Net income from discontinued operations  P=2,004 P=846 

  

The net cash flows of Prime Terracota and its subsidiaries for the four-month period ended April 30, 2009 and for 
the year ended December 31, 2008 are as follows: 

 2009 2008 

  (In Millions) 

Net cash flows from operating activities P=7,549 P=14,074 
Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities (3,865) 2,750 
Net cash flows from (used in) financing activities  3,226 (19,464) 
Net cash inflow (outflow)  P=6,910 (P=2,640) 

b. Sale of First Philippine Infrastructure, Inc. (FPII) 

On November 13, 2008, Metro Pacific Investments Corporation (MPIC) completed the purchase of the shares 
equivalent to 50.04% interests of the Group in FPII.  FPII holds 67.1% interest in Manila North Tollways 
Corporation [MNTC, the concession holder of the North Luzon Expressway (NLE)] and 46.0% of Tollways 
Management Corporation (TMC, the designated operator of NLE).  Accordingly, assets (including goodwill) and 
liabilities of the FPII group were deconsolidated as of the effective date of the sale. 

The total consideration for the FPII shares is P=6,244 million equivalent to a price per FPII share of P=2.47.  The 
total consideration comprised of: (a) cash of P=6,018 million; and (b) the assumption by MPIC of advances 
received by the Group from FPII group amounting to P=226 million.  

The Group incurred direct costs amounting P=151 million attributable to the disposal of FPII. As a result of the said 
transaction, the Group recognized a gain on sale of P=2,762 million in the consolidated statement of income. 

The results of operations of FPII for the period January 1 to November 13, 2008 are summarized below: 
 

  Amount 

  (In Millions) 

Revenues  P=4,308 
Costs and expenses  (3,556) 
Income before tax  752 
Provision for income tax  – 
Net income from discontinued operations   P=752 

The net cash flows of FPII for the period January 1 to November 13, 2008 are as follows: 
 

  Amount 

  (In Millions) 

Net cash flows from operating activities  P=3,140 
Net cash used in investing activities  (2,659) 
Net cash flows from financing activities  301 
Net cash inflow   P=782 

 
 
6. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Cash on hand and in banks P=3,498 P=1,493 
Cash equivalents 22,359 24,342 
 P=25,857 P=25,835 

Cash in banks earn interest at the prevailing bank deposit rates.  Cash equivalents consist of short-term placements 
for varying periods of up to three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group.  Cash 
equivalents earn interest at the prevailing short-term placement rates.  Due to the short term nature of such 
transactions, the carrying value approximates the fair value of cash equivalents.  Interest earned on cash and cash 
equivalents of P=802 million in 2010, P=684 million in 2009 and P=499 million in 2008 is recorded under “Finance 
Income” account in the consolidated statement of income (see Note 26). 
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7. Trade and Other Receivables 
 

 2010 2009 
  (In Millions) 
Trade (see Notes 32 and 33) P=4,129 P=6,185 
Due from related parties (see Note 30) 1,039 1,062 
Cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on 

uncompleted contracts 255 102 
Dividend receivable 96 2 
Receivable from Luzon Community Holdings  69 69 
Advances to officers and employees 47 57 
Receivable from MERALCO on Annual Deficiency  

(see Notes 21 and 34b) – 485 
Others  184 8 
 5,819 7,970 
Less allowance for impairment losses 108 83 
 P=5,711 P=7,887 

Trade receivables are noninterest-bearing and are generally on 30-day credit term. 

Information on cost and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts is shown below: 
 

 2010 2009 
  (In Millions) 
Cost and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts P=829 P=502 
Less billings to date 574 400 
Balance at end of year P=255 P=102 

Significant information about the Group’s contracts in-progress follows: 
 

 2010 2009 
  (In Millions) 
Total cost incurred to date on uncompleted contracts P=774 P=469 
Retention receivable 165 54 
Advances received 63 144 
Recognized profit to date 55 33 

Other receivables comprise mainly of installment receivables, interest receivables and other tax-related receivables 
and are generally on 30-day credit term. 

The rollforward analysis of allowance for impairment losses on trade receivables for 2010 and 2009 follows: 
 

 2010 2009 
  (In Millions) 
Balance at the beginning of the year P=83 P=80 
Provisions 28 5 
Write-off and reversal  (3) (2) 
Balance at the end of the year P=108 P=83 

The allowance for impairment losses of receivables relates to individually significant accounts that were assessed as 
impaired. 

 
 
8. Inventories 
 

 2010 2009 
  (In Millions) 
Fuel inventories P=2,234 P=3,004 
Real estate 765 928 
Raw materials 500 347 
Finished goods 88 96 
Work in-process 62 246 
Spare parts and supplies 58 40 
In-transit 4 54 
 P=3,711 P=4,715 
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The costs of inventories carried at net realizable values as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Raw materials P=522 P=374 
Work in-process 73 257 
Finished goods 91 – 
Spare parts and supplies 62 43 
 P=748 P=674 

Writedown of inventories amounting to P=26 million, P=11 million and P=14 million in 2010, 2009, and 2008, respectively, 
are recognized under “Cost of merchandise sold” account in the consolidated statement of income. 

Reversal of inventory writedown amounting to P=25 million, P=4 million, and P=3 million in 2010, 2009, and 2008, 
respectively, are recognized also under “Cost of merchandise sold” account.  The reversal resulted in increase in net 
realizable values of certain inventory items. 

The amounts of fuel inventories recognized as fuel cost under “Operations and maintenance” account amounted to  
P=2,258 million, P=1,072 million and P=551 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

The Group has no inventories pledged as security for liabilities as of December 31, 2010 and 2009.  
 
 
9. Other Current Assets 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Share in current assets of joint ventures (see Note 13) P=555 P=1,039 
Tax credit certificates 673 756 
Prepaid expenses 580 482 
Input value-added tax (VAT)  248 303 
Current portion of advances to non-controlling shareholder 

of First Gen (see Notes 16, 30, 32 and 33) 248 146 
Advances to contractors and suppliers 91 131 
Current portion of option assets (see Notes 16 and 33) 69 – 
FVPL investments 14 18 
Others 210 138 
 P=2,688 P=3,013 

Tax credit certificates (TCCs) are received from the BIR and the Bureau of Customs (BOC) for input VAT claimed for 
conversion into TCCs.  The TCCs can be used for payment of internal revenue taxes or custom duties, or sold to third 
parties. 

Prepaid expenses consist mainly of prepaid rent, prepaid insurance and prepaid supplies. 

The input VAT is applied against output VAT.  The remaining balance is recoverable in the future.  

The option assets resulted when First Gen entered into Call Option Agreements with Philhealthcare Inc. and 
Systems Technology Institute, Inc., Philplans First Inc., and Rescom Developers, Inc. to purchase EDC shares 
totaling to 76.5 million, 400.8 million and 107.7 million, respectively, for a total option consideration of P=1 million 
(US$0.03 million) (see Notes 9 and 33). 

The fair value of FVPL investments is based on the quoted price as traded in the stock exchange.  Unrealized fair 
value loss on this investment amounted to P=2 million and P=83 million in 2010 and 2008, respectively, while unrealized 
fair value gain amounted to P=13 million in 2009 (see Note 26). 
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10. Investments and Deposits in Associates 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Investments in shares of stock - at equity P=13,666 P=20,087 
Deposits for future investments 43,556 43,442 
 P=57,222 P=63,529 

The details of the investments in shares of stock follow: 
 

 2010 2009 
  (In Millions) 
Cost:   
 Balance at beginning  P=16,321 P=29,427 
 Additions 2,276 1,503 
 Cost of investments sold (5,707) (14,706) 
 Reclassification to investments in equity securities 

(see Note 11) (5,524) – 
 Return of investments in Bauang Private Power 

Corporation (BPPC)/ First Private Power Corporation 
(FPPC) (757) – 

 Foreign currency translation adjustments (439) (49) 
 Retained interest in a previous subsidiary (see Note 5) – 146 
 6,170 16,321 
Accumulated equity in net earnings:   
 Balance at beginning of year 694 (2,055) 
 Equity in net earnings for the year 2,777 2,097 
 Equity of investments sold (994) 1,860 
 Dividends received (523) (1,107) 
 Reclassification to investments in equity securities 

(see Note 11) (333) – 
 Foreign currency translation adjustments 200 (101) 
 1,821 694 
Share in other comprehensive income of associates:   
 Balance at beginning of year 3,072 5 
 Share in other comprehensive income for the year 2,603 3,067 
 5,675 3,072 
Balance at end of year P=13,666 P=20,087 

The Group’s associates, all incorporated in the Philippines, consist of the following: 
 

  Percentage of Ownership 
Associate Principal Activity 2010 2009 
BPPC/FPPC Power generation 40.00 40.00 
FG Hydro* Power generation 40.00 40.00 
FGNEC Power generation 33.00 – 
Prime Terracota (major subsidiaries  

include Red Vulcan and EDC)* Power generation 45.00 45.00 
FSCI Semiconductors assembly  40.00 40.00 
Panay Electric Company (Panay Electric) Power distribution 30.00 30.00 
MERALCO** Power distribution – 13.23 
Rockwell Land Corporation (ROCKWELL) Real estate development 49.00 49.00 

** Resulted from discontinued operations (see Note 5) 
** The Group’s remaining 6.61% owenership in MERALCO is accounted for as Investment in equity securities 

starting March 30, 2010 (see Note 11) 
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The carrying values of the Group’s investments in associates follow: 

2010 2009
(In Millions) 

Prime Terracota (see Note 5) P=8,474 P=2,032
ROCKWELL 3,866 3,580
FG Hydro 908 921
FSCI 176 237
Panay Electric 149 192
MERALCO – 12,295
BPPC/FPPC – 772
Others 93 58

P=13,666 P=20,087

Deposits for Future Stock Subscriptions
The deposits for future stock subscriptions amounting to P=43,556 million ($993.5 million) and P=43,425 million 
($940.1 million) in 2010 and 2009, respectively, pertains to the deposits by First Gen in Prime Terracota.  Additional 
deposits during the year pertain mainly to Prime Terracota. 

Movements of deposits for future stock subscriptions for 2010 and 2009 are as follows: 

2010 2009
(In Millions) 

Balance at beginning of year P=43,442 P=17
Additions 114 5,503
Deposits for future stock subscriptions in a previous subsidiary

(see Note 5) – 37,922
Balance at end of year P=43,556 P=43,442

The fair values of the shares in ROCKWELL, BPPC/FPPC, FG Hydro, Prime Terracota, FSCI and Panay Electric are 
not determinable since there are no publicly quoted prices available for such shares.  The fair value of the investment 
in MERALCO as of December 31, 2009 was P=30,580 million. 

Following are the condensed financial information of the Group’s significant associates: 

2010 2009

ROCKWELL
Prime

Terracota MERALCO ROCKWELL 
Prime

Terracota 
Current assets P=6,716 P=16,111 P=45,341 P=4,714 P=19,992
Noncurrent assets 7,291 109,130 134,973 7,294 110,632
Current liabilities 4,219 5,089 42,978 1,744 19,411
Noncurrent liabilities 1,540 50,855 76,450 2,848 48,910
Revenues 4,894 31,255 184,872 4,098 23,706
Costs and expenses 3,795 25,263 175,610 3,173 21,127
Net income 801 5,992 6,356 634 2,692

Dividends received from associates follow: 

2010 2009
(In Millions) 

BPPC/FPPC P=245 P=414
MERALCO* 235 596
Panay Electric 43 31
ROCKWELL – 49
Others – 17
Total P=523 P=1,107
*Dividends received prior to loss of significant influence 



66
Fi

rs
t 

Ph
ili

pp
in

e 
H

ol
di

ng
s 

C
or

po
ra

tio
n

Following are the significant transactions relating to the Group’s associates: 

MERALCO 
On March 12, 2009, the Group entered into an Investment and Cooperation Agreement (ICA) with Philippine Long 
Distance Telephone Company (PLDT) designed to allow both parties, directly or indirectly, to vote their shares in 
MERALCO based on mutuality of interest and proportionate allocation of voting rights.  The ICA, subject to certain 
conditions and approvals, contemplated the sale for P=20,070 million of a total 223 million common shares or 
approximately 20% of the outstanding common stock of MERALCO in favor of PLDT or its affiliates.  The Group and 
PLDT agreed on certain corporate governance principles such as nomination of directors to the MERALCO Board.  
The governance principles agreed upon will enable the Group to actively support PLDT in the management of 
MERALCO. 

On the same date, the Group entered in an Exchangeable Note Agreement (the Note) with Pilipino Telephone 
Corporation (PILTEL), a subsidiary of PLDT, amounting to P=2 billion, exchangeable into 22,222,222 shares of voting 
common stock of MERALCO owned by the Group.  The Note, at the option of PILTEL, may be exchanged into shares 
which will have a value equal to P=90 per share.  The Note had an underlying derivative and qualified for recognition 
under PAS 39. 

On July 14, 2009, the Group completed the sale of the 223 million MERALCO common shares for P=20,070 million to 
PILTEL and settled the Note and the corresponding derivative liability amounting to P=1,733 million.  The Note and the 
derivative liability were deducted against the total proceeds of P=20,070 million which resulted in a gain of  
P=8,957 million.  The market price of a MERALCO share was P=168.  Total derivative loss amounted to P=1,733 million 
on account of the increase in share price of MERALCO from the agreed exchange price of P=90 a share.  The sale 
reduced the Group’s ownership interest in MERALCO to 13.23%. 

On November 20, 2009, the Group and Lopez, Inc. (Lopez Group) entered into an amended ICA with PLDT, PILTEL 
and MPIC (PLDT Group).  The revised ICA provides for a standstill arrangement for a period of three years 
commencing on the date of the revised ICA, during which period, the Lopez Group may not sell or transfer any shares 
of voting common stock in MERALCO which it owns, except in favor of MPIC, or to third parties under the following 
conditions: 

� the aggregate MERALCO shares that the Lopez Group may sell during the following periods shall not exceed: (a) 
five million shares during the period from the date of the revised ICA to June 30, 2011; (b) five million shares 
during the period from July 1 to December 31, 2011; and (c) 20 million shares during the period from July 1, 2012 
until the end of the standstill period, and 

� the shares proposed to be sold are subject to the respective rights of first refusal and tag-along rights of the 
PLDT Group under the revised ICA.  

The Group continued to use the equity method of accounting in 2009 for its investment in MERALCO taking into 
account the matter of significant influence over MERALCO as evidenced by the following: 

� The Group has one director in the MERALCO who shall also be its non-executive Chairman; 

� The Group is entitled to pro rata representation in all board committees and other committees in MERALCO, and 
can have at least one seat in each committee for as long as it owns not less than 10% of the total issued and 
outstanding voting common stock of MERALCO.  In 2009, the Group has a nominee in two board committees, 
namely, the Nomination and Governance as well as Audit and Compliance. 

On March 30, 2010, the Parent Company completed the transactions relating to the sale of its 6.6% stake in 
MERALCO to Beacon Electric Asset Holdings, Inc. [Beacon Electric, formerly Rightlight Holdings, Inc. (RHI)].  This 
was effected by means of a block sale coursed through the PSE and there has been delivery and receipt of payment 
in the amount of P=300 per share or the total purchase price of P=22,410 million.  The Group still retains 74,475,706 
shares or a 6.6% stake in MERALCO and is entitled to nominate one director, among other rights. 

The Lopez Group composed of Lopez, Inc., the Parent Company, and FPUC and the Beacon Electric Group 
composed of PILTEL, MPIC, PLDT and Beacon Electric also executed a Revised and Restated Cooperation 
Agreement amending the November 20, 2009 Amended, Consolidated and Restated Cooperation Agreement among 
the Lopez Group and PILTEL, MPIC and PLDT, to include Beacon Electric as a party. 

The parties have also entered into a voting arrangement that their directors in MERALCO, subject to fiduciary duties, 
will vote as one block, in matters that may be brought for approval by its board.  Similarly, the Lopez Group also 
executed in favor of PILTEL a pooling of votes agreement in respect of matters that may be brought for approval by 
the shareholders of MERALCO.  Both of these agreements may be terminated upon written notice by Beacon Electric 
and PILTEL, respectively. 
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As a result of the said transaction, the Group recognized a gain on sale of P=23,560 million in the consolidated 
statement of income.  Such gain included the difference between the fair value of its retained interest in MERALCO 
and the carrying amount of the investment in MERALCO.  The sale reduced the Group’s ownership in MERALCO to 
6.61%.  The Group discontinued using the equity method of accounting for its investment in MERALCO as a result of 
the Group’s cessation of significant influence over MERALCO effective as of the date of sale. 

The Group’s remaining investment in MERALCO is classified as AFS financial assets in accordance to PAS 39, 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (see Note 11).  Accordingly, the remaining investment in 
MERALCO is remeasured at fair value in the statement of financial position and any fair value changes are 
recognized directly in equity. 

ROCKWELL 
On August 20, 2009, the Parent Company acquired Lopez Holdings’ 24.5% stake consisting of 1,525,953,672 
common shares and 673,750,000 preferred shares in ROCKWELL for P=1,500 million.  The acquisition cost, including 
transaction costs of P=3 million directly attributable to the acquisition, was added to the carrying amount of the existing 
investment in ROCKWELL.  After the purchase, the Parent Company owned a total of 49% of the outstanding capital 
stock of ROCKWELL, while the balance of 51% is owned by MERALCO. 

The identification and measurement at fair values of the various components of ROCKWELL’s net assets as at 
acquisition date was still in-progress as of April 8, 2010, the date when the 2009 consolidated financial statements of 
the Group were approved and authorized for issue by the BOD.  Later in 2010, the Parent Company completed the 
process which resulted in a fair value of ROCKWELL’s net assets of P=7,025 million as at acquisition date or 
equivalent to P=1,724 million for the 24.5% interest acquired by the Parent Company.  The excess of the Parent 
Company’s share in the net fair value of ROCKWELL’s net assets over the acquisition cost amounting to P=221 million 
was adjusted retrospectively in 2009 and included in the determination of the Group’s equity in net earnings of 
ROCKWELL in 2009. 

BPPC/FPPC 
On October 14, 2010, the BOD and stockholders of BPPC and FPPC approved a Plan of Merger where FPPC shall 
be merged into and be part of BPPC, and its separate corporate existence shall cease by operation of law.  
Subsequently, on December 13, 2010, the Philippine SEC approved the Certificate of Filing of the Articles and Plan of 
Merger. 

On December 15, 2010, the effective date of the Merger, FPPC transferred its assets and liabilities at their carrying 
values to BPPC. 

Pursuant to the Articles of Merger, BPPC issued common stock to holders of FPPC common stock upon the 
surrender and cancellation of common stock of FPPC.  The merger was accounted for in accordance with the pooling 
of interest method where the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed from FPPC are recognized at their 
carrying values and will be accounted for prospectively.  

Prior to the merger, proceeds from the return of the Parent Company’s investment in FPPC have exceeded the cost 
of the investment.  Such excess totaling to P=48 million (US$1.1 million) is recorded under the “Other income - net” 
account in the 2010 consolidated statement of income (see Note 26). 

As of December 31, 2010, the investment in BPPC amounted to nil. 

FGNEC 
On March 17, 2010, First Gen’s interest in FGNEC was reduced to 33% from 100%.  Consequently, First Gen 
accounts for FGNEC as an associate.  The share in losses of FGNEC from March 17, 2010 to December 31, 2010 
exceeded First Gen’s cost of investment.  As such, the investment in FGNEC amounted to nil as of December 31, 
2010. 

 
 
11. Investments in Equity Securities 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Proprietary membership P=77 P=62 
Quoted (see Note 10) 16,998 16 
Unquoted 50 51 
 P=17,125 P=129 



68
Fi

rs
t 

Ph
ili

pp
in

e 
H

ol
di

ng
s 

C
or

po
ra

tio
n

On March 30, 2010, the Group’s remaining investment in MERALCO was classified as “Investments in equity 
securities” in accordance with PAS 39 and was valued at P=182 a share or an equivalent fair value of P=13,555 million.  
As of December 31, 2010, MERALCO’s price per share reached P=228 which translated to a fair value of  
P=16,980 million. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, investments in proprietary membership shares and unquoted equity shares are 
carried at cost in the consolidated statements of financial position as their fair values cannot be measured reliably.  
The fair value of quoted equity shares is determined by reference to published price quotations in an active market. 

Set out below are the movements in net unrealized fair value gains on investments in equity securities as of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009: 

2010 2009
(In Millions) 

Balance at beginning of year P=26 P=27
Unrealized fair value gain (loss) recognized as other 

comprehensive income (loss) 3,444 (1)
Balance at end of year P=3,470 P=26

12. Property, Plant and Equipment

2010

Land

Buildings,
Other

Structures
and

Improvements 
Transportation

Equipment 

Machinery,
Equipment
and Others 

Construction
in Progress Total 

(In Millions)
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year P=1,176 P=18,628 P=247 P=29,992 P=49 P=50,092 
Additions 54 4 147 2,024 1,624 3,853
Disposals – – (32) (54) (91) (177)
Reclassifications (see Note 16) – (40) – 2,472 – 2,432 
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments (64) (900) (85) (1,378) (94) (2,521)
Balance at end of year 1,166 17,692 277 33,056 1,488 53,679 
Accumulated Depreciation, 

Amortization and Impairment 
Losses

Balance at beginning of year – 5,311 203 15,452 – 20,966
Depreciation and amortization 

for the year – 517 56 2,356 – 2,929 
Disposals – – (25) (29) – (54)
Reclassifications – (26) – (2) – (28)
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments – (70) (80) (909) – (1,059)
Balance at end of year – 5,732 154 16,868 – 22,754 

P=1,166 P=11,960 P=123 P=16,188 P=1,488 P=30,925 

2009

Land

Buildings,
Other

Structures and
Improvements 

Transportation
Equipment 

Machinery,
Equipment
and Others 

Construction
in Progress Total 

(In Millions)
Cost 
Balance at beginning of year P=1,782 P=20,877 P=503 P=33,583 P=46 P=56,791 
Additions – 40 54 1,393 5 1,492
Disposals – – (16) (76) (16) (108)
Reclassifications – 9 1 196 – 206 
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments 53 (545) (265) (908) 14 (1,651)
Effect of discontinued operations 

(Note 5) (659) (1,753) (30) (4,196) – (6,638)
Balance at end of year 1,176 18,628 247 29,992 49 50,092 
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 2009 

 Land 

Buildings, 
Other 

Structures and 
Improvements 

Transportation 
Equipment 

Machinery, 
Equipment 
and Others 

Construction 
in Progress Total 

 (In Millions) 
Accumulated Depreciation, 

Amortization and Impairment 
Losses       

Balance at beginning of year P=– P=5,217 P=182 P=13,866 P=– P=19,265 
Depreciation and amortization 

for the year – 571 45 2,446 – 3,062 
Disposals – – (10) (32) – (42) 
Reclassifications – 1 – – – 1 
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments – (353) (3) (329) – (685) 
Effect of discontinued operations 

(Note 5) – (125) (11) (499) – (635) 
Balance at end of year – 5,311 203 15,452 – 20,966  
 P=1,176 P=13,317 P=44 P=14,540 P=49 P=29,126 

No borrowing costs were capitalized in 2010, 2009 and 2008. 

First Gen group’s property, plant and equipment with net book values of P=25,234 million and P=25,747 million as of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, have been pledged as security for long-term debt (see Note 20). 

In 2008, First Balfour executed a chattel mortgage over the related machinery and equipment purchased under a 
financing arrangement with ORIX METRO Leasing and Financing Corporation (ORIX).  The net book value as of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009 of the machinery and equipment under chattel mortgage amounted to P=1 million and  
P=2 million, respectively (see Note 20). 

 
 
13. Interests in Joint Ventures 

The Group, through First Balfour, entered into several unincorporated construction and engineering joint venture 
agreements.  These include: 

 
Project Name  Joint Venture Partner Interest of the Group Nature of Project  Project Period 
St. Luke’s Medical Center 
(SLMC or MDC-FB) 

Makati Development 
Corporation (MDC) 

49% Construction of SLMC 
Hospital 

February 2007 to 
December 2009 

LRT1 North Extension 
Project (DMCI-FB) 

D.M. Consunji Inc. 
(DMCI) 

49% Construction of LRT1 
North Extension Project 

June 2008 to June 
2010 

SKI-FB Joint Venture  
(SKI-FB) 

Summa Kumagai, Inc. 
(SKI) 

49% Construction of “The 
Manansala” residential 
condominiums located in 
ROCKWELL, Makati City 

April 2003 to 
December 2005 

ECCO-Asia Nacap Joint 
Venture (ECCO-Asia) 

Nacap Nederland B.V. 60% Construction of gas 
pipeline facility 

January 2000 to 
October 2001 

FB-Chemitreat Joint 
Venture (FB-Chemitreat)  

Chemitreat Pte. Limited 
(Chemitreat) 

In accordance with the 
performance of each 
venturer’s scope of work 
in line with the contract 
agreement 

Design and construction 
of community sanitation 
projects in Taguig City   

April 2003 to 
December 2004 

FB/Chemitreat Joint 
Venture (FB/Chemitreat) 

Chemitreat Pte. Limited 
(Chemitreat) 

In accordance with the 
performance of each 
venturer’s scope of work 
in line with the contract 
agreement  

Design and construction 
of sewerage treatment 
plant in Quezon City  

January 2009 to 
June 2010 

E.S. de Castro and 
Associates, Inc. 

e-Engineering Support 
Services Joint Venture 
(e-ESS JV) 

70% Engineering support 
services to foreign and 
local customers 

January 2003 to 
October 2004 
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The Group’s share in the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the joint ventures as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009, which are included in the consolidated financial statements, are as follows: 

2010

MDC-FB SKI-FB
FB/

Chemitreat DMCI-FB Total
(In Millions)

Current assets (see Note 9) P=215 P=– P=15 P=325 P=555
Current liabilities (see Note 18) 88 37 5 175 305
Revenue from contracts and services 20 – – 85 105
Cost of contracts and services 30 – – (49) (19)
Other income (expense) 11 – – (6) 5

2009

MDC-FB SKI-FB
FB/

Chemitreat DMCI-FB Total
(In Millions)

Current assets (see Note 9) P=431 P=– P=15 P=593 P=1,039
Current liabilities (see Note 18) 71 37 5 588 701
Noncurrent assets – – – – –
Revenue from contracts an services 803 – – 1,176 1,979
Cost of contracts and services 599 – – 1,080 1,679
Other income (expense) 2 – – (1) 1

14. Investment Properties

2010 2009 

Land
Buildings

and Others Total Land
Buildings

and Others Total
(In Millions)

Cost: 
 Balance at beginning of year P=1,818 P=1,282 P=3,100 P=1,771 P=1,288 P=3,059
 Additions 2 128 130 70 141 211
 Disposals (82) (28) (110) (21) (136) (157)
 Foreign currency translation adjustments (3) (8) (11) (2) (4) (6)
 Reclassifications – – – – (9) (9)
 Adjustments 2 – 2 – 2 2
 Balance at end of year 1,737 1,374 3,111 1,818 1,282 3,100
Accumulated depreciation: 
 Balance at beginning of year – 538 538 – 471 471
 Depreciation for the year (see Note 26) – 73 73 – 75 75
 Disposals – (6) (6) – (6) (6)
 Foreign currency translation adjustments – (2) (2) – – –
 Reclassification – – – – (2) (2)

Balance at end of year – 603 603 – 538 538
Net book value P=1,737 P=771 P=2,508 P=1,818 P=744 P=2,562

In 2010, additions to investment properties of P=130 million comprise of P=34 million through acquisitions and  
P=96 million through subsequent expenditures.  In 2009, additions to investment properties of P=211 million comprise of 
P=200 million through acquisitions and P=11 million through subsequent expenditures. 

The aggregate fair value of the Group’s investment properties amounted to P=2.5 billion as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009.  Fair values have been determined based on valuations performed by independent professional qualified 
appraisers.  The fair value represents the amount at which the assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable, 
willing buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation, in accordance 
with the Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice in the Philippines. 

In conducting the appraisal, the accredited independent valuers used any of the following approaches: 

a. Market Data or Comparative Approach  

Under this approach, the value of the property is based on sales and listings of comparable property registered 
within the vicinity.  This approach requires the establishment of a comparable property by reducing comparative 
sales and listings to a common denominator with the subject.  This is done by adjusting the differences between 



71
2010 Annual R

eport

the subject property and those actual sales and listings regarded as comparables.  The properties used are either 
situated within the immediate vicinity or at different floor levels of the same building, whichever is most 
appropriate to the property being valued.  Comparison was premised on the factors of location, size and physical 
attributes, selling terms, facilities offered and time element. 

b. Income Capitalization Approach 

The premise of such approach is that the value of a property is directly related to the income it generates.  This 
approach converts anticipated future gains to present worth by projecting reasonable income and expense for the 
subject property. 

Consolidated rental income from investment properties for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 
amounted to P=84 million, P=73 million and P=78 million, respectively (see Note 26).  Consolidated direct operating 
expenses, arising from investment properties that generated rental income in 2010, 2009 and 2008 amounted to  
P=54 million, P=18 million and P=22 million, respectively.  Consolidated direct operating expenses arising from 
investment properties that did not generate rental income amounted to P=5 million for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2010. 

15. Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

2010
Goodwill Pipeline Rights Total

(In Millions)
Cost:

Balance at beginning of year P=286 P=612 P=898
Foreign currency translation adjustments (15) (31) (46)
Balance at end of year 271 581 852

Accumulated amortization:
Balance at beginning of year – 201 201
Amortization (see Note 26) – 27 27
Foreign currency translation adjustments – (10) (10)
Balance at December 31, 2010 – 218 218

Net book value P=271 P=363 P=634

2009

Goodwill
Water
Rights

Pipeline
Rights

Concession
Rights for
Contracts
Acquired

Concession
Rights Total

(In Millions)
Cost:

Balance at beginning of year P=45,621 P=2,405 P=630 P=8,337 P=6,364 P=63,357
Additions – – – – 274 274
Effect of discontinued 

operations (see Note 5) (49,682) (2,298) – (7,966) (6,468) (66,414)
Foreign currency translation 

adjustments 4,347 (107) (18) (371) (170) 3,681
Balance at end of year 286 – 612 – – 898

Accumulated amortization:
Balance at beginning of year – 204 180 1,063 189 1,636
Amortization (see Note 26) – – 29 – – 29
Effect of discontinued 

operations (see Note 5) – (194) – (1,001) (313) (1,508)
Foreign currency translation

adjustments  – (10) (8) (62) 124 44
Balance at end of year – – 201 – – 201

Net book value P=286 P=– P=411 P=– P=– P=697

Pipeline Rights
Pipeline rights represent the construction cost of the natural gas pipeline facility connecting the natural gas supplier’s 
refinery to FGP’s power plant including incidental transfer costs incurred in connection with the transfer of ownership 
of the pipeline facility to the natural gas supplier.  The cost of pipeline rights is amortized using the straight-line 
method over 22 years, which is the term of the Gas Sale and Purchase Agreements (GSPA).  The remaining 
amortization period of pipeline rights is 13.75 years as of December 31, 2010. 
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Goodwill 
Effective May 1, 2009, the goodwill attributable to EDC and Pantabangan Hydro Electric Power (PAHEP)/Masiway 
Hydro Electric Power (MAHEP) power plant cash generating units were deconsolidated from the consolidated 
statement of financial position of the Group (see Note 5).  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the outstanding 
balance of goodwill is attributable only to FGHC.  

The recoverable amounts have been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections 
based on financial budgets approved by senior management covering a five-year period.  The pre-tax discount rate 
applied in cash flow projections was 7.88% and the cash flows beyond the remaining term of the existing agreements 
are extrapolated using growth rates of 2.55% and 2.61% for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively. 

Key assumptions with respect to the calculation of value in use of the cash-generating units as of December 31, 2010 
and 2009 on which management had based its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of goodwill are 
as follows:  

a. Budgeted Gross Margins 

The basis used to determine the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins 
achieved in the year immediately before the budgeted year, increased for expected efficiency improvements. 

b. Bond Rates 

The average yield on a five-year government bond rate at beginning of budgeted year utilized is 2.067% in 2010 
and ranging from 2.79% to 6.37% in 2009. 

No impairment loss was recognized in the consolidated statement of income for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2010. 

There are no intangible assets whose titles are restricted or pledged as security for liabilities of December 31, 2010 
and 2009. 

 
 
16. Other Noncurrent Assets 
 

 2010 2009 
  (In Millions) 
Advances to a non-controlling shareholder of First Gen - net of 

current portion (see Notes 9, 30, and 33) P=4,015 P=4,461 
Prepaid major spare parts  1,322 3,080 
Prepaid gas (see Note 21) 1,233 2,322 
Advances to contractors 127 2 
Option assets - net of current portion (see Notes 9 and 33) 115 – 
Restricted cash deposits 56 48 
Prepaid expenses 6 6 
Others 987 621 
 P=7,861 P=10,540 

In 2010, prepaid major spare parts amounting to P=2,472 million were reclassified to the “Property, plant and 
equipment” account as a result of the scheduled major maintenance outage of the Santa Rita and San Lorenzo power 
plants (see Note 12).  

Advances to contractors represent First Philec Solar’s deposit to supplier for the purchase of machinery and 
equipment abroad. 

On April 19, 2010, First Gen entered into Call Option Agreements to purchase a total of 585 million EDC common 
shares for a period of three years or up to April 2013 with one third of the options expiring at the end of each year.  
The related call option is classified as derivative asset with mark-to-market movement of P=182 million included in the 
2010 consolidated statement of income (see Notes 9 and 33). 

Restricted cash deposit consists of security deposits and other deposits arising from contracts. 
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 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

MPIC loan P=– P=11,177 
Short-term loans 441 449 
 P=441 P=11,626 

MPIC Loan 
On November 20, 2009, the Group, through FPUC, obtained a short-term loan from MPIC amounting to P=11,205 
million.  This was covered by a Promissory Note and Pledge Agreement with MPIC whereby the Group 
unconditionally promises to pay MPIC the principal of P=11,205 million on or before June 30, 2010 at an interest rate of 
5% per annum.  As a security for the timely payment, the Group pledged its 138,357,600 First Gen common shares 
and 30,093,270 MERALCO common shares to MPIC.  Transaction costs amounted to P=27.8 million and were netted 
against the principal amount.  

On March 30, 2010, the Group fully paid its P=11,205 million loan and corresponding interest of P=158.9 million which 
includes the amortization of transaction costs amounting to P=27.8 million.  The 30,093,270 MERALCO common 
shares and 138,357,600 First Gen common shares were released from the pledge upon full payment of the loan. 

Short-term Loans 
Short term loans pertain to borrowings of First Balfour and First Philec amounting to P=302 million and P=139 million, 
respectively, in 2010, and P=140 million and P=309 million, respectively, in 2009. 

These loans are short-term with maturities of less than one year at available date.  The loans bear interest ranging 
from 6.4% to 9.75% in 2010 and from 9.25% to 9.8% in 2009.  

 
 
18. Trade Payables and Other Current Liabilities  
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Trade payables P=5,531 P=5,104 
Accruals for:   
 Interest and financing costs 590 860 
 Construction costs 229 93 
 Salaries and bonuses 181 197 
 Siemens AG 133 140 
 Advances from contracts 63 – 
 Accruals for contractors and suppliers 50 16 
 Retentions payable 26 22 
 Others 320 60 
Dividends payable (see Note 23) 500 319 
Due to related parties (see Note 30) 444 360 
Provision for pipeline-related costs  392 76 
Share in current liabilities of joint ventures (see Note 13) 305 701 
Trust receipts payable 213 274 
Due to contractors and consultants 30 17 
Provision for warranty claims 11 14 
Others 150 523 
 P=9,168 P=8,776 

The rollforward analysis of provision for warranty claims and provision for pipeline-related costs as of December 31, 
2010 and 2009 follows: 

 

 
Warranty 

Claims 
Pipeline 

Related Costs 

  (In Millions) 

Balance at January 1, 2009 P=12 P=64 
Provisions 6 23 
Settlement (4) –  
Reversal – (11) 
Balance at December 31, 2009 P=14 P=76 
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Warranty 

Claims 
Pipeline 

Related Costs 

  (In Millions) 

Provisions P=8 P=333 
Reversals – (5) 
Settlements (11) (12) 
Balance at December 31, 2010 P=11 P=392 

Trade payables are generally non-interest bearing and are on 30 to 60 days credit payment period. 

Accrued interest and financing costs are normally settled semi-annually.  

Provision for pipeline-related costs pertains to FPIC accruals for easements and titling, squatter relocation and 
pipeline repairs, and right-of-way improvements. In 2010, FPIC recognized provisions amounting to P=274 million for 
the estimated engineering and rehabilitation works and contingency compensation for any damages relative to the 
petroleum seepage detected at a certain area. 

Accrual for construction costs of P=229 million pertain to First Balfour for projects and maintenance of its various 
construction contracts.  

Trust receipts payable relate to inventories released to the Group in trust for the bank.  The Group is accountable to 
the bank for the items entrusted or the proceeds generated from the sale of these inventories until such time that the 
amount financed by the bank is paid by the Group.  Trust receipts payables bear an annual interest ranging from 
8.00% to 8.25% in 2010 and 2009.  Maturities range from 180 to 270 days in 2010 and 2009. 

 
 
19. Bonds Payable 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Convertible Bonds P=8,365 P=11,831 
Philippine peso-denominated Bonds – 4,989 
 8,365 16,820 
Less current portion 8,365 4,989 
Noncurrent portion of convertible bonds P=– P=11,831 

Convertible Bonds (CBs) 
On February 11, 2008 (the inception date), First Gen issued P=11,398.4 (US$260.0 million), U.S. dollar-denominated 
CBs due on February 11, 2013 with a coupon rate of 2.50%.  The CBs are listed on the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited.  The CBs are traded in a minimum board lot size of US$0.5 million.  The CBs constitute 
the direct, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of First Gen, ranking pari passu in right of payment with all other 
unsecured and unsubordinated debt of First Gen. 

The bonds include equity conversion option whereby each bond will be convertible, at the option of the holder, into 
fully-paid shares of common stock of First Gen.  The initial conversion price was P=63.72 a share with a fixed 
exchange rate of US$1.00 to P=40.55, subject to adjustments under circumstances described in the Terms and 
Conditions of the CBs.  The conversion price has since been adjusted to P=26.94 a share to consider the effect of the 
Rights Offering.  The conversion right attached to the CBs may be exercised, at the option of the holder, at any time 
on and after March 22, 2008 up to 3:00 pm on January 31, 2013.  The CBs and the shares to be issued upon 
conversion of the CBs have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, 
and subject to certain exceptions, may not be offered or sold within U.S. 

In addition, such conversion right is subject to a cash settlement option whereby First Gen may elect to make a cash 
settlement payment in respect of all or any portion of a holder’s bonds deposited for conversion.  First Gen also has a 
call option where it may redeem the CBs on or after February 11, 2010, in whole but not in part, at the early 
redemption amount, if the closing price of the shares for any 20 trading days out of the 30 consecutive trading days 
prior to the date upon which the notice of such redemption is given, was at least 130% of the conversion price in 
effect of such trading period, or at any time prior to maturity, in whole but not in part, at the early redemption amount, 
if less than 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the CBs originally issued are then outstanding.  The 
Bondholders has a put option giving them the right to require First Gen to redeem the CBs at the early redemption 
amount on February 11, 2011.  The early redemption amount is determined so that it represents 7.25% gross yield to 
the Bondholder on a semi-annual basis.  The equity conversion, call and put option features of the CBs are identified 
as embedded derivatives and were separated from the host contract (see Note 33). 
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As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, First Gen is in compliance with the foregoing covenants. 

As of December 31, 2010, First Gen has bought back CBs with face value of P=3,244 million (US$74.0 million) for a 
total settlement amount of P=3,647 million (US$83.2 million).  The settlement resulted in a loss of P=96 million 
(US$2.2 million) which is recorded as finance cost in the consolidated statement of income. 

On February 11, 2011, the holders of the CBs amounting to P=3,178 million (US$72.5 million) exercised their put 
option to require First Gen to redeem all or some of the CBs, at a price of 115.6% of the face value.  The total put 
value amounting to P=3,674 million (US$83.8 million), with a face value of P=3,178 million (US$72.5 million), was paid 
on February 11, 2011.  After February 11, 2011, the unredeemed CBs with a face value of P=4,975 million 
(US$113.5 million) and carrying value of P=5,704 million (US$130.1 million) as of December 31, 2010 will now have a 
maturity date of February 11, 2013 and will be reclassified as part of noncurrent liabilities in 2011.  The aggregate fair 
value of the outstanding embedded derivatives is P=79 million (US$1.7 million) as of December 31, 2009. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the carrying amounts of the host contract amount to P=8,365 million 
(US$190.8 million) and P=11,831 million (US$277.4 million), respectively. 

The movements of the account are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Balance at beginning of the year P=11,831 P=12,281 
Accretion during the year charged to finance costs (see Note 26) 857 869 
Redemptions (3,760) (982) 
Foreign exchange adjustments (563) (337) 
Balance at end of year P=8,365 P=11,831 

Movements of debt issuance costs pertaining to the CBs are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Balance at beginning of the year P=78 P=141 
Accretion during the year charged to finance costs (see Note 26) (71) (60) 
Foreign exchange adjustments (1) (3) 
Balance at end of year P=6 P=78 

Philippine Peso-denominated Bonds 
On June 24, 2005, First Gen issued P=5,000 million (US$92.6 million) Philippine peso-denominated Fixed-rate Bonds 
(Peso Bonds) due on July 30, 2010 with a coupon rate of 11.55%.  The effective interest rate of the Peso Bonds is 
12.03%.  Interest is payable semi-annually.  The Peso Bonds may be redeemed at the option of First Gen after three 
years from issue date or if payments under the Peso Bonds become subject to additional or increased taxes as a 
result of certain changes in law.  The proceeds from the Peso Bonds are intended to be used for general corporate 
purposes, including working capital and investments.  As set forth in the Trust Agreement in connection with the 
issuance of the Peso Bonds, First Gen is obligated to comply with certain covenants with respect to, among others: 
(a) maintenance of specified debt-to-equity and minimum debt-service-coverage ratios; (b) disposition of all or 
substantially all of its assets; (c) maintenance of ownership/management control; and (d) encumbrances; and 
payment of taxes. 

In addition, First Gen is restricted to declare or pay dividends (other than stock dividend) during an Event of Default 
(as defined in the Trust Agreement) or if such payment would result in an Event of Default without the prior written 
consent of bondholders representing at least 51% of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Peso Bonds.  
On July 30, 2010, First Gen fully paid the principal balance of the Peso Bonds payable, including accrued interest 
amounting to P=544 million.  As of December 31, 2009, the unamortized debt issuance costs incurred in connection 
with the issuance of the Peso Bonds amounted to P=11 million which are deducted against the Peso Bonds payable. 

Movements of debt issuance costs pertaining to the Peso Bonds are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Balance at beginning of year P=11 P=32 
Accretion during the year charged to finance costs (see Note 26) (11) (21) 
Balance at end of year P=– P=11 
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20. Long-term Debt 
 

 2010 2009 

 (In Millions) 

Gross  P=47,883 P=47,412 
Less unamortized debt issuance costs 851 1,199 
 47,032 46,213 
Less current portion 4,721 3,192 
 P=42,311 P=43,021 

Details of the Group’s long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs, follow: 
 

  2010 2009 

Description Interest Rates 
US$ 

Balances 
Php 

Equivalent 
US$ 

Balances 
Php 

Equivalent 
  (In Millions) 

Parent Company      
US$160 million Floating Rate 

Corporate Notes (FRCNs) 
2.1% + 6 months London 

Interbank Offered Rate 
(LIBOR) 

$43 P=1,859 $55 P=2,568 

P=6,400 million FRCNs 2.35% + 6 months Philippine 
Dealing System Treasury-
Fixing (PDST-F) 

– 3,642 – 4,098 

P=5,000 million Fixed Rate 
Corporate Notes (FXCNs)  

7.15% - 8.37%  – 4,887 – 4,864 

Power Generation and Power-
Related Companies 

     

First Gen’s US$72 million Banco 
de Oro (BDO) US Dollar 
Loan Facility 

5.15% - 5.73%  72 3,138 – – 

First Gen’s P=500 million BDO 
Peso Loan Facility 

8.48% – 496 – – 

FGPC’s US$312 million 
Covered Facility 

6 months LIBOR + 3.25% + 
political risk insurance 
premium 

288 12,641 293 13,546 

FGPC’s US$188 million 
Uncovered Facility 

3.5%-3.9% + 6 months LIBOR 168 7,354 173 8,002 

FGPC’s US$44 million 
Kreditanstalt Fur 
Wiederaufbau (KfW) Loan 

7.2% 19 836 28 1,309 

FGP’s US$133 million HERMES 
Covered Facility 

Commercial Interest  
Reference of 7.48% 

43 1,887 53 2,470 

FGP’s US$115 million 
Commercial Loan Credit 
Export Credit Guarantee 
Department (ECGD) Facility 

2.15% + 3-6 months LIBOR 38 1,655 47 2,173 

FGP’s US$77 million GKA-
Covered Facility 

6 months LIBOR + 1.4% with 
option to convert into fixed 
rate loan 

33 1,458 39 1,787 

Unified’s Term Loans 9.38% – 5,134 – 5,217 
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  2010 2009 

Description Interest Rates 
US$ 

Balances 
Php 

Equivalent 
US$ 

Balances 
Php 

Equivalent 
  (In Millions) 

Manufacturing Companies       

First Philec Solar       

 P=200 million Philippine 
Export-Import Credit 
Agency (PHILEXIM) 
Secured Term Loan  

12% $– P=156 $– P=156 

 $30 million Philippine 
National Bank (PNB) 
Guaranteed Loan 

6% 30 1,315 – – 

 BDO Sales Leaseback 10% – 434 – – 

Others      

First Balfour’s Various Term 
Loans 

7.41%-12.375% – 140 – 23 

  P=47,032  P=46,213 

The current and noncurrent portions of the consolidated long-term debt of the Group follow: 
 

  2010  2009 

 
Current 
Portion 

Noncurrent 
Portion Total 

Current 
Portion 

Noncurrent 
Portion Total  

 (In Millions) 

Parent Company P=1,722 P=8,667 P=10,389 P=1,039 P=10,492 P=11,531 
Power Generation and Related 

Companies 2,616 31,981 34,597 2,148 32,355 34,503 
Manufacturing Companies 356 1,550 1,906 – 156 156 
Others 27 113 140 5 18 23 
 P=4,721 P=42,311 P=47,032 P=3,192 P=43,021 P=46,213 

The rollforward analysis of unamortized debt issuance costs is as follows:  
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Balance at beginning of year P=1,199 P=1,345 
Accretion during the year charged to finance costs (see Note 26) (254) (218) 
Availments 38 – 
Foreign exchange adjustments (132) 72 
Balance at end of year P=851 P=1,199 

The scheduled maturities of the consolidated long-term debt of the Group as of December 31, 2010 are as follows: 
 

 U.S. Dollar Debt Philippine  
Year In US$ In Php Peso Debt Total 

 (In Millions) 

   
2011 $84 P=3,689 P=1,259 P=4,948 
2012 94 4,116 7,884 12,000 
2013 71 3,115 1,107 4,222 
2014 75 3,291 2,972 6,263 
2015 114 4,978 542 5,520 
2016 and onwards 312 13,688 1,242 14,930 
 $750 P=32,877 P=15,006 P=47,883 
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a. Parent Company 

US$160 million FRCNs.  This represents five-year Dollar Notes issued by the Parent Company in 2007 for the 
original amount of US$152 million.  On July 16, 2009, the Parent Company prepaid a total of US$96 million of the 
US$ FRCNs. 

P=6,400 million FRCNs.  This represents seven-year Peso Notes issued by the Parent Company in 2007 for the 
original amount of P=6,400 million.  On July 16, 2009, the Parent Company prepaid a total of P=2,250 million of the 
Peso FRCNs. 

Total finance cost, including amortization of debt issue costs, on the U.S. dollar- and peso-denominated FRCNs 
amounted to P=382 million and P=813 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

P=5,000 million FXCNs.  This represents P=5,000 million FXCN in three tranches consisting of five-year, seven-
year and ten-year Notes to various financial institutions maturing in 2012, 2014 and 2017, respectively. 

Total finance cost, including amortization of debt issue costs, on FXCN amounted to P=400 million and  
P=388 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

b. Power Generation and Power-Related Companies 

First Gen’s BDO Loan Facility.  This pertains to the new Facility Agreement entered into by First Gen with BDO 
for P=3,750 million to partially refinance First Gen’s outstanding indebtedness and other general corporate 
requirements.  The Facility Agreement, which was signed on May 11, 2010, provides for a loan term of 5 years 
and 1 day from the date of the initial advance to First Gen.  Under the Facility, First Gen is allowed to borrow up 
to P=3,750 million from the effective date of the Facility Agreement and will be available up to 90 days from such 
date. 

The total facility amount can be drawn either in pesos or in U.S. dollars or a combination of both currencies at the 
option of First Gen provided that the aggregate amount of advances in 
U.S. dollars that may be availed under the Facility shall be US$72 million. 

Principal repayments of all drawdowns will start on November 12, 2012 up to May 22, 2015.  The Loan 
Agreement offers First Gen the option of pricing the loan at a fixed or floating rate equivalent to the sum of the 
applicable benchmark rate and a margin of 2% per annum.  First Gen elected to avail the loans at a fixed rate. 

In 2010, First Gen has drawn P=3,138 million (US$72 million) and P=500 million from its BDO Loan Facility.  At 
inception, the loan is recorded net of debt issuance cost of P=38 million (US$0.8 million).  At December 31, 2010, 
unamortized debt issuance costs on this loan amounted to P=33 million (US$0.7 million). 

FGPC’s Term Loans.  Long-term debt of FGPC consists of U.S. dollar-denominated borrowings availed from 
various lenders to partly finance the construction and operations of its power plant complex. 

On November 14, 2008, FGPC entered into a Bank Facility Agreement covering a US$544 million term loan 
facility with nine foreign banks to refinance the Santa Rita project. 

FGPC’s Term Loans is broken down into three separate facilities namely:  

� US$312 million Covered Facility with a tenor of 12½ years maturing on May 10, 2021.  Interest is computed 
semi-annually using LIBOR plus 325 basis points.  This facility is covered by a Political Risk Insurance (PRI) 
and premiums payable on the PRI are in addition to the margins payable by FGPC. 

� US$188 million Uncovered Facility with a ten-year tenor maturing on November 10, 2018.  Interest is 
computed semiannually using LIBOR plus: (i) 3.5% per annum from the financial close until the 5th 
anniversary of the Refinancing Date, (ii) 3.75% per annum from the 6th until the 7th anniversary of the 
Refinancing Date, and (iii) 3.9% per annum from the 8th anniversary of the Refinancing Date until the final 
maturity date, which is on November 10, 2018. 

� US$44 million KfW Loan with a term until November 2012.  Interest is computed semiannually. 
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A portion of the proceeds of the term loans was upstreamed to FGPC’s other shareholders as advances which 
are interest bearing.  Such advances are subject to interest rate of 175 basis points over the average of the rate 
for the six months U.S. dollar deposits quoted by three reputable reference banks in the Philippines, provided 
however, that such interest rate shall in no case exceed 5.8%. 

FGP’s Term Loans.  Long-term debts of FGP consist of U.S. dollar-denominated borrowings availed from various 
lenders to partly finance the construction and operations of their power plant complexes. 

� US$133 million HERMES Covered Facility with a 12-year tenor maturing on December 10, 2014.  Interest is 
computed semiannually;  

� US$115 million ECGD Facility with a 12-year tenor maturing on December 10, 2014.  Interest is computed 
semiannually. 

� US$77 million GKA Covered Facility with a 13.5-year tenor maturing on December 10, 2016.  Interest is 
computed semiannually. 

The common terms related to the existing FGPC and FGP financing facility agreements (Common Terms 
Agreement or CTA) contain covenants concerning restrictions with respect to, among others: (a) maintenance of 
specified debt service coverage ratio; (b) acquisition or disposition of major assets; (c) pledging present and 
future assets; (d) change in ownership; (e) any acts that would result in a material adverse effect on the 
operations of the power plants; (f) and maintenance of good, legal and valid title to the site free from all liens and 
encumbrances other than permitted liens.  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, FGPC and FGP are in 
compliance with the terms of the said agreements. 

FGPC and FGP also have entered into separate agreements in connection with their existing facilities as follows: 

� Mortgage, Assignment and Pledge Agreements whereby a first priority lien on most of FGPC’s and FGP’s 
real and other properties, including revenues from the operations of the power plants, have been executed in 
favor of the lenders.  In addition, the shares of stock of FGPC and FGP were pledged as part of security to 
the lenders. 

� Inter-Creditor Agreements, which describe the administration of the loans. 

� Trust and Retention Agreement (TRA) with the lenders’ designated trustees.  Pursuant to the terms and 
conditions of the TRA, FGPC and FGP have each established various security accounts with designated 
account banks, where inflows and outflows of proceeds from loans, equity contributions and project 
revenues are monitored.  FGPC and FGP may withdraw or transfer moneys from these security accounts, 
subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of their respective TRAs. 

The balance of FGPC’s and FGP’s unrestricted security accounts, included as part of “Cash and cash 
equivalents” account in the consolidated statement of financial position as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
amounted to P=5,042 million (US$115.0 million) and P=3,354 (US$72.6 million), respectively. 

Unified’s Term Loans.  This represents the three-year Corporate Note Facility of up to P=5,600 million issued by a 
consortium of local banks signed on March 9, 2009.  The Note Facility was evidenced by a series of Notes, with a 
minimum principal amount of P=100 million that will mature on March 9, 2012.  The proceeds of the loan were 
advanced to First Gen, which in turn retired its existing short-term loans.  Such Notes were offered pursuant to an 
exempt transaction under Section 10.1 of the Securities Regulation Code (SRC) and thus have not been 
registered with the Philippine SEC.  Any future offer or sale of the Notes is subject to the registration 
requirements under the SRC, unless such offer or sale qualifies as an exempt transaction or the note qualifies as 
an exempt security. 

At inception, the Note Facility was recorded net of debt issuance costs amounting to P=155 million 
(US$3.2 million).  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the unamortized debt issuance costs incurred amounted 
to P=66 million (US$1.5 million) and P=116 million (US$2.5 million), respectively. 
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c. Manufacturing Companies 

First Philec Solar had the following long-term debts as of December 31, 2010: 

P=200 million PHILEXIM Secured Term Loan.  On June 5, 2009, First Philec Solar availed of a three-year Term 
Loan secured credit facility from Trade and Investment Development Corporation of the Philippines, also known 
as PHILEXIM with First Philec as Guarantor.  The Term Loan is payable in 12 equal quarterly amortization 
starting September 5, 2009. 

US$30 million PNB Guaranteed Loan.  A loan agreement was entered into with PNB Capital & Investment 
Corporation on May 24, 2010 with a credit facility of US$30 million.  The loan agreement term is five years and 
the principal payment, subject to one year grace period from the first drawdown date, will be paid in 16 equal 
quarterly installments. 

BDO Sales Leaseback.  This represents the sale and leaseback agreement with BDO Leasing and Finance 
Corporation (BDOLFC) signed on February 1, 2010.  First Philec Solar sold to and leased back 15 wire saw 
equipments from BDOLFC under a finance lease with the following terms: (a) First Philec Solar shall sell and 
BDOLFC shall buy and lease back the equipment to First Philec Solar for a total cost of US$10.6 million; (b) a 
guarantee fee equivalent to 5% of the principal shall be deducted from the sale proceeds; (c) the principal 
amount of US$10.6 million less the 5% guarantee fee shall be paid by First Philec Solar over the lease term plus 
10% annual interest; (d) the term of the lease shall be five years, commencing on the first month after date of 
sale; (e) the ownership of the leased equipment shall be transferred to First Philec Solar upon completion of all 
payments as stipulated in the side agreement relative to the lease agreement. 

d. Others 

First Balfour had the following long-term debts as of December 31, 2010: 

BDO Finance Leases.  This represents two term loans from BDO amounting to P=50 million each signed in 
September 2010.  The term loan ends in 2015 with principal payable in semi-annual installments. 

ORIX Long-term Notes.  This represents various equipment financing loans availed on various periods from 
ORIX Metro Leasing and Finance Corporation with interests ranging from 10.5% to 12.0% and terms of 36 to 48 
months. 

Majalco Term Loans.  This pertains to an unsecured long-term note from Majalco Finance and Investment, Inc. to 
finance the acquisition of certain construction project machinery and equipment signed in 2008.  The loan is for a 
period of four years, maturing on January 9, 2012, with annual interest rate at 12.38%. 

Debt Covenants 
The Group’s debt instruments contain restrictive covenants with respect to, among others, maintenance of certain 
debt service coverage ratio at given periods provided based on core group financial statements; maintenance of 
certain levels of financial ratio; granting of loans to third parties except to companies within the Group or others in the 
ordinary course of business; acquisition or disposition of major assets; pledging present and future assets; change in 
ownership; and any acts that would result in a material adverse effect on operations.  FGPC and FGP also have 
entered into separate agreements in connection with their existing financing facilities as follows: (a) Mortgage, 
Assignment and Pledge Agreements whereby a first priority lien on most of FGPC’s and FGP’s real and other 
properties, including revenues from the operations of the power plants, have been executed in favor of the lenders. 

In addition, the shares of stock of FGPC and FGP were pledged as part of security to the lenders; (b) Inter-Creditor 
Agreements, which describe the administration of the loans; and (c) Trust and Retention Agreement (TRA) with the 
lenders’ designated trustees.  Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the TRA, FGPC and FGP have each 
established various security accounts with designated account banks, where inflows and outflows of proceeds from 
loans, equity contributions and project revenues are monitored.  FGPC and FGP may withdraw or transfer moneys 
from these security accounts, subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of their respective TRAs. 

As of December 31, 2010, the Group is in compliance with all the requirements of its debt covenants. 
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Details of obligations to Gas Sellers on Annual Deficiency recognized pursuant to the SAs and the PDAs, including 
accrued interest, are as follows: 

 
 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

FGPC:   
 Balance at beginning of year P=251 P=1,343 
 Reversal of 2006 Annual Deficiency (246) – 
 Annual deficiency for 2006, as adjusted 24 – 
 Principal payments (24) (1,034) 
 Interest incurred 3 12 
 Interest payments (3) (33) 
 Foreign currency translation adjustment (5) (37) 
 Balance at end of year – 251 
FGP:   
 Balance at beginning of year 182 401 
 Reversal of 2006 Annual Deficiency (179) – 
 Annual deficiency for 2006, as adjusted 59 – 
 Principal payments (59) (204) 
 Interest incurred 7 2 
 Interest payments (7) (6) 
 Foreign currency translation adjustment (3) (11) 
 Balance at end of year – 182 
Total P=– P=433 

FGPC and FGP each executed on March 22, 2006 their respective SA and PDA with Gas Sellers to amicably settle 
their long-standing disputes under the GSPA for Contract Years 2002 to 2004.  The disputes related to the Gas 
Sellers’ claim for Annual Deficiency payments totaling US$163.4 million and US$68.0 million from FGPC and FGP, 
respectively, covering the unconsumed gas volumes during these Contract Years. 

Under the terms of their respective SAs and the PDAs, the Gas Sellers’ claims from FGPC and FGP have been 
reduced to US$115.3 million and US$32.7 million, respectively.  Mandatory prepayments of US$8.0 million and 
US$2.1 million and pre-settlement interest of US$11.0 million and US$2.9 million for FGPC and FGP, respectively, 
were paid on June 7, 2006.  Additional reductions of Annual Deficiency amounting to US$9.5 million for FGPC and 
US$3.8 million for FGP were recognized in 2006 to credit FGPC and FGP for gas consumption in excess of their 
respective Take-or-Pay Quantity (TOPQ) for 2005. 

The respective SAs and PDAs allow FGPC and FGP to prepay all or part of the outstanding balances and to “make 
up” the volume of gas up to the extent of the principal repayments made under the PDA for a longer period of time 
instead of the 10-Contract Year recovery period allowed under their respective GSPAs.  On May 31, 2006, all the 
conditions precedent set out in the respective SAs and PDAs of FGPC and FGP were completely satisfied.  Such 
conditions precedent included an acknowledgment and consent by MERALCO. 

As of December 31, 2010, the obligations under the SAs and PDAs were fully settled.  The outstanding obligations to 
Gas Sellers pertain only to the annual deficiency for Contract Year 2006. 

Under the terms of the PPA with MERALCO, all fuel and fuel-related payments are passed-through.  The obligations 
of FGPC and FGP under their respective SAs, the PDAs and the GSPAs are passed on to MERALCO on a “back-to-
back” and full pass-through basis.  The corresponding receivables from MERALCO, including accrued interest and 
output value-added tax, are presented as part of “Trade and other receivables” account in the consolidated statement 
of financial position (see Note 7). 

Upon payment of the principal amount, a debit to “Prepaid gas” account (included under “Other noncurrent assets” 
account in the consolidated statement of financial position) is recognized to cover the principal portion paid to the Gas 
Sellers; and a corresponding credit to “Unearned revenue” account (included under “Other noncurrent liabilities” 
account in the consolidated statement of financial position) is recognized for the principal portion that was already 
paid by MERALCO. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the remaining prepaid gas arising from the SAs and PDAs and the 
corresponding unearned revenue amounted to P=1,233 million ($28.1 million) and P=2,322 million ($48.6 million), 
respectively (see Note 22). 
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The prepaid gas and the corresponding unearned revenue balances as of December 31, 2010 are net of recoveries of 
Annual Deficiency recognized by Gas Sellers for gas consumed above the TOPQ, as calculated by Gas Sellers, for 
the Contract Years 2010, 2009, 2008 and 2007, which totaled P=5,305 million (US$121.0 million).  

 
 
22. Other Noncurrent Liabilities 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Unearned revenue (see Note 21) P=1,233 P=2,322 
Asset retirement obligation 47 46 
Customers’ deposits 27 – 
Others 124 – 
 P=1,431 P=2,368 

Asset Retirement Obligations 
Under their respective ECCs, FGP and FGPC have legal obligations to dismantle their respective power plant assets 
at the end of their useful lives.  FG Bukidnon, on the other hand, has contractual obligation under the lease 
agreement with PSALM to dismantle its power plant asset at the end of its useful life.  FGP, FGPC and FG Bukidnon 
established their respective provisions to recognize their estimated liability for the dismantlement of the power plant 
assets. 

Movements of asset retirement obligation follow: 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Balance at beginning of year P=46 P=43 
Accretion during the year charged to finance costs 

(see Note 26) 3 3 
Foreign currency translation adjustments (2) – 
Balance at end of year P=47 P=46 

 
 
23. Equity 

a. Common Stock 
 

 Number of Shares 
2010 2009 2008 

Authorized - P=10 par value per share  1,210,000,000 1,210,000,000 1,210,000,000 

Issued:    
 Balance at beginning of year 593,849,422 589,860,204 588,912,212 
 Issuances 5,556,975 3,989,218 947,992 
 Balance at end of year 599,406,397 593,849,422 589,860,204 

Subscribed:    
 Balance at beginning of year 477,091 480,101 482,681 
 Subscriptions 5,556,975 3,986,208 945,412 
 Issuances (5,556,975) (3,989,218) (947,992) 
 Balance at end of year 477,091 477,091 480,101 

On July 8, 2010, the BOD of the Parent Company approved a two-year Share Buyback Program (the Program) of 
up to P=6.0 billion worth of the Parent Company’s common shares. 

As of December 31, 2010, the Parent Company had acquired a total of 25,689,440 common shares at an 
average cost of P=63.10 per share for a total consideration of P=1,625 million, in accordance with the Program.   
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The BOD of the Company declared cash dividends of P=1.00 per outstanding common share in 2010 and 2009 as 
follows: 

 
Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date 
November 4, 2010 November 19, 2010 December 15, 2010 
May 6, 2010 May 20, 2010 June 7, 2010 
December 2, 2009 December 17, 2009 December 29, 2009 

Total dividends declared amounted to P=1,155 million and P=594 million in 2010 and 2009, respectively.  As of 
December 31, 2010, cash dividends payable on common stock amounting to P=122 million remains outstanding 
(see Note 18). 

b. Preferred Stock 
 

  Number of Shares 
 2010 2009 
Authorized - P=100 par value per share 200,000,000 200,000,000 

Issued:   
 Series A 20,000,000 20,000,000 
 Series B 43,000,000 43,000,000 
 Balance at end of year 63,000,000 63,000,000 

Series “A” Preferred Shares 
The outstanding 20,000,000 Series “A” Preferred Shares is held by FGHC International and is presented as a 
debit to the equity section of the consolidated statement of changes in equity and of financial position under the 
“Parent Company Preferred Shares Held by a Subsidiary” account. 

In 2008, the Parent Company redeemed 30,000,000 Series “A” Preferred Shares previously issued to First Philec 
and FPRC at a price equal to the issue value of the shares in 2007 (P=3,000 million) 

Series “B” Perpetual Preferred Shares 
On March 12, 2008, the PSE approved the Parent Company’s application to list 43,000,000 Series “B” Perpetual 
Preferred Shares at an Offer Price of P=100 per share.  The Offer comprises Perpetual Preferred Shares to be 
issued from the Parent Company’s 200,000,000 authorized preferred shares pursuant to a primary offer.   

On April 30, 2008, the Parent Company, through the Underwriters and Selling Agents, issued 43,000,000 
cumulative, non-voting, non-participating, non-convertible and peso-denominated Series “B” Perpetual Preferred 
Shares with a par value of P=100 per share. 

As and when declared by the BOD, cash dividends on the Perpetual Preferred Shares shall be at a fixed rate of 
8.7231% per annum.  Unless these are redeemed by the Parent Company on the fifth anniversary from the Issue 
Date (the “Dividend rate Step Up date”), the Dividend Rate shall be adjusted on the Dividend Rate Step Up Date 
to the higher of: (a) the Dividend Rate on Issue Date, or (b) the prevailing PDST-F 10-year treasury securities 
benchmark rate plus a margin of 175 basis points. 

The net proceeds of the Offer, amounting to P=4,200 million, was used to partially repay/refinance the Parent 
Company’s debt obligations, as well as fund strategic acquisitions and other capital and operating requirements 
of the Parent Company and/or fund other general corporate purposes. 

The BOD of the Parent Company declared cash dividends of P=4.36155 per share on outstanding Series “B” 
Perpetual Preferred Shares in 2010 and 2009 as follows: 

 
Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date 
June 8, 2010 July 8, 2010 August 2, 2010 
November 4, 2010 January 10, 2011 January 31, 2011 
November 4, 2010 July 11, 2011 August 1, 2011 
January 19, 2009 February 2, 2009 February 2, 2009 
July 9, 2009 July 24, 2009 July 31, 2009 
December 2, 2009 January 12, 2010 February 1, 2010 

Total dividends declared amounted to P=563 million in 2010 and 2009 (see Note 29).  As of December 31, 2010, 
cash dividends payable on preferred stock amounting to P=375 million remains outstanding (see Note 18). 
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c. Equity reserve 

� Parent Company Acquisition of Union Fenosa Internacional, S.A.’s 40% stake in FPUC 

On January 23, 2008, the Parent Company completed the acquisition of Union Fenosa Internacional, S.A.’s 
40% ownership in FPUC for P=11,212 million (US$250 million).  Such interest consists of 19,090,400 shares 
of redeemable stock and 24,798 shares of common stock in FPUC.  On the date of acquisition, the carrying 
amount of Union Fenosa Internacional, S.A.’s non-controlling interest in FPUC of P=5,978 million was 
removed from equity and offset against the purchase price.  The excess of the fair value of the consideration 
and the net book value of the net assets of FPUC of P=5,234 million was recorded as part of equity reserve.  

� First Gen’s Divestment of its 60% Equity Stake in FG Hydro 

On November 17, 2008, First Gen completed the divestment of its 60% equity stake in FG Hydro in favor of 
EDC for a total consideration of P=4.3 billion (US$85.2 million).  FG Hydro and EDC were entities that were 
then under the common control of First Gen.  As a result of the divestment, First Gen’s direct voting and 
effective economic interests in FG Hydro after the transaction are 40% and 64%, respectively.  An equity 
reserve amounting to P=893 million was recorded in the equity section of the 2008 consolidated statement of 
financial position.  In 2009, the equity reserve was reversed as a result of deconsolidation due to loss of 
control (see Note 5). 

� First Philec’s transaction with non-controlling shareholders in First Philec Solar 

On several dates in 2010 and 2009, First Philec and other investors made additional deposits for future stock 
subscriptions in First Philec Solar.  The deposits particularly financed First Philec Solar’s business 
expansion.  In November 2010, First Philec Solar’s deposit for future stock subscriptions was applied against 
First Philec Solar’s increase in authorized capital stock.  This resulted to an increase in First Philec’s interest 
from 67.89% in 2009 to 74.54% in 2010.  These transactions were accounted for as a deemed acquisition of 
Parent Company’s interest in First Philec Solar from non-controlling shareholders. 

The effect of the equity transactions of First Philec Solar amounting to P=82 million and P=106 million in 2010 
and 2009, respectively, is recorded under equity reserve in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

d. Parent Company’s Retained Earnings Account Available for Dividend Declaration  

The Parent Company’s retained earnings available for dividend declaration, computed based on the guidelines 
provided in SEC Memorandum Circular No. 11, amounted to P=29,071 million and P=12,270 million as of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

 
 
24. Executive Stock Option Plan 

The Parent Company has an Executive Stock Option Plan (ESOP) that entitle the directors, and senior officers to 
purchase up to 10% of the Parent Company’s authorized capital stock on the offering years at a preset purchase price 
with payment and other terms to be defined at the time of the offering.  The purchase price per share shall not be less 
than the average of the last dealt price per share of the Parent Company’s share of stock. 

The terms of the Plan include, among others, a limit as to the number of shares an executive and employee may 
purchase and the manner of payment based on equal semi-monthly installments over a period of 5 or 10 years 
through salary deductions. 

The primary terms of the grants follow: 
 

 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 Option 6 
Grant date March 2003 September  2003 March 2004 September 2004 March 2005 March 2006 
Offer price per share 10.00 17.7 23.55 27.10 58.6 41.65 
Number of shares 

subscribed 18,043,622 1,811,944 4,771,238 198,203 1,801,816 3,002,307 
Option value per share 4.77 9.83 11.84 14.78 32.68 8.83 

The option grants are offered within 30 days upon receipt of the agreement for new entitled officers.  The said officers 
are given until the 10th year of the grant date to exercise the option.  These options vest annually at a rate of 20%, 
making it fully vested after 5 years from the grant date.  The fair value of equity-settled share options granted under 
the ESOP is estimated at the dates of grant using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, taking into account the 
terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.  
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The following table lists the inputs to the models used for each of the grants: 
 

 Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4 Option 5 Option 6 
Expected volatility (%) 38.2 38.2 38.2 38.2 38.2 21.7 
Weighted average share price (P=) 8.40 18.25 21.75 26.00 60.00 41 
Risk-free interest rate (%) 12.38 10.55 10.88 12.23 10.88 8.50 
Expected life of option (years) 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 5.5 
Dividend yield (%) nil nil nil nil nil 5 

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that 
may occur.  The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, 
which likewise, may not necessarily be the actual outcome. 

No other features of options grant were incorporated into the measurement of the fair value of the options. 

Movements in the number of stock options outstanding are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 
Total shares allocated 40,570,714 40,570,714 

Options exercisable:   
 Balance at beginning of year 14,690,865 18,677,073 
 Exercised (5,556,975) (3,986,208) 
 Balance at end of year 9,133,890 14,690,865 

Average exercise price of the stock option per share under the ESOP is set at P=18.78 and P=18.06 in 2010 and 2009, 
respectively.  The range of exercise price for 2010 is P=10.00 to P=58.60.  The weighted average share price at the 
dates of options exercised in 2010 was P=57.30 per share.   

The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share option outstanding as of December 31, 2010 is less 
than 1 year. 

There were no additional grants from 2007 to 2010. 

The share-based payment transactions amounted to P=2 million, P=6 million and P=22 million in 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
respectively. 

 
 
25. Costs and Expenses 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

  (In Millions) 

Power plant operations and maintenance P=39,042 P=33,851 P=36,913 
Raw materials and supplies  3,873 3,543 2,905 
Depreciation and amortization (see Note 26) 3,029 3,166 2,616 
Personnel expenses (see Notes 24 and 27) 2,694 2,008 1,780 
Professional fees 1,103 629 1,545 
Taxes and licenses 620 644 1,121 
Rent and subcontract costs  615 1,217 586 
Insurance 433 363 2,113 
Land development costs 369 169 211 
Others  1,811 1,399 893 
 P=53,589 P=46,989 P=50,683 

 
 
  



86
Fi

rs
t 

Ph
ili

pp
in

e 
H

ol
di

ng
s 

C
or

po
ra

tio
n

26. Finance Costs, Finance Income, Depreciation and Amortization, and Other Income  (Charges)  

Finance Costs 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

  (In Millions) 

Interest on and accretion of loans and bonds 
(see Notes 17, 19 and 20) P=5,243 P=6,560 P=6,922 

Accretion on debt issuance costs  
(see Notes 19 and 20) 336 299 218 

Obligations to Gas Sellers on Annual Deficiency 
(see Note 21) 9 14 136 

Accretion on asset retirement obligations 
(see Note 22) 3 3 3 

Others 3 21 7 
 P=5,594 P=6,897 P=7,286 

 Finance Income 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

  (In Millions) 

Cash and cash equivalents (see Note 6) P=802 P=684 P=499 
Receivable from MERALCO on Annual Deficiency 

(see Note 7) 9 14 137 
Others 266 18 25 
 P=1,077 P=716 P=661 

Depreciation and Amortization 
 

 2010 2009 2008 
  (In Millions) 

Property, plant and equipment (see Note 12) P=2,929 P=3,062 P=2,517 
Investment properties (see Note 14) 73 75 73 
Pipeline rights (see Note 15) 27 29 26 
 P=3,029 P=3,166 P=2,616 

Other Income (Charges) 
 

 2010 2009 2008 
  (In Millions) 

Management fee P=178 P=167 P=53 
Rental income from investment properties 

(see Note 14) 84 73 78 
Return on investment in FPPC (Note 10) 48 – – 
Gain on sale of property 12 5 – 
Unrealized fair value gain (loss) on FVPL 

investments (see Note 9) (2) 13 (83) 
Others 242 174 269 
 P=562 P=432 P=317 

 
 
27. Retirement Benefits 

The Parent Company and certain subsidiaries maintain qualified, noncontributory, defined benefit retirement plans 
covering substantially all their regular employees.  The following tables summarize the components of net retirement 
benefit expense recognized in the consolidated statements of income, the funded status and amounts recognized in 
the consolidated statements of financial position for the plan. 
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Retirement Benefit Expense 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

  (In Millions) 

Current service cost P=135 P=117 P=181 
Interest cost 203 189 199 
Expected return on plan assets (133) (102) (89) 
Net actuarial losses (gains) recognized (49) 13 24 
Amortization of past service cost 1 1 1 
Loss due to unrecognized asset – 37 – 
 P=157 P=255 P=316 

Retirement Benefit Liability 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Present value of benefit obligation P=2,555 P=2,187 
Fair value of plan assets (3,157) (2,820) 
Present value of funded obligation (602) (633) 
Unrecognized actuarial losses (163) (133) 
Unrecognized past service cost (19) (21) 
Foreign exchange differences (26) (28) 
Unrecognized asset due to limit 145 208 
 (665) (607) 
Retirement benefit asset recognized by the  

Parent Company and subsidiaries 906 837 
 P=241 P=230 

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Balance at beginning of year P=2,187 P=5,026 
Current service cost 135 117 
Interest cost 203 189 
Benefits paid (307) (174) 
Actuarial losses 349 255 
Foreign currency translation adjustment (12) (135) 
Effect of discontinued operations (see Note 5) – (3,091) 
Balance at end of year P=2,555 P=2,187 

Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Balance at beginning of year P=2,820 P=3,864 
Expected return on plan assets 133 102 
Contributions 219 632 
Benefits paid (307) (174) 
Actuarial gains 284 199 
Foreign currency translation adjustments 8 (60) 
Effect of discontinued operations (Note 5) – (1,743) 
Balance at end of year P=3,157 P=2,820 

Actual return on plan assets P=417 P=301 

The Group expects to contribute P=344 million to its defined benefit retirement plan in 2011. 
  



88
Fi

rs
t 

Ph
ili

pp
in

e 
H

ol
di

ng
s 

C
or

po
ra

tio
n

The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of the fair value of total plan assets are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 
Cash and cash equivalents 47% 39% 
Investment in shares of stock 36% 13% 
Investments in government securities 16% 45% 
Others 1% 3% 
 100% 100% 

The overall expected rate of return on assets is determined based on the market prices prevailing on that date, 
applicable to the period over which the obligation is to be settled. 

The principal actuarial assumptions at the financial reporting dates used for the Parent Company and subsidiaries’ 
actuarial valuations are as follows: 

 
 2010 2009 
Discount rate 5-9% 9-13% 
Expected rate of return on plan assets 4-8% 5-7% 
Future salary increases 4-12% 4-10% 

Current and previous four annual periods: 
 

 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 

 (In Millions) 

Defined benefit obligation P=2,555 P=2,187 P=5,026 P=5,365 P=2,986 
Plan assets (3,157) (2,820) (3,864) (3,582) (1,779) 
Deficit (surplus) (P=602) (P=633) P=1,162 P=1,783 P=1,207 

Experience adjustment on plan liabilities P=161 P=89 P=163 P=– P=– 
Experience adjustment on plan assets (47) (12) (19) (100) – 

 
 
28. Income Tax 

The consolidated deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 consist of the following: 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Deferred tax assets:   
 Unused NOLCO P=28 P=83 
 Retirement benefit liability 60 66 
 Capitalized foreign exchange on losses on 

BOT power plant – 8 
 Allowance for impairment of receivables 185 – 
 Accrued expenses 141 – 
 Others 14 – 
 428 157 
Deferred tax liabilities:   
 Difference in depreciation method – 225 
 Retirement benefit asset – 222 
 Prepaid major spare parts 32 197 
 Unrealized foreign exchange gains 427 187 
 Capitalized foreign exchange gain, taxes, duties 

and interest – 29 
 459 860 
 (P=31) (P=703) 
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A reconciliation between the statutory income tax rates and effective income tax rates as shown in the consolidated 
statement of income follows: 

 
 2010 2009 2008 
Statutory income tax rates 30% 30% 35% 
Income tax effects of:    
 Gain on sale of investments in shares 

of stocks (23) (21) – 
 Income tax holiday (ITH) (see Note 31) – (19) (26) 
 Equity in net earnings of associates (3) (5) (14) 
 Income subjected to final tax (1) (2) (7) 
 Others 3 30 80% 
Effective income tax rates  6% 13% 68% 

Certain deferred income tax assets of the Parent Company and certain other subsidiaries have not been recognized 
since management believes that it is not probable that sufficient taxable income will be available against which they 
can be utilized. 

The deductible temporary differences of certain items in the consolidated statement of financial position and the 
carryforward benefits of NOLCO and MCIT for which no deferred tax asset has been recognized in the consolidated 
statement of financial position are as follows:  

 
 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

NOLCO P=13,477 P=10,014 
Unrealized foreign exchange loss 407 1,223 
Allowance for impairment of receivables 108 83 
MCIT 20 14 
Others 67 121 
 P=14,079 P=11,455 

The consolidated unutilized NOLCO and MCIT as of December 31, 2010 are detailed as follows: 
 

Year Incurred/Paid Carryforward Benefit Up To 
 Amount 

NOLCO MCIT 

   (In Millions) 

2010 December 31, 2013 P=3,587 P=21 
2009 December 31, 2012 4,308 24 
2008 December 31, 2011 5,807 7 
  P=13,702 P=52 

NOLCO and MCIT amounting to P=1.82 billion and nil, respectively, expired in 2010. 
 
 
29. EPS Computation 
 

 2010 2009 2008 

 (In Millions, Except Number of Shares and Per Share Data) 

 Net income attributable to equity holders of the Parent P=24,850 P=8,731 P=1,192 
 Less dividends on preferred shares (see Note 23) 563 563 96 
(a) Net income available to common shares P=24,287 P=8,168 P=1,096 
  From Continuing Operations 24,287 7,572 1,449 
  From Discontinued Operations – 596 (353) 

 Number of shares:    
  Common shares outstanding at beginning of year (see 

Note 23) 593,849,422 589,860,204 588,912,212 
  Effect of common share issuances and buyback 

during the year (2,578,515) 495,419 570,205 
(b) Adjusted weighted average number 

of common shares outstanding - basic 591,270,907 590,355,623 589,482,417 
 Effect of dilutive potential common shares under the ESOP 6,170,291 2,450,076 6,735,336 
(c) Adjusted weighted average number 

of common shares outstanding - diluted 597,441,198 592,805,699 596,217,753 
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 2010 2009 2008 

 (In Millions, Except Number of Shares and Per Share Data) 

EPS:    
 Basic (a/b) P=41.076 P=13.837 P=1.859 
  From Continuing Operations 41.076 12.827 2.458 
  From Discontinued Operations – 1.009 (0.599) 
 Diluted (a/c) 40.652 13.779 1.838 

 
 
30. Related Party Disclosures 

Enterprises and individuals that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or are controlled by, 
or under common control with the Group, including holding companies, and fellow subsidiaries are related entities of 
the Group.  Associates and individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the Group that 
gives them significant influence over the enterprise, key management personnel, including directors and officers of 
the Group and close members of the family of these individuals and companies associated with these individuals also 
constitute related entities. 

The following table provides the total amount of transactions that have been entered into with related parties for the 
relevant year: 

 

Related Party Nature of Transaction Year 

Sales to 
Related 
Parties 

Purchases 
from 

Related 
Parties 

Due from 
Related 
Parties 

(see Note 7) 

Due to 
Related 
Parties 

(see Note 18) 
   (In Millions) 
Associates       
MERALCO* Sale of power 2010 P=52,935 P=– P=– P=– 

2009 48,204 – – – 
2008 53,252 – – – 

FSCI Advances 2010 – – – – 
2009 – – 3 – 
2008 – – 4 – 

FPPC Advances, management 
fees and rental income 

2010 – – – – 
2009 28 – 4 – 
2008 26 – 4 – 

Prime Terracota  and 
subsidiaries 

Advances and consultancy 
fees  

2010 – – 645 – 
2009 143 – 918 – 
2008 31 – – – 

Joint Venture Partners       
DMCI Construction projects-

related advances 
2010 – – – – 
2009 – – – 6 
2008 – – 7 – 

MDC Construction projects-
related advances 

2010 3 – – – 
2009 – – – - 
2008 – – – – 

SKI Construction projects-
related advances 

2010 – – – – 
2009 – – 3 – 
2008 – – – – 

Significant Investors 
of Subsidiaries 

 
     

Shell Global Solutions 
International B.V. 

Service fees 2010 – 10 – – 
2009 – 11 – – 
2008 – 10 – – 

Pilipinas Shell Petroleum Throughput fees on pipeline 
shipment 

2010 420 20 8 – 
2009 447 21 134 2 
2008 427 24 68 4 

BG plc Advances 2010 – – – 257 
2009 – – – 293 
2008 – – – 293 

SunPower Manufacturing 
Limited 

Advances 2010 – – 386 187 
2009 – – – 59 
2008 – – 166 236 

Totals  2010 P=53,358 P=30 P=1,039 P=444 
  2009 48,822 32 1,062 360 
  2008 53,736 34 249 533 
*Accounted for as AFS financial assets starting March 30, 2010 (see Note 11) 
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FPIC has an existing technical service agreement with Shell Global Solutions International B.V. (Shell) for a period of 
3 years expiring on February 28, 2011, after which period the agreement shall repeatedly and indefinitely be 
automatically extended with a new period of 3 years. 

FGPC has advances to a non-controlling shareholder which bear interest of 5.8% per annum.  As of December 31, 
2010 and 2009, total advances including accrued interest forwarded to the consolidated statement of financial position 
amounted to P=4,263 million (US$97.2 million) and P=4,607 million (US$99.7 million), respectively, which are presented 
under “Advances to a non-controlling shareholder of First Gen” account (see Notes 9 and 16). 

Outstanding balances at year-end are unsecured, interest-free and settlement occurs in cash.  There have been no 
guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables.  For the years ended December 31, 
2010 and 2009, the Group has not recorded impairment of receivables relating to amounts owed by related parties. 

This assessment is undertaken each year through the examination of the financial position of the related party and the 
market in which the related party operates. 

Compensation of key management personnel are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Short-term employee benefits P=647 P=556 
Retirement benefits (see Note 27) 44 72 
Share-based payments (see Note 24) 1 3 
 P=692 P=631 

 
 
31. Registrations with the Board of Investments (BOI)  

and Philippine Economic Zone Authority (PEZA) 

FGPC, FGP and FPMTC are registered with the BOI under the Omnibus Investments Code of 1987 that requires 
them to maintain a base equity of at least 25%; whereas FPIP, FPPSI, FPSC and FSRI are registered with PEZA 
pursuant to Presidential Proclamation Nos. 1103 and 1208 and RA No. 7916.  As registered enterprises, these 
subsidiaries are entitled to certain tax and nontax incentives which include, among others, income tax holiday (ITH).  

On October 31, 2007, the BOI approved FGP’s application for a one-year extension (the Bonus Year) of FGP’s ITH 
incentive.  The approved Bonus Year of FGP commenced on March 1, 2008 and ended on February 28, 2009. 

Total incentives availed of by the Group amounted to P=9 million in 2010, mostly from the ITH incentives claimed by 
the First Philec group.  In 2009, P=163 million was claimed by the Group, P=118 million of which came from the ITH 
incentives claimed by the First Gen group, which claimed no ITH incentive this year. 

 
 
32. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

The Group’s principal financial liabilities consist of trade payables and other current liabilities, obligation to gas sellers, 
bonds payable, loans payable and long-term debt, among others.  The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to 
raise financing for the Group’s growth and operations.  The Group has various financial instruments such as cash and 
cash equivalents, short-term investments, trade receivables, investments in equity securities, trade payables and 
other current liabilities which arise directly from its operations.  The Group also enters into derivative transactions, the 
purpose of which is to manage currency and interest rate risks arising from its operations and sources of financing. 

The Group has an Enterprise-wide Risk Management Program which aims to identify risks based on the likelihood of 
occurrence and impact to the business, formulate risk management strategies, assess risk management capabilities 
and continuously monitor the risk management efforts.  The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments 
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, credit concentration risk and liquidity risk.  The BOD reviews 
and approves policies for managing each of these risks as summarized below.  

Interest Rate Risk 
The Group’s exposure to market interest rates risks relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations and 
short-term borrowings with floating interest rates.  The Group’s policy is to manage interest cost through a mix of fixed 
and variable rate debts.  On a regular basis, the Finance team of the Group monitors the interest rate exposure and 
presents it to management by way of a compliance report.  To manage the exposure to floating interest rates in a 
cost-efficient manner, prepayment, refinancing or entering into derivative instruments such as interest rate swaps are 
undertaken as deemed necessary and feasible. 
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As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, approximately 71%  and 77%, respectively, of the Group’s borrowings are 
subject to fixed interest rate after considering the effect of its interest rate swap agreements. 

The effect of changes in interest rates in equity pertains to derivatives accounted for under cash flow hedges and 
investments in equity shares and is exclusive of the impact of changes affecting the Group’s consolidated statement 
of income. 

Interest Rate Risk Table.  The following tables set out the carrying amounts, by maturity, of the Group’s financial 
instruments that are subject to interest rate risk as of December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

 

 
Interest 

Rates 
Within 
1 Year 

More than 
1 Year 

up to 
3 Years 

More than 
3 Years up 
to 5 Years 

More than 
5 Years Total 

  (In Millions) 
2010 Floating Rate       
Parent Company       
Long-term debt:       
 P=6,400 million FRCNs 6.63%-6.49% P=910 P=1,821 P=911 P=– P=3,642 
 US$160 million FRCNs 2.55%-2.62% 779 1,080 – – 1,859 

Power Generation and Power-Related 
Companies       

Long-term debt:       
 FGPC’s US$188 million  Uncovered 

Facility 3.94% 129 333 508 913 1,883 
 FGP’s US$115 million ECGD Facility* 2.61% 210 420 210 – 840 
 FGP’s US$77 million GKA-Covered 

Facility 1.70% 250 500 500 250 1,500 
Advances to a non-controlling 

shareholder of First Gen*** 5.80% 218 529 711 2,775 4,233 
 

 
Interest 

Rates 
Within 
1 Year 

More than 
1 Year 

up to 
3 Years 

More than 
3 Years up 
to 5  Years 

More than 
5 Years Total 

  (In Millions) 
2009 Floating Rate       

Parent Company       
Long-term debt:       
 P=6,400 million FRCNs 6.61%-7.05% 455 1,821 1,822 – 4,098 
 US$160 million FRCNs 2.67%-3.68% 578 1,990 – – 2,568 

Power Generation and Power-Related 
Companies       

Long-term debt: –      
 FGPC’s US$188 million  Uncovered 

Facility 4.02% 72 273 470 1,241 2,056 
 FGP’s US$115 million ECGD Facility* 2.62% 221 443 443 – 1,107 
 FGP’s US$77 million GKA-Covered 

Facility 1.87% 263 527 527 527 1,844 
Obligations to Gas Sellers on Annual 

Deficiency 5.97% 433 – – – 433 
Receivables from MERALCO on Annual 

Deficiency** 5.97% 485 – – – 485 
Advances to a non-controlling 

shareholder of First Gen*** 5.8% 114 461 685 3,315 4,575 

*** Including the effect of interest rate swap 
*** Excluding output value-added tax 
*** Excluding accrued interest 

Floating interest rates on financial instruments are repriced semi-annually on each interest payment date.  Interest on 
financial instruments classified as fixed rate is fixed until the maturity of the instrument.  
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates for the years ended 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s income before income tax and 
equity (through the impact of floating rate borrowings, mark-to-market valuation of investment in equity securities and 
derivative assets and liabilities): 
 

 

Increase/ 
Decrease 

in Basis Points 

Effect 
on Income 

Before 
Income Tax 

Effect 
on Equity 

  (In Millions) 
2010    
Parent Company - floating rate borrowings +100 (P=56) (P=56) 
 -100 56 56 
Subsidiaries - floating rate borrowings:    
 U.S. Dollar +100 (49) (684) 
 -100 49 732 
2009    
Parent Company - floating rate borrowings +100 (67) (67) 
 -100 67 67 
Subsidiaries - floating rate borrowings:    
 U.S. Dollar +100 (77) (782) 
 -100 163 834 

 Philippine Peso +100 (3) – 
 -100 3 – 

Foreign Currency Risk 

Foreign Currency Risk with Respect to U.S. Dollar and Euro.  The Group, except First Gen group, FSRI, FSCI, FPPC, 
First Philec Solar, FGHC International, FPH Fund and FPH Ventures, is exposed to foreign currency risk through cash 
and cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term liabilities denominated in U.S. dollar.  Any depreciation of 
the U.S. dollar against the Philippine peso posts material foreign exchange losses relating to cash and short-term 
investments, trade and other receivables, deposit and due to related parties while any appreciation of the U.S. dollar 
and other currencies posts material foreign exchange losses relating to long-term deposits. 

To better manage the foreign exchange risk, stabilize cash flows, and further improve the investment and cash flow 
planning, the Group considers derivative contracts and other hedging products as necessary.  However, these 
hedges do not cover all the exposure to foreign exchange risk.  The U.S.-dollar denominated monetary assets and 
liabilities are then translated to Philippine peso being the functional and presentation currency for statutory reporting 
purposes.  In translating these monetary assets and liabilities into Philippine peso, the exchange rates used were P=
43.84 to US$1.00 and P=46.20 to US$1.00, as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

The table below summarizes the Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk with respect to U.S. dollar as of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009: 

 
 2010 2009 

 

U.S. Dollar-
denominated 

Balances 

Philippine 
Peso 

Equivalent 

U.S. Dollar-
denominated 

Balances 

Philippine 
Peso 

Equivalent 
 (In Millions) 
Financial Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents $19 P=828 $39 P=1,853 
Trade and other receivables – – 2 95 
 Total financial assets 19 828 41 1,948 
Financial Liabilities     
Trade payable and other payables 1 58 – – 
Long-term debt, including current portion* 43 1,911 56 2,661 
 Total financial liabilities 44 1,969 56 2,661 
Net Foreign Currency Denominated 

Liabilities $25 P=1,141 $15 P=713 
*At nominal values 
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The following table sets out the impact of the range of reasonably possible movement in the U.S. dollar and Philippine 
peso exchange rates with all other variables held constant, the Group’s income before income tax (due to changes in 
the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities) for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.   
 

Change in Exchange Rate Effect on Income before Income Tax 
in U.S. dollar against Philippine peso 2010 2009 

 (In Millions) 

5% (P=57) (P=36) 
(5%) 57 36 

There is no other impact on the Group’s equity other than those already affecting the consolidated statement of 
income. 

Foreign Currency Risk with Respect to Philippine Peso and Euro.  First Gen group’s exposure to foreign currency risk 
arises as the functional currency of First Gen and certain subsidiaries, the U.S. dollar, is not the local currency in its 
country of operations.   

Certain financial assets and liabilities as well as some costs and expenses are denominated in Philippine peso or 
euro.  To manage the foreign currency risk, First Gen group may consider entering into derivative transactions, as 
necessary.   

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, First Gen had not entered into any derivative transactions to cover the foreign 
exchange fluctuations.  First Gen has fully paid its Philippine peso bonds in July 2010, thus its exposure to foreign 
exchange fluctuations has been reduced. 

The following table sets out the Philippine peso-, euro- and U.S. dollar-denominated financial assets and liabilities as 
of December 31, 2010 and 2009 that may affect the consolidated financial statements of the First Gen group: 

 
 2010 2009 

 

Philippine 
Peso- 

denominated 
Balances 

Euro- 
Denominate
d Balances 

U.S. Dollar 
Balances 

Philippine 
Peso- 

denominated 
Balances 

 
U.S. Dollar 

Balances 
  (In Millions) 
Financial Assets      
Cash and cash equivalents P=1,607 €– $37 P=1,384 $30 
Trade and other receivables 801 – 18 396 9 
Investment in equity securities 33 – 1 24 – 
 2,441 – 56 1,804 39 
Financial Liabilities      
Loans payable – – – – – 
Trade payables and other current liabilities 1,423 8 43 1,496 32 
Due to stockholders and affiliates 16 – – 17 – 
Long-term debt including current portion 5,699 – 130 5,334 116 
Bonds payable – – – 5,000 108 
 7,138 8 173 11,847 256 
Net Financial Liabilities P=4,697 €8 $117 P=10,043 $217 

In translating these monetary assets and liabilities into U.S. dollar, the exchange rates used were P=43.84 to US$1.00 
and P=46.20 to US$1.00 as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.  In translating the euro-denominated 
monetary liabilities to U.S. dollar, the exchange rate used was €1.33 to US$1.00, which represents the euro-U.S. 
dollar average closing exchange rate as of December 31, 2010. 
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The following table sets out, for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, the impact of the range of reasonably 
possible movement in the U.S. dollar, euro and Philippine peso exchange rates with all other variables held constant, 
First Gen group’s income before income tax and equity (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and 
liabilities): 

 
 2010 2009 

 

Change in 
Exchange Rate 

(in European Euro 
against U.S. Dollar) 

Change in  
Exchange Rate 

(in Philippine peso 
against U.S. Dollar) 

Change in 
Exchange Rate 

(in European Euro 
against U.S. Dollar) 

Change in 
Exchange Rate 

(in Philippine peso 
against U.S. Dollar) 

 5% (5%) 6% (6%) 10% (10%) 10% (10%) 
 (In Millions) 
Effect on income before 

income tax P=13 (P=13) (P=281) P=316 (P=28) P=65 P=919 P=1,123 
Effect on equity – – (13) 18 (254) 5 – – 

The effect of changes in foreign currency rates in equity is exclusive of the impact of changes affecting the Group’s 
consolidated statement of income. 

Credit Risk 
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a loss from customers, clients or counterparties that fail to discharge 
their contracted obligations.  The Group manages credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk the Group is willing 
to accept for individual counterparties and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits. 

As a policy, the Group trades only with recognized, creditworthy third parties and/or transacts only with institutions 
and/or banks which have demonstrated financial soundness.  Credit verification procedures for customers on credit 
terms are done.  In addition, results of regular review of receivable and allowance revealed that the Group’s exposure 
to bad debts is not significant.  With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which 
comprise mostly of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, trade and other receivables, receivable from 
MERALCO and investments in equity securities, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the 
counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. 

Credit Risk Exposure.  The table below shows the gross maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group as of 
December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009, without considering the effects of collaterals and other credit risk 
mitigation techniques. 

 
 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Financial assets at FVPL:   
 FVPL investments P=14 P=18 
 Options assets 184 – 
Loans and receivables:   
 Cash and cash equivalents 25,850 25,833 
 Short-term investments 4,958 – 
 Trade and other receivables:   
  Trade 4,129 6,185 
  Receivable from MERALCO on Annual Deficiency – 485 
  Others 1,582 1,217 
 Advances to a non-controlling shareholder of First Gen 4,263 4,607 
 Royalty fees chargeable to NPC – – 
 Restricted cash deposits 82 75 
 Other current assets 2,240 2,690 
Investments in equity securities:   
 Quoted 16,998 16 
 Unquoted 50 51 
 Investments in proprietary membership shares 77 62 
Total credit exposure P=60,427 P=41,239 
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Aging Analysis of Financial Assets.  The tables below show the Group’s aging analysis of past due but not impaired 
financial assets as of December 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009: 

 
 2010 
 Neither Past Due but not Impaired   

 

Past Due 
nor 

Impaired 
< 30 

Days 
30–60 
Days 

61–90 
Days 

91–120 
Days 

> 120 
Days Total Impaired Total 

 (In Millions) 
Financial assets at FVPL -          
 FVPL investments P=14 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=14 
 Option assets 184 – – – – – – – 184 
Loans and receivables:       –   
 Cash and cash 

equivalents 25,850 – – – – – – – 25,850 
 Short-term investments 4,958 – – – – – – – 4,958 
 Trade and other 

receivables 5,519 11 – 1 3 81 96 108 5,723 
 Advances to a non-

controlling 
shareholder 4,263 – – – – – – – 4,263 

 Restricted cash deposits 26 – – – – 56 56 – 82 
 Other current assets 2,240 – – – – – – – 2,240 
Investments in equity 

securities 17,125 – – – – – – – 17,125 
 P=60,179 P=11 P=– P=1 P=3 P=137 P=152 P=108 P=60,439 

 
 2009 
 Neither Past Due but not Impaired   

 

Past Due 
nor 

Impaired 
< 30 

Days 
30–60 
Days 

61–90 
Days 

91–120 
Days 

> 120 
Days Total Impaired Total 

 (In Millions) 
Financial assets at FVPL -          
 FVPL investments P=18 P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=– P=18 
Loans and receivables:          
 Cash and cash 

equivalents 25,833 – – – – – – – 25,833 
 Trade and other 

receivables 7,728 21 70 59 9 – 159 83 7,970 
 Advances to a non-

controlling 
shareholder 4,607 – – – – – – – 4,607 

 Restricted cash deposits 75 – – – – – – – 75 
 Other current assets 2,690 – – – – – – – 2,690 
Investments in equity 

securities 129 – – – – – – – 129 
 P=41,080 P=21 P=70 P=59 P=9 P=– P= 159 P=83 P=41,322 

Credit Quality of Neither Past Due Nor Impaired Financial Assets.  The payment history of the counterparties and their 
ability to settle their obligations are considered in evaluating credit quality.   Financial assets are classified as high 
grade if the counterparties are not expected to default in settling their obligations.  These counterparties normally 
include banks, related parties and customers who pay on or before due date.  Financial assets are classified as 
standard grade if the counterparties settle their obligations to the Group with tolerable delays.  Low grade accounts 
are accounts which have probability of impairment based on historical trend.  These accounts show propensity of 
default in payment despite regular follow-up actions and extended payment terms. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the financial assets categorized as neither past due nor impaired are viewed by 
management as high grade. 

Credit Concentration Risk 
The Group, through First Gen’s operating subsidiaries FGP and FGPC, earns a substantial portion of its revenues 
from MERALCO.  MERALCO is committed to pay for the capacity and energy generated by the San Lorenzo and the 
Santa Rita power plants under the existing long-term PPAs which are due to expire in September 2027 and August 
2025, respectively.  While the PPAs provide for the mechanisms by which certain costs and obligations including fuel 
costs, among others, are treated as “pass-through” to MERALCO or are otherwise recoverable from MERALCO, it is 
the intention of First Gen, FGP and FGPC to ensure that the pass-through mechanisms, as provided for in their 
respective PPA, are followed.  Under the current regulatory regime, generation rate charged by FGP and FGPC to 
MERALCO are not subject to regulations and are complete pass-through charges to MERALCO’s customers. 
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The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the 
carrying amounts of the receivables from MERALCO, in the case of FGP and FGPC. 

The table below shows the risk exposure in respect to credit concentration of the Group as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009: 

2010 2009
(In Millions) 

Trade receivables from:
MERALCO P=3,120 P=4,131
Receivables from MERALCO on Annual Deficiency – 485

Total credit concentration risk P=3,120 P=4,616

Trade and other receivables P=5,711 P=7,402 
Long-term receivables – 485
Total receivables P=5,711 P=7,887

Credit concentration percentage 54.6% 58.5% 

Liquidity Risk
The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk refers to not having enough funds to finance its growth and capital 
expenditures, service its maturing loan obligations in a timely fashion, and meet its working capital requirements.  To 
manage this exposure, the Group maintains internally generated funds and prudently manages the proceeds obtained 
from fund raising in the debt and equity markets.  On a regular basis, the Group’s treasury department monitors the 
available cash balances.  The Group maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed sufficient to finance the 
operations. 

In addition, the Group has short-term cash investments and had available credit lines with certain banking institutions.  
FGP and FGPC, in particular, maintain a Debt Service Revenue Account to sustain the debt service requirements for 
the next payment period.  As part of its liquidity risk management, the Group regularly evaluates its projected and 
actual cash flows.  It also continuously assesses the financial market conditions for opportunities to pursue fund 
raising activities.   

As of December 31, 2010, 32% of the Group’s debt will mature in less than one year based on the carrying value of 
borrowings reflected in the consolidated financial statements. 

As of December 31, 2010, the contractual undiscounted cash flows from cash and cash equivalents, short-term 
investments and trade receivables, which are short-term in nature, used for liquidity purposes amounted to  
P=25,857 million, P=4,958 million and P=4,129 million respectively (see Notes 6 and 7).  As of December 31, 2009, the 
contractual undiscounted cash flows from cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables, which are short-term in 
nature, used for liquidity purposes amounted to P=25,835 million and P=6,185 million respectively (see Notes 6 and 7). 

The tables summarize the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as of December 31, 2010 and 
December 31, 2009 based on contractual undiscounted payments. 

2010 
On

Demand 
Less than
3 Months 

3 to
12 Months 

> 1 to
5 Years 

More than
5 Years Total 

(In Millions) 
Financial Liability Carried 

at Amortized Cost 
Loans payable P=– P=– P=476 P=– P=– P=476 
Trade payables and other current 

liabilities 926 2,099 3,817 22 – 6,864
Bonds payable – 8,525 – – – 8,525 
Long-term debt, including current 

portion – 80 9,659 33,150 16,749 59,638 
926 10,704 13,952 33,172 16,749 75,503

Financial Liability Designated 
as Cash Flow Hedge 

Derivative contract receipts – – (405) (1,323) (1,488) (3,216)
Derivative contract payments – – 996 3,140 1,863 5,999

– – 591 1,817 375 2,783 
P=926 P=10,704 P=14,543 P=34,989 P=17,124 P=78286 
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 2009 

 
On 

Demand 
Less than 
3 Months 

3 to 
12 Months 

> 1 to 
5 Years 

More than 
5 Years Total 

 (In Millions) 
Financial Liability Carried 

at Amortized Cost       
Loans payable P=– P=140 P=11,486 P=– P=– P=11,626 
Trade payables and other current 

liabilities 4,648 928 494 1 – 6,071 
Bonds payable – 295 5,591 14,037 – 19,923 
Long-term debt, including current 

portion – – 5,716 40,755 26,545 73,016 
Obligation to Gas Sellers, including 

current portion – – 433 – – 433 
 4,648 1,363 23,720 54,793 26,545 111,069 
Financial Liability Designated 

as Cash Flow Hedge       
Derivative contract receipts – – (86) (5,301) (4,268) (9,655) 
Derivative contract payments – – 159 4,645 2,642 7,446 
 – – 73 (656) (1,626) (2,209) 
 P=4,648 P=1,363 P=23,793 P=54,137 P=24,919 P=108,860 

Equity Price Risk 
The Group’s exposure to equity price risk arises from its investment in equity securities being traded at PSE.  The 
price risk emanates from the volatility of the stock market.   

The policy is to limit investment in equity securities to blue chip issues or issues with good fair values or those trading 
at a discount to its net asset value so that in the event that market falls drastically, the Group (which has the capability 
to hold to the issues on a long-term basis) does have quality issues in its inventory which it can hold on to until the 
market recovers. 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in share price, with all other 
variables held constant:  

 

 
Change in 

Equity Price* 
Effect on 

Equity 
Investment in equity securities 1.08% P=226 
 (1.08%) (226) 

*Average percentage change in share price during the year (based on PSE index) 

Capital Management 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and 
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business, comply with its financial loan covenants and maximize 
shareholder value. 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in business and economic 
conditions.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares (see Note 23).  No changes were made in the objectives, policies 
or processes during the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

The Group monitors capital using a debt-to-equity ratio, which is total debt divided by total equity.  Total equity 
includes the equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent and non-controlling interests.  The Group’s practice 
is to keep the debt-to-equity ratio not more than 2.50:1. 

 
 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Loans payable P=441 P=11,626 
Trade payables and other current liabilities 9,168 8,776 
Bonds payable 8,365 16,820 
Long-term debt 47,032 46,213 
Obligations to Gas Sellers  – 433 
Other noncurrent liabilities 1,431 2,368 
 Total debt P=66,437 P=86,236 
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 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Parent P=63,679 P=38,691 
Non-controlling interests 27,701 21,416 
 Total equity P=91,380 P=60,107 

Debt-to-equity ratio 0.73:1 1.43:1 

The Parent Company and certain of its subsidiaries are obligated to perform certain covenants with respect to 
maintaining specified debt-to-equity and minimum debt-service-coverage ratios, as set forth in their respective 
agreements with the creditors.  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group is in compliance with those covenants. 

 
 
33. Financial Instruments 

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group’s financial 
instruments that are carried in the consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

 
 2010 2009 

 
Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

 (In Millions) 

Financial Assets     
Financial assets at FVPL:     
 Option assets P=184 P=184 P=– P=– 
 FVPL investments 14 14 18 18 
 198 198 18 18 
Investment in equity securities 17,125 17,125 129 129 
Loans and receivables:     
 Cash and cash equivalents 25,857 25,857 25,835 25,835 
 Short-term investments 4,958 4,958 – – 
 30,815 30,815 25,835 25,835 
 Trade and other receivables:     
  Trade receivables 4,021 4,021 6,102 6,102 
  Receivable from MERALCO on 

Annual Deficiency – – 485 462 
  Other receivables 1,526 1,541 1,328 1,332 

 5,547 5,562 7,915 7,896 
 Advances to a non-controlling shareholder 4,263 4,001 4,607 4,607 
 Restricted cash deposits 82 82 75 75 
 Other current assets 2,240 2,240 2,690 2,690 
  Total financial assets P=60,270 P=60,023 P=41,269 P=41,250 

Financial Liabilities     
Financial liability at FVPL -     
 Derivative liability P=– P=– P=80 P=80 
Financial liabilities carried at amortized cost:     
 Loans payable 441 441 11,486 11,486 
 Trade payables and other current liabilities:     
  Trade payables 5,531 5,531 5,104 5,104 
  Accrued expenses 1,592 1,592 1,464 1,464 
  Due to contractors and consultants 30 30 17 17 
  Trust receipts payable 213 213 274 274 
 Bonds payable 8,365 8,365 16,820 17,365 
 Long-term debt, including current portion 47,032 45,384 46,213 46,581 
 Obligation to Gas Sellers, including current 

portion – – 433 433 
 63,204 61,556 81,811 82,724 
Financial liability designated as cash flow 

hedges -     
 Derivative liabilities 1,750 1,750 1,087 1,087 
  Total financial liabilities P=64,954 P=63,306 P=82,978 P=83,891 
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The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, trade and other receivables, restricted cash 
deposits, loans payable, trade payables and other current liabilities approximate the carrying amounts at financial 
reporting date due to the short-term nature of the accounts. 

The fair values of investments in equity securities and FVPL financial assets are based on quoted market prices as at 
financial reporting date.  For equity instruments that are not quoted, the investments are carried at cost less allowance 
for impairment losses due to the unpredictable nature of future cash flows and the lack of suitable methods of arriving 
at a reliable fair value.  

The fair values of loans payable, long-term debt and obligations to Gas Sellers were computed by discounting the 
instruments’ expected future cash flows using the prevailing credit adjusted LIBOR interest rates, ranging from 
0.2825% to 4.0803% and 0.2900% to 4.5577% on December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

The fair value of the Philippine peso bonds payable was computed by discounting the bonds’ expected future cash 
flows using the prevailing credit adjusted Philippine Dealing and Exchange Corporation (PDEx) interest rates for the 
Philippine peso bonds on December 31, 2010 and 2009  ranging from 4.9520% to 4.9260% and 3.8447% to 
5.6730%, respectively.  The fair values of the CBs are computed using the applicable U.S. Zero-rate for the 
convertible bond ranging from 0.051% to 1.160% in 2009. 

The fair values of freestanding derivative assets and liabilities are based on counterparty valuation.  The fair values of 
embedded derivatives are based on valuation technique which makes use of market observable inputs except for the 
embedded derivatives in CBs. 

Fair Value Hierarchy 
The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by 
valuation technique:  

� Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities  

� Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 
observable, either directly or indirectly  

� Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based 
on observable market data. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Group held the following financial instruments which are recognized at fair 
value: 

 
 2010 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 (In Millions) 
Financial Assets     
Financial assets at FVPL -     
 FVPL investments P=198 P=– P=– P=198 
Investments in equity securities 17,125 – – 17,125 
  Total financial assets P=17,323 P=– P=– P=17,323 

Financial Liabilities     
Financial liability at FVPL -     
 Derivative liability P=– P=– P=– P=– 
Financial liability designated as cash flow hedges -     
 Derivative liabilities – 1,750 – 1,750 
  Total financial liabilities P=– P=1,750 P=– P=1,750 

 
 2009 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 (In Millions) 
Financial Assets     
Financial assets at FVPL -     
 FVPL investments P=18 P=– P=– P=18 
Investments in equity shares 129 – – 129 
  Total financial assets P=147 P=– P=– P=147 
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 2009 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
 (In Millions) 

Financial Liabilities     
Financial liability at FVPL -     
 Derivative liability P=– P=– P=80 P=80 
Financial liability designated as cash flow hedges -     
 Derivative liabilities – 1,087 – 1,087 
  Total financial liabilities P=– P=1,087 P=80 P=1,167 

The financial instrument classified under Level 3 pertains to derivative liability from embedded derivatives on CBs.  
This was classified as such because of the credit spread used as input to the fair value calculation of the embedded 
derivatives which was assessed by First Gen as having a significant impact to its fair value. 

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of Level 3 financial assets and liabilities 
which are recorded at fair value: 

 

 

At 
January 1, 

2008 

Total 
Losses 

Recorded 
in Profit 
or Loss 

Total 
Gains/ 

(Losses) 
Recorded 
in Equity Purchases Sales Settlements 

Reclassified 
to Loans 

and 
Receivables 

Transfers 
from 

Level 1 
and 

Level 2 

At 
December 31, 

2009 

 
(In Thousands) 

Financial 
Liability          

Derivative 
liability ($810) ($922)* – – – – – – ($,732) 

*Included in the mark-to-market gain/loss on derivatives 

In 2010, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfers into and out 
of Level 3 fair value measurements. 

Derivative Financial Instruments 
The Group through First Gen group enters into derivative transactions such as interest rate swaps and currency 
forwards to hedge its interest rate and foreign exchange risks arising from its floating rate borrowings or foreign 
denominated borrowings.  These derivatives (including embedded derivatives) are accounted for either as derivatives 
not designated as accounting hedges or derivatives designated as accounting hedges.  

The table below shows the fair value of First Gen group’s outstanding derivative financial instruments, reported as 
assets or liabilities, together with their notional amounts as of December 31, 2009 and 2008.  The notional amount is 
the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. 
 

 2010 2009 

 
Derivatives 

Assets 
Derivative 
Liabilities 

Notional 
Amount/ 
Quantity 

Derivative 
Liabilities 

Notional 
Amount/ 
Quantity 

 (In Millions) 

Derivatives not Designated 
as Accounting Hedges      

Freestanding derivatives -      
 Options Asset P=184 P=– 585 shares P=– $– 
Embedded derivatives -      
 Embedded derivatives on CBs – – 114 80 260 
Derivatives Designated as Accounting 

Hedges      
Freestanding derivatives -      
 Interest rate swaps – 1,750 $444 1,087 $459 
Total derivatives P=184 P=1,750  P=1,167  

Presented as:      
 Current  P=70 P=– $– P=– $– 
 Noncurrent  114 1,750 – 1,167 – 
Total derivatives P=184 P=1,750 $– P=1,167 $– 
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Derivatives not Designated as Accounting Hedges 
The Group’s (through First Gen group) derivatives not designated as accounting hedges include embedded 
derivatives in host financial and non-financial contracts and freestanding derivatives used to economically hedge 
certain exposures but were not designated by management as accounting hedges.  Such derivatives are classified as 
at FVPL with changes in fair value directly taken to consolidated statement of income.  

Option Assets.  On April 19, 2010, First Gen entered into three Call Option Agreements with Philhealthcare Inc. and 
Systems Technology Institute, Inc., Philplans First Inc., and Rescom Developers, Inc. to purchase EDC shares 
totaling to 76.5 million, 400.8 million and 107.7 million, respectively, for a total option consideration of P=1 million 
($0.03 million).  These call options are divided into three tranches which can be exercised on or before the specified 
exercise date range and at the applicable exercise price as follows: 
 

Exercise Dates Exercise Price 
From April 20, 2010 to April 19, 2011 P=5.67 per share 
From April 20, 2011 to April 19, 2012 6.19 per share 
From April 20, 2012 to April 19, 2013 6.76 per share 

The exercise price shall be subject to cash and stock dividend adjustments.  The call options are exercisable within 
three years as follows: a) all the subject shares during the first exercise year, b) remaining two-thirds of the subject 
shares during the second exercise year, and c) last one-third of the subject shares during the third year. 

The call options are valued using binomial model.  This valuation technique considers the probability of EDC’s share 
price to move up or down depending on the volatility, the risk free rates, expected dividend yield and the share price 
as of the valuation date.  As of December 31, 2010, EDC’s share price is at P=5.87 per share and the fair value of the 
option assets amounted to P=184 million ($4.2 million). 

The movements in the option asset account as of December 31, 2010 are as follows: 
 

 
Amount in 

Philippine Peso 

Equivalent 
Amount in 

U.S. Dollar 
Call option consideration P=1,250 $27 
Fair value changes during the year 182,412 3,905 
Foreign exchange differences – 257 
 P=183,662 $4,189 

 The net changes in fair value during the year were taken into “Mark-to-market gain (loss) on derivatives-net” account 
in the consolidated statement of income. 

Embedded Derivatives in CBs.  As discussed in Note 19, at inception, multiple embedded derivatives in the CBs were 
bifurcated.  The fair value of the embedded equity conversion, call and put options in the CBs issued by First Gen was 
computed using the indirect method of valuing multiple embedded derivatives.  This valuation method compares the 
fair value of the option-free bond against the fair value of the bond as quoted in the market.  The difference in the fair 
values is assigned as the fair value of the embedded derivatives.  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair value 
of the embedded derivatives amounted to nil and P=80 million (US$1.7 million), respectively, using credit adjusted U.S. 
dollar risk-free rates ranging from 0.051% to 2.220% in 2009. 

The table below summarizes the net movements in the fair values of the multiple embedded derivatives as of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009: 

 
 2010 2009 
Fair value at inception/beginning of year P=76 P=39 
Fair value of options exercised during the year (11) – 
Net changes in fair value during the year (65) 41 
Balance at end of year P=– P=80 

The net changes in fair value during the year were taken to “Mark-to-market gain on derivatives - net” account in the 
consolidated statement of income. 

Derivatives Designated as Accounting Hedges 
The Group through First Gen group has interest rate swaps accounted for as cash flow hedges for its floating rate 
loans.  Under a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of changes in fair value of the hedging instrument is recognized 
as cumulative translation adjustments in other comprehensive income (loss) until the hedged item affects earnings. 
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Cash Flow Hedge - FGPC.  On November 14, 2008, FGPC entered into eight interest rate swap agreements with the 
hedge providers namely: Société Générale (Singapore Branch), Bayerische Hypo-und Vereinsbank AG (Hong Kong 
Branch), Calyon and Standard Chartered Bank.  On the same date, FGPC designated the interest rate swaps as 
effective hedging instruments to hedge the interest cash flow variability in the Covered and Uncovered Facilities, 
attributable to the movements in the six-month LIBOR interest rates (see Note 20).  

Under the four interest rate swap agreements that hedge 100% of the Covered Facility, FGPC pays a fixed rate of 
4.4025% and receives a floating rate based on 6-month U.S. LIBOR flat on the aggregate amortizing notional amount 
of US$312.0 million, simultaneous with the interest payments every May and November on the hedged loan.  The 
notional amounts of the interest rate swaps are amortizing based on the repayment schedule of the hedged loan. 

The interest rate swap agreements have a term of 12 ½ years and will mature on May 10, 2021 (coinciding with the 
maturity of the hedged loan). 

Under the four interest rate swap agreements that hedge 75% of the Uncovered Facility, FGPC pays a fixed rate of 
4.0625% and receives a floating rate of based on 6-month U.S. LIBOR flat on the aggregate amortizing notional 
amount of US$141.0 million, simultaneous with the interest payments every May and November on the hedged loan.  
The notional amounts of the interest rate swaps are amortizing based on the repayment schedule of the hedged loan.  
The interest rate swaps have a term of 8½ years and will mature on May 10, 2017 (coinciding with the maturity of the 
hedged loan). 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the aggregate fair value of the interest rate swaps that was deferred to 
cumulative translation adjustments amounted to P=1,171 million (US$26.7 million) [net of related deferred tax effect of 
P=500 million (US$11.4 million)] and P=698 million (US$15.1 million) [(net of related deferred tax effect of P=300 million 
(US$6.5 million)], respectively. 

Cash Flow Hedge - FGP.  In 2002, FGP entered into an interest rate swap agreement with ABN AMRO Bank NV to 
hedge half of its floating rate exposure on its ECGD Facility Agreement (see Note 20).  Under the interest rate swap 
agreement, FGP pays a fixed rate of 7.475% and receives a floating rate of U.S. LIBOR plus spread of 215 basis 
points, on a semi-annual basis, simultaneous with the interest payments every June and December on the hedged 
loan.  The notional amount of interest rate swap is amortizing based on the repayment schedule of hedged loan.  The 
interest rate swap agreement will mature in December 2014 (coinciding with the maturity of the hedged loan). 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair value of the interest rate swap that was deferred to cumulative translation 
adjustments amounted to P=53 million (US$1.2 million) [net of related deferred income tax effect of P=22 million 
(US$0.5 million)] and P= 65 million (US$1.4 million) [net of related deferred income tax effect of P=28 million 
(US$0.6 million)], respectively.   

There was no ineffectiveness recognized in the consolidated statement of income for the years ended December 31, 
2010 and 2009. 

The outstanding aggregate notional amount and the related mark-to-market value of the interest rate swaps 
designated as cash flow hedges as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 are as follows: 

 
 2010 2009 
Notional amount P=19,457 P=21,204 
Mark-to-market value 1,750 1,087 

The net movements in the fair value of interest rate swaps are as follows: 
 

 2010 2009 
Fair value at beginning of year (P=1,087) (P=2,806) 
Fair value change taken into other comprehensive income 

(loss) during the year (1,525) 1,138 
Fair value change realized during the year 789 556 
Foreign exchange differences 22 25 
Fair value at end of year (1,801) (1,087) 
Deferred income tax effect on cash flow hedges 576 324 
Fair value deferred into equity (P=1,225) (P=763) 

Fair value changes during the year are recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, net of 
deferred income tax under the “Cumulative translation adjustments” account in the consolidated statement of financial 
position.   
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The fair value change realized during the year was taken into “Finance costs” account in the consolidated statement 
of income.  This pertains to the net difference between the fixed interest paid/accrued and the floating interest 
received/accrued on the interest rate swap agreements as at financial reporting date. 

Reconciliation of Net Fair Value Changes on Derivatives 
The table below summarizes the mark to market gain (loss) on the Group’s derivative instruments recognized in the 
consolidated statement of income: 

 
 2010 2009 
Freestanding derivatives:    
 Range bonus forwards P=– (P=97) 
 Foreign currency forwards – (54) 
 Option Asset 182  
Embedded derivatives:   
 Call option (see Note 11) – (1,733) 
 Multiple derivatives on CBs 65 (41) 
 Currency options – (20) 
 247 (1,945) 
Effect of deconsolidation – 171 
Total P=247 (P=1,774) 

 
 
34. Commitments 

a. Power Purchase Agreements (PPA) 

� FGP and FGPC 

FGP and FGPC each have existing PPAs with MERALCO, the largest power distribution company operating 
in the Philippines and the sole customer of both projects.  Under the PPA, MERALCO will purchase in each 
Contract Year from the start of commercial operations, a minimum number of kWh of the net electrical output 
of FGP and FGPC for a period of 25 years.  Billings to MERALCO under the PPA are substantially in U.S. 
dollars and a small portion is billed in Philippine peso. 

On January 7, 2004, MERALCO, FGP and FGPC signed the Amendment to their respective PPAs.  The 
negotiations resulted in a package of concessions including the assumption of FGP and FGPC of community 
taxes at current tax rate, while conditional concessions include increasing the discounts on excess 
generation, payment of higher penalties for non-performance up to a capped amount, recovery of 
accumulated deemed delivered energy until 2011 resulting in the non-charging of MERALCO of excess 
generation charge for such energy delivered beyond the contracted amount but within a 90% capacity quota.  
The amended terms under the respective PPAs of FGP and FGPC were approved by the Energy Regulatory 
Commission (ERC) on May 31, 2006. 

Under the respective PPAs of FGP and FGPC, the fixed capacity fees and fixed operating and maintenance 
fees are recognized monthly based on the actual Net Dependable Capacity (NDC) tested and proven, which 
is usually conducted on a semi-annual basis. 

Total fixed capacity fees and fixed operating and maintenance fees amounted to P=13,067 million 
(US$288.4 million) in 2010, P=13,671 million (US$286.2 million) in 2009 and P=12,698 million 
(US$288.8 million) in 2008. 

Total value of power sold to MERALCO by FGP and FGPC (which already includes the fixed capacity 
fees and fixed operating and maintenance fees mentioned above) amounted to P=52,935 million 
(US$1,168.3 million) in 2010, P=48,204 million (US$1,009.1 million) in 2009 and P=53,252 million 
(US$1,211.1 million) in 2008. 

� FG Bukidnon 

On January 9, 2008, FG Bukidnon and Cagayan Electric Power and Light Co., Inc.  (CEPALCO), an electric 
distribution utility operating in the City of Cagayan de Oro, signed a Power Supply Agreement (PSA) for the 
FG Bukidnon plant.  Under the PSA, FG Bukidnon shall generate and deliver to CEPALCO and CEPALCO 
shall take, or pay for if not taken, the Available Energy for a period commencing on the commercial 
operations date until March 28, 2025.  The terms and conditions of the PSA are still subject to the review by 
the ERC and the effectivity and commercial operations date of the PSA will coincide with the date of ERC 



105
2010 Annual R

eport

approval of the agreement.  The sale to CEPALCO of the plant’s output since March 29, 2005 has been 
governed by a MOA signed by both parties in 2005. 

On February 15, 2010, FG Bukidnon received the decision from ERC dated November 16, 2009 which 
modified some of the terms of the PSA.  On March 2, 2010, FG Bukidnon filed a Motion for Reconsideration 
(MR) with the ERC.  While still awaiting the ERC’s reply to the MR, FG Bukidnon applied the ERC’s revised 
rate for its sale to CEPALCO starting March 2010. 

On September 9, 2010, FG Bukidnon received the ERC order dated August 16, 2010 partially approving FG 
Bukidnon’s MR.  This approved tariff is used starting September 2010. 

b. Gas Sale and Purchase Agreements 

FGP and FGPC each have an existing GSPA with the consortium of Shell Philippines Exploration B.V., Shell 
Philippines LLC, Chevron Malampaya, LLC and PNOC Exploration Corporation (collectively referred to as Gas 
Sellers), for the supply of natural gas in connection with the operations of the power plants.  The GSPA, now on 
its eighth Contract Year, is for a total period of approximately 22 years. 

Total cost of natural gas purchased amounted to P=10,421 million (US$230.0 million) in 2010, P=9,917 million 
(US$207.6 million) in 2009 and P=11,964 million (US$272.1 million) in 2008 for FGP and P=20,706 million 
(US$457.0 million) in 2010, P=19,351 million (US$405.1 million) in 2009 and P=23,893 million (US$543.4 million) in 
2008 for FGPC. 

Under the GSPA, FGP and FGPC are obligated to consume (or pay for, if not consumed) a minimum quantity of 
gas for each Contract Year (which runs from December 26 of a particular year up to December 25 of the 
immediately succeeding year), called the Take-Or-Pay Quantity (TOPQ).  Thus, if the TOPQ is not consumed 
within a particular Contract Year, FGP and FGPC incur an “Annual Deficiency” for that Contract Year equivalent 
to the total volume of unused gas (i.e., the TOPQ less the actual quantity of gas consumed).  FGP and FGPC are 
required to make payments to the Gas Sellers for such Annual Deficiency after the end of the Contract Year.  
After paying for Annual Deficiency gas, FGP and FGPC can, subject to the terms of the GSPA, “make-up” such 
Annual Deficiency by consuming the unused-but-paid-for gas (without further charge) within ten-Contract Year 
after the Contract Year for which the Annual Deficiency was incurred, in the order that it arose. 

For Contract Year 2006, the Gas Sellers issued the Annual Reconciliation Statements (ARS) of FGP and FGPC 
on December 29, 2006.  The Gas Sellers are claiming Annual Deficiency payments for Contract Year 2006 
amounting to US$3.9 million for FGP and US$5.4 million for FGPC.  Pursuant to the terms of the GSPA, the 
dispute was under arbitration in Hong Kong, SAR under the International Chamber of Commerce (ICC) Rules of 
Arbitration.  The arbitral tribunal (“Tribunal”) rendered a Partial Final Award on August 11, 2009 which was 
received by FGP and FGPC on August 18, 2009.  The Tribunal determined that the transmission related events 
claimed by FGP and FGPC constitute EFM under the GSPAs, and that, therefore, the companies can claim relief 
for those events that have actually occurred subject to adjustments stipulated in the GSPAs. 

On June 9, 2010, FGP, FGPC, and the Gas Sellers executed a Settlement Agreement (SA) to settle the GSPA 
dispute for Contract Year 2006.  Under the terms of the SA, the Gas Sellers’ claims have been reduced to 
$1.3 million with interest amounting to $0.1 million (in the case of FGP) and $0.5 million with interest amounting 
to $0.1 million (in the case of FGPC) covering the original payment due date up to February 27, 2010.  The 
payment of these amounts is by way of full, complete, absolute, and final settlement of the dispute and any and 
all Contract Year 2006 claims the Gas Sellers may have against FGP and FGPC.  The total amount of  
$2.0 million was paid on July 29, 2010. 

Also included in the June 9, 2010 SA is the GSPA amendment in which FGP, FGPC and the Gas Sellers agree 
that where the Gas Sellers reschedule, reduce or cancel Scheduled Maintenance and fail to provide a 
rescheduling notice within the period required under clause 17.1.2 of the respective GSPAs of FGP and FGPC, 
Sellers shall be permitted,  
subject to clause 17.5, to carry forward to succeeding Contract Years the number of Days within the originally 
scheduled period where no actual maintenance is carried out by the Gas Sellers provided that Gas Sellers tender 
for delivery, and FGP and FGPC actually take, gas equivalent to at least 61.429 Terajoules (TJ) and 122.9 TJ for 
San Lorenzo and Santa Rita, respectively.  FGP and the Gas Sellers likewise agree that references to "the Base 
TOPQ divided by 350” in certain clauses of the San Lorenzo GSPA shall be replaced by “61.429 TJ”. 

On September 15, 2010, FGP and FGPC received the Final Award by Consent rendered by the Tribunal on 
September 13, 2010, incorporating by reference the June 9, 2010 SA, including all exhibits thereto, and forming 
an inseparable part of the Final Award by Consent, as per FGP, FGPC, and the Gas Sellers, written request 
dated June 16, 2010 to the Tribunal and ICC. 
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c. Operating and Maintenance (O&M) Agreements 

FGP and FGPC have separate O&M Agreements with Siemens Power Operations, Inc. (SPO) mainly for the 
operation, maintenance, management and repair services of their respective power plants.  As stated in the 
respective O&M Agreements of FGP and FGPC, SPO is responsible for maintaining adequate inventory of spare 
parts, accessories and consumables.  SPO is also responsible for replacing and repairing the necessary parts 
and equipment of the power plants to ensure the proper operation and maintenance of the power plants to meet 
the contractual commitments of FGP and FGPC under their respective PPAs and in accordance with the Good 
Utility Practice.  Total operations and maintenance costs charged to the consolidated statement of income 
amounted to P=1,767 million (US$39.0 million) in 2010, P=1,734 million (US$36.3 million) in 2009 and  
P=1,618 million (US$36.8 million) in 2008. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, certain O&M fees amounting to P=1,364 million (US$30.1 million) and  
P=3,186 million (US$66.7 million), respectively, which relate to major spare parts that will be replaced during the 
scheduled maintenance outage, were presented as part of “Other noncurrent assets” account in the consolidated 
statement of financial position (see Note 16). 

FGP and FGPC each signed a new full scope O&M agreement with SPO.  The new contract took effect on 
August 1, 2010 (the Commencement Date) and will expire on the earlier of (i) the 20th anniversary of the 
Commencement Date, or (ii) the satisfactory completion of the major inspections of all units of the San Lorenzo 
and Santa Rita power plants, in each case nominally scheduled at 200,000 equivalent operating hours, as 
stipulated in their respective O&M Agreements. 

d. Hydropower Renewable Energy Service Contract (HRESC) 

� FG Bukidnon 

On October 23, 2009, FG Bukidnon entered into a HRESC with the DOE, which grants FG Bukidnon the 
exclusive right to explore, develop, and utilize the hydropower resources within the Agusan mini-hydro 
contract area.  Pursuant to the RE Law, the National Government and Local Government Units shall receive 
the Government’s share equal to 1.0% of FG Bukidnon’s preceding fiscal year’s gross income for the 
utilization of hydropower resources within the Agusan mini-hydro contract area. 

� FG Mindanao 

On October 23, 2009, FG Mindanao also signed five HRESCs with the DOE in connection with the following 
projects: 30 MW Puyo River in Jabonga, Agusan del Norte; 14 MW Cabadbaran River in Cabadbaran, 
Agusan del Norte; 8 MW Bubunawan River in Baungon and Libona, Bukidnon; 8 MW Tumalaong River in 
Baungon, Bukidnon; and 20 MW Tagoloan River in Impasugong and Sumilao, Bukidnon.  The HRESCs give 
FG Mindanao the exclusive right to explore, develop, and utilize renewable energy resources within their 
respective contract areas, and will enable FG Mindanao to avail itself of both fiscal and non-fiscal incentives 
pursuant to the Act.  The pre-development stage under each of the HRESCs is two years from the time of 
execution of said contracts (the “Effective Date”) and can be extended for another one year if FG Mindanao 
has not been in default of its exploration or work commitments and has provided a work program for the 
extension period upon confirmation by the DOE.  Each of the HRESCs also provides that upon submission 
of declaration of commercial viability, as confirmed by the DOE, it is to remain in force during the remaining 
life of the of 25-year period from the Effective Date.  Subject to the approval of the DOE, FG Mindanao can 
request for an extension for another 25 years under the same terms and conditions, provided that FG 
Mindanao is not in default in any material obligations under the contract and has submitted a written notice to 
the DOE for the extension of the contract not later than one (1) year prior to the expiration of the 25-year 
period. 

On July 28, 2010, FG Mindanao and the Government of the United States of America acting through the 
U.S. Trade and Development Agency (USTDA), executed a Grant Agreement providing FG Mindanao, as 
the Grantee, $0.4 million to fund the cost of goods and services required for the feasibility study on the 
Cabadbaran Run-of River Hydroelectic Power Plant. 

e. Build-Operate-Transfer (BOT) Agreements 

BPPC 
Following the expiration of the Co-operation Period under the Project Agreement with NPC, which expired on July 
25, 2010,  BPPC turned-over the Bauang Plant to NPC on July 26, 2010 to mark the end of the Project 
Agreement.  Through a Deed of Transfer executed between BPPC and NPC, BPPC transferred to NPC all its 
rights, titles and interests in the Bauang Plant, free of liens created by BPPC, without any compensation.  On the 
same date, all rights, title and interests of BPPC in and to the fixtures, fittings, plant and equipment (including test 
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equipment and special tools) and all improvements comprising the power plant were transferred to NPC on an 
“as is” basis.  As part of the agreement, BPPC also transferred spare parts and lubricating oil inventory.  
Consequently, BPPC declared all organizational positions redundant and separated all employees, except for key 
officers. 

f. Lubricating Oil Supply Agreement 

BPPC entered into a supply contract with Pilipinas Shell Petroleum Corporation (Shell), whereby the latter will 
supply lubricating oil for a period of 15 years until July 2010 at a pre-agreed price indicated in the contract.  The 
price is subject to adjustments twice a year based on various conditions, such as changes in the cost or rates of 
the product, among others.  Correspondingly, BPPC’s contract with Shell expired on July 25, 2010. 

g. Substation Interconnection Agreement 

FGPC has an agreement with MERALCO and NPC for: (a) the construction of substation upgrades at the NPC 
substation in Calaca and the donation of such substation upgrades to NPC; (b) the construction of a 35-kilometer 
transmission line from the power plant to the NPC substation in Calaca and subsequent donation of such 
transmission line to NPC; (c) the interconnection of the power plant to the NPC Grid System; and (d) the receipt 
and delivery of energy and capacity from the power plant to MERALCO’s point of receipt. 

As of April 7, 2011, FGPC is still in the process of transferring the substation upgrades in Calaca, as well as the 
230 kV Santa Rita to Calaca transmission line, to NPC. 

Maintenance services related to the transmission line are rendered by Meralco Industrial Engineering Services 
Corporation (MIESCOR), a subsidiary of Meralco, on the 230 kilovolts (kV) transmission line from the Santa Rita 
plant to the Calaca Substation in Batangas under the Transmission Line Maintenance Agreement.  This involves 
the monthly payment of P=1 million ($0.02 million) as retainer fee and P=4 million ($0.1 million) for every six-month 
period as service fee, with both fees subject to periodic adjustment as set forth in the agreement.  The amount of 
compensation for additional services requested by FGPC outside the scope of the agreement is subject to mutual 
agreement between FGPC and MIESCOR. 

h. Interim Interconnection Agreement 

FGP has an agreement with NPC and MERALCO whereby NPC will be responsible for the delivery and 
transmission of all energy and capacity from FGP’s power plant to MERALCO’s point of receipt. 

i. Franchise 

First Gen, through FGHC, has a franchise granted by the 11th Congress of the Philippines through RA No.  8997 
to construct, install, own, operate and maintain a natural gas pipeline system for the transportation and 
distribution of the natural gas throughout the island of Luzon (the “Franchise”).  The Franchise is for a term of 
25 years until February 25, 2026.  As of March 16, 2011, FGHC, through its subsidiary FG Pipeline, has an ECC 
for the Batangas to Manila pipeline project and has undertaken substantial pre-engineering works and design and 
commenced preparatory works for the right-of-way acquisition activities among others.   

j. Lease Commitments 

FGPC has a non-cancelable annual offshore lease agreement with the DENR for the lease of a parcel of land in 
Sta.  Rita, Batangas where the power plant complex is located.  The term of the lease is for a period of 25 years 
starting May 26, 1999 for a yearly rental of P=3 million (US$0.05 million) and renewable for another 25 years at the 
end of the term.  The land will be appraised every ten years and the annual rental after every appraisal shall not 
be less than 3% of the appraised value of the land plus 1% of the value of the improvements, provided that such 
annual rental cannot be less than P=3 million (US$0.05 million). 

FG Bukidnon has a non-cancelable lease agreement with PSALM on the land occupied by its power plant.  The 
term of the lease is for a period of 20 years commencing on March 29, 2005, renewable for another period of 10 
years or the remaining corporate life of PSALM, whichever is shorter.  The rental paid in advance by FG 
Bukidnon for the entire term is P=1 million (US$0.02 million). 
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Future minimum rental payments under the non-cancelable operating leases with FPRC and the DENR are as 
follows: 

 
 2010 2009 

  (In Millions) 

Within one year P=10 P=12 
After one year but not more than five years 11 11 
After five years 21 24 
 P=42 P=47 

 
 
35. Contingencies  

Contingent Liabilities 

a. FGPC’s Tax Contingencies 

FGPC was assessed by the BIR on July 19, 2004 for deficiency income tax for taxable years 2001 and 2000.  
FGPC filed its Protest Letter to the BIR on October 5, 2004.  On account of the BIR’s failure to act on FGPC’s 
Protest within the prescribed period, FGPC filed with the Court of Tax Appeals (CTA) on June 30, 2005 a Petition 
against the Final Assessment Notices and Formal Letters of Demand issued by the BIR.  On February 20, 2008, 
the CTA granted FGPC’s Motion for Suspension of Collection of Tax until the case is resolved with finality.  As of 
April 7, 2011, the court proceedings are still on-going with the CTA.  Management believes that the resolution of 
this assessment will not materially affect First Gen group’s consolidated financial statements. 

On June 25, 2003, FGPC received various Notices of Assessment and Tax Bills dated April 15 and 21, 2003 from 
the Provincial Government of Batangas, through the Office of the Provincial Assessor, imposing an annual real 
property tax (RPT) on steel towers, transmission lines and accessories (the T-Line) amounting to P=12 million 
(US$0.2 million) per year.  FGPC, claiming exemption from said RPT, appealed the assessment to the Provincial 
Local Board of Assessment Appeals (LBAA) and filed a Petition on August 13, 2003.  FGPC sought for, and was 
granted, a preliminary injunction by the Regional Trial Court (Branch 7) of Batangas City to enjoin the Provincial 
Treasurer of Batangas City from collecting the RPT pending the decision of the LBAA.  Despite the injunction, the 
LBAA issued an Order dated September 22, 2005 requiring FGPC to pay the RPT within 15 days from receipt of 
the Order.  On October 22, 2005, FGPC filed an appeal before the Central Board of Assessment Appeals (CBAA) 
assailing the validity of the LBAA order.   

In a Resolution rendered on December 12, 2006, the CBAA set aside the LBAA Order and remanded the case to 
the LBAA.  The LBAA was directed to proceed with the case on the merits without requiring FGPC to first pay the 
RPT on the questioned assessment.  As of April 7, 2011, the LBAA case remains pending. 

On May 23, 2007, the Province filed with the Court of Appeals (“CA”) a Petition for Review of the CBAA 
Resolution.  The CA dismissed the petition on June 12, 2007; however, it issued another Resolution dated 
August 14, 2007 reinstating the petition filed by the Province.  In a decision dated March 8, 2010, the CA 
dismissed the petition for lack of jurisdiction. 

In connection with the prohibition case pending before the Regional Trial Court (Branch 7) of Batangas City which 
previously issued the preliminary injunction, the Province filed on March 17, 2006 an Urgent Manifestation and 
Motion requesting the court to order the parties to submit memoranda on whether or not the Petition for 
Prohibition pending before the court is proper considering the availability of the remedy of appeal to the CBAA.  
The Regional Trial Court denied the Urgent Manifestation and Motion, and is presently awaiting the finality of the 
issues on the validity of the RPT assessment on the T-Line.  During the hearing held on November 9, 2010, 
counsel for the Province manifested the intention to file a Motion to Dismiss the case.  As of April 7, 2011, FGPC 
has not received a copy of any such motion, and the injunction previously issued by the Regional Trial Court 
continues to be valid. 

b. Petition for the Issuance of a Writ of Kalikasan 

On November 15, 2010, a Petition for the Issuance of a Writ of Kalikasan was filed before the Supreme Court 
(SC) by the West Tower Condominium Corporation, et al., against respondents FPIC, First Gen, their respective 
BODs and officers and John Does and Richard Roes.  The petition was filed in connection with the oil leak which 
is being attributed to a portion of FPIC’s pipeline located in Bangkal, Makati City.  The oil leak was found in the 
basement of the West Tower Condominium. 
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The petition was brought by the West Tower Condominium Corporation on behalf of its unit owners and in 
representation of the inhabitants of Barangay Bangkal, Makati City, “including minors or generations yet unborn, 
whose constitutional right to a balanced and healthful ecology is violated or threatened with violation” by the 
respondents.  The petitioners seek the issuance of a Writ of Kalikasan to protect the constitutional right of the 
Filipino people to a balanced and healthful ecology.  The writ issued by the SC last November 19, 2010 orders 
the immediate cease and desist of pipeline operations until further orders from the Court and to check the 
structural integrity of the entire 117-km pipeline and in the process, to apply and implement sufficient measures to 
prevent and avert any untoward incidents such as fire, explosion or other destructive effects that may result from 
any leak in the pipeline. 

FPIC has been complying with the directives and reported to the SC on January 21, 2011 that, by way of such 
structural integrity checking, it has, in coordination with various government agencies, undertaken borehole and 
leak repair tests and intends to do segment pressure and in-line inspection tests.  It has also continued to carry 
out its preventive maintenance measures, commenced remediation of adversely affected environments, and 
continues to address health and humanitarian issues.  As of financial reporting date, it has started the 
engineering and rehabilitation works. 

Operation of the pipeline cannot resume until the Writ is lifted, thus, financial losses due to cessation of 
operations will be incurred.  Formal written demands for payments of claims of damages by residents, who have 
threatened to file suits, have not progressed to the actual filing of cases as of financial reporting date. 

c. Pollution Adjudication Board (PAB) 

FPIC was ordered on November 19, 2010 by the PAB, a quasi-judicial body under the DENR, to, among other 
things, undertake a rehabilitation and clean-up of the area affected by petroleum contamination and to show 
cause why a fine of P=200,000 per day of violation (i.e.  from the time of the discovery of the leak until it was 
plugged) should not be imposed. 

FPIC has advanced the following as bases for its position that it is not liable for fines (as assessed by the PAB) or 
which should, alternatively, be equitably diminished: (1) The Company’s due process rights have been 
transgressed; (ii) Whether or not the Company should be held liable for violating of Section 27 (b) of RA No.  
9275 is dependent on a determination of whether it acted intentionally and deliberately in “discharging, injecting 
or allowing” products transported through its pipeline into the soil or sub-soil, thus polluting groundwater.  The 
Company submits that the law punishes only active, willful and deliberate acts of pollution, which it has not done; 
(iii) Should the PAB still decide to impose a fine against the Company, the same should be equitably reduced 
both in terms of the rate-per-day of fine to be used and to cover only the time from the finding of the source of the 
leak on October 28, 2010 up to the time the leak was repaired on November 10, 2010. 

The Company’s management and its external legal counsel maintain that there is legal basis upon which to 
surmise that any adverse outcome of this case may not have a material effect on the Company’s financial 
position and results of operations. 

d. Guarantees for performance and surety bonds  

First Balfour is contingently liable for guarantees arising from the ordinary course of business, including letters of 
guarantee for performance and surety bonds for various construction projects amounting to P=0.5 billion and  
P=1.1 billion as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, there are no provisions for probable losses arising from legal contingencies 
recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 

36. Other Matters

a. EPIRA 

Reforms
RA No.  9136, otherwise known as the EPIRA, and the covering Implementing Rules and Regulations (IRR) 
provide for significant changes in the power sector, which include among others: the functional unbundling of the 
generation, transmission, distribution and supply sectors; the privatization of the generating plants and other 
disposable assets of the NPC, including its contracts with IPP; the unbundling of electricity rates; the creation of a 
Wholesale Electricity Spot Market (WESM); and the implementation of open and nondiscriminatory access to 
transmission and distribution systems. 
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The EPIRA declares that the generation sector shall be competitive and open.  Any entity engaged in the 
generation and supply of electricity is not required to secure a national franchise.  However, the public listing of 
not less than 15% of common shares of a generation company is required within five years from the effectivity 
date of the law.  First Gen has complied with this requirement. 

Cross ownership between transmission and generation companies and between transmission and distribution 
companies is prohibited.  As between distribution and generation, a distribution utility is not allowed to source 
from an associated generation company more than 50% of its demand, a limitation that nonetheless does not 
apply with respect to contracts entered into prior to the effectivity of the law.  The Group, through its subsidiaries 
FGPC and FGP, has entered into PPAs with an affiliate distribution utility, MERALCO, prior to the effectivity of 
the EPIRA.  These agreements represent only 40% of the current demand level of MERALCO. 

No company or related group can own, operate or control more than 30% of the installed capacity of a grid and/or 
25% of the national installed generating capacity.  Under Resolution No.  26, Series 2005 of the ERC, installed 
generating capacity is attributed to the entity controlling the terms and conditions of the prices or quantities of the 
output sold in the market.  Accordingly, as of this date, the total installed capacity attributable to First Gen is 
2,025.79MW, which comprises 14.43% of the national installed generating capacity amounting to 14,039.12MW.  
In the Luzon, Visayas and Mindanao grids, 1,683.04MW or 16% of 10,664.23MW, 341.15MW or 20.73% of 
1,645.23MW and 1.6MW or 0.09% of 1,729.58MW can be attributed to First Gen, respectively. 

The EPIRA further provides that the President of the Republic of the Philippines shall reduce the royalties, 
returns and taxes collected for the exploitation of all indigenous sources of energy, including natural gas, so as to 
effect parity of tax treatment with existing rates for imported fuels.  When implemented, this provision will lower 
the cost of energy produced by the Santa Rita and San Lorenzo natural gas plants of FGPC and FGP, 
respectively. 

Implementation 
Over the last two years, the implementation of reforms in the power industry mandated by the EPIRA attained 
significant momentum. 

The privatization of NPC generation assets has already exceeded the 70% target and is currently at 92% 
privatized NPC plants for Luzon and Visayas.  Recently privatized plants include 620 MW Limay plant to San 
Miguel Corporation (SMC), 305 MW Palinpinon- Tongonan plant to GCGI, 55 MW Naga plant to SPC Power 
Corp., 218 MW Angat Mini-Hydro to K-Water and 150 MW BacMan to BGI.  There was also a notable  

growth in terms of the NPC-IPP privatization which is now at 68% with the privatization of the contracts for: (i) the 
700 MW Pagbilao plant to Therma Luzon; (ii) the 1,000 MW Sual to SMC; (iii) the 345 MW San Roque to 
Strategic Power Development Corporation; (iv) the 100.75 MW Bakun-Benguet to Amlan Power Holdings Corp.; 
and (v) the 1,200 MW Ilijan to SMC. 

1) Generation Sector  

The generation sector converts fuel and other forms of energy into electricity.  This sector, by utility, consists 
of: (i) NPC-owned and operated generation facilities; (ii) NPC-Independent Power Producer (IPP) plants, 
which consist of plants operated by IPPs, and IPP-owned and operated plants, all of which supply electricity 
to NPC; and (iii) IPP-owned and IPP-operated plants that supply electricity to customers other than NPC.  
Recent successes in the privatization process of NPC continue to build up momentum for the power industry 
reforms. 

Under the EPIRA, generation companies are allowed to sell electricity to distribution utilities or retail 
electricity suppliers through either bilateral contracts or WESM.  Once the regime of Retail Competition and 
Open Access is implemented, generation companies may likewise sell electricity to eligible end-users.  
Pursuant to Section 31 of the EPIRA, such implementation is subject to the fulfillment of five conditions.  Out 
of the five, only one condition remains unsatisfied: the transfer to IPP Administrators of at least 70% of the 
total energy output of power plants under contract with NPC and the IPPs.  The transfer is at 68% of installed 
capacity as of December 2010. 

As of December 2010, PSALM has so far privatized 20 NPC generation assets in Luzon, Visayas, and 
Mindanao, with an aggregate installed capacity of around 4,320 MW.  With the recently concluded bidding of 
the 150 MW BacMan power plants, NPC has privatized approximately 92% of its total installed generating 
capacity in Luzon and Visayas.  As for the privatization of NPC-IPP contracts, PSALM commenced bidding 
out agreements for IPP administration in 2009.  After the completion of the bidding on 1,200 MW Ilijan power 
plant, PSALM already privatized 68% of the NPC-IPP administration contracts. 
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In terms of market share limitations, no generation company is allowed to own more than 30% of the 
installed generating capacity of the Luzon, Visayas, or Mindanao grids, and/or 25% of the total nationwide 
installed generating capacity.  To date, there is no power generation company, including NPC, breaching the 
mandated ceiling.  Also, no generation company associated with a distribution utility may supply more than 
50% of the distribution utility’s total demand, under bilateral contracts, without prejudice to the bilateral 
contracts entered into prior to the enactment of EPIRA. 

2) Transmission 

Pursuant to the EPIRA, NPC transferred its transmission and sub-transmission assets to TransCo, which 
was created to operate the transmission systems throughout the Philippines.  TransCo was also mandated 
to provide Open Access to all industry participants.  The EPIRA granted TransCo a monopoly over the high-
voltage transmission network and subjected it to performance-based regulations. 

The EPIRA also required the privatization of TransCo through an outright sale or concession contract carried 
out by PSALM.  In December 2007, Monte Oro Grid Resources Corp.  won the concession contract for 
TransCo with a bid of $3.95 billion.  On January 14, 2009, PSALM formally turned over the 25-year 
concession of TransCo to National Grid Corporation of the Philippines (NGCP), the company formed by 
Monte Oro Grid Resources Corp. 

On June 26, 2006, the commercial operation of the WESM in the Luzon Grid commenced.  During the first 
year of operation, total registered peak demand reached 6,552 MW with total registered capacity at  
11,396 MW.  To date, the monthly transaction volumes for both the spot and bilateral quantities recorded a 
high of 3,725.54 GWh.  The WESM now has 46 direct participants, 12 indirect participants, and 5 intending 
participants. 

WESM commercial operations in the Visayas kept on being deferred from 2008 to 2009 due to two main 
factors, (1) Lack of competition - bulk of the Visayas grid’s total capacity was still dominantly controlled by 
NPC; and (2) Fear of extremely high prices - Visayas still had unstable and insufficient power supply.  The 
privatization of the following plants: (1) Panay and Bohol Diesel Power Plants; (2) Land Base Gas Turbine; 
and (3) Palinpinon-Tongonan Geothermal Power Plants, and the entry of new coal-fired power plants in 
Cebu and Panay finally enabled WESM Visayas to go in commercial operations on December 26, 2010.  
With a limited number of power generation technologies in the grid, WESM prices in the Visayas is expected 
to reflect price offers from coal and geothermal power during off-peak hours while price offers from oil-fired 
power plants are expected to  
clear the peak hours.  These levels are expected to persist for the next 2 years unless growth in power 
demand continues its surge in 2010 with the grid coming from a depressed growth situation for the past 2 
years.  Moreover, prices and spot kWh sales in the Luzon and Visayas grids are expected to deviate from 
their current levels once WESM implements a “Luzon-Visayas” single grid operation. 

The Government expects Retail Competition and Open Access to be implemented in phases.  As far as 
Luzon is concerned, the WESM began operations in June 2006 and Retail Competition has already been 
introduced, with end-users who comprise the Contestable Market for this purpose already identified. 

Open Access in Luzon is expected to commence soon, approximately six months after the privatization of 
the IPP contracts for the 650 MW Malaya Plant or the 596 MW Unified Leyte Complex.  As of November 
2010, the IPP contracts for the 1,000 MW Sual coal-fired power plant, the 700 MW Pagbilao coal-fired power 
plant, the 345 MW San Roque hydroelectric power plant, the 100.75 MW Bakun-Benguet hydroelectric 
power plant and the 1,200 MW Ilijan Combined Cycle Power Plant have been successfully bidded out.  As 
for NPC generation assets, PSALM has so far privatized 20 assets or more than 92% of the generating 
capacity of the Luzon and Visayas grids. 

In the meantime, ERC approved on December 5, 2008 a transitional (interim) and voluntary form of open 
access known as the Power Supply Option Program (PSOP).  On January 25, 2010, the PSOP Rules 
subsequently received ERC approval.  The program allows qualified generation companies and registered 
electricity suppliers to contract for the supply of electricity directly with eligible end-users.  However, there 
are implementation aspects that have not been touched upon by the PSOP rules.  These include accounting, 
settlement of energy imbalances and line rentals, the rules regarding which shall be proposed by the entities 
which petitioned for the adoption of the PSOP in coordination with the Philippine Electricity Market 
Corporation.  As of this writing, these additional rules have yet to be issued and, consequently, the 
implementation of the PSOP has not commenced.  Should the Retail Competition and Open Access 
mandated under the EPIRA be implemented ahead, the PSOP rules will cease to be operational. 

The ERC has continued to issue regulations implementing the EPIRA, among which are the Rules for 
Setting Distribution Wheeling Rates for Privately-Owned Distribution Utilities  
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Entering Performance-Based Regulation, Competition Rules, Rules for Registration of Wholesale 
Aggregators, Guidelines for the Issuance of Licenses to Retail Electricity Suppliers and Distribution Service 
and Open Access Rules. 

Proposed Amendments to the EPIRA 
Following are the proposed amendments to the EPIRA that, if enacted, may have material adverse effect on the 
Group through First Gen group’s electricity generation business, financial condition and results of operations. 

In the Philippine Senate, the Committee on Energy sponsored the approval on second reading of Senate Bill No.  
2121, which include, among others: 

Lowering the privatization level precondition to retail open access from 70% to 50% for both the NPC 
generating assets and NPC IPP contracts, while allowing ERC to declare retail open access even before the 
50% level is met with participation being limited to generation companies that comply with the 30%-25% 
installed generating capacity limits.  This proposed amendment would allow NPC and PSALM to retain 
control of a sizeable generating capacity sufficient to dominate the market at the time of implementation.  
While this market dominance of NPC and PSALM will not by large adversely affect First Gen group 
considering that most of the generation output of First Gen’s operating subsidiaries is already contracted with 
NPC and other entities on a long-term basis, any uncontracted capacity that First Gen may have in the 
future, as for instance in the event of expansion, may be subject to uneven competitive pressures from NPC 
and PSALM.  Nonetheless, the market control of NPC and PSALM is expected to wane over time as the 
privatization program progresses. 

� Recognizing the regulatory authority of the PEZA over distribution utilities in PEZA-administered economic 
zones.  In so far as it may be interpreted to allow PEZA to declare retail open access regardless of NPC 
privatization level, this amendment may similarly affect First Gen group’s competitiveness vis-à-vis NPC and 
PSALM as outlined above. 

 
� Prescribing additional limitation on bilateral contracts between related parties in that such contracts shall not 

exceed 20% of the installed generating capacity of a grid.  Should First Gen group expand in the Luzon Grid, 
this proposed restriction may limit potential off-take by MERALCO from First Gen group given MERALCO’s 
existing off-take agreements with FGPC and FGP. 

� Subjecting the reduction of royalties for the exploitation of indigenous energy sources that the President shall 
order to the qualification, “whenever the interest of the general public so requires”.  Insofar as the reduction 
becomes discretionary rather than mandatory, the implementation of the reduction of royalties on natural 
gas, which would enhance the price-competitiveness of generation by FGPC and FGP on a post-tax/post-
royalty basis vis-à-vis generation using imported fuels, may be accelerated or delayed depending on the 
timing of the presidential action. 

In the House of Representatives, the Committee on Energy has submitted for plenary approval House Bill No.  
3124 proposing the following amendments to the EPIRA, among others: 

� Accelerating the implementation of retail competition and open access by lowering the pre-requisite level of 
privatization of NPC’s generating assets and IPP contracts from 70% to 50%, and recognizing the authority 
of PEZA to immediately declare retail open access in economic zones.  As in the Senate proposal, this could 
adversely affect First Gen group’s competitiveness vis-à-vis NPC and PSALM as described earlier. 

� Granting PEZA the authority to immediately declare retail competition and open access in the PEZA-
administered economic zones, with similar possible effect as the counterpart proposal in the Senate. 

� Removing the power from the ERC to issue ex-parte provisional authority in rate increase applications of 
distribution utilities.  This may affect MERALCO’s cash flow or ability to timely charge its distribution rate (but 
not the pass-through of generation cost).  Though not directly affecting First Gen group, the resulting 
difficulty on MERALCO may hamper MERALCO’s ability to make payments to FGPC and FGP. 

The Group cannot provide any assurance whether any or all of these proposed amendments will be enacted in 
their current form or at all or when any amendment to the EPIRA will be enacted.  Proposed amendments to the 
EPIRA, including those discussed above, as well as other legislation or regulation could have material adverse 
impact on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Certificates of Compliance 
FGP, FGPC and FG Bukidnon have been granted Certificates of Compliance (COCs) by the ERC for the 
operation of their respective power plants on September 14, 2005, November 6, 2008, June 3, 2008 and 
February 16, 2005, respectively.  The COCs, which are valid for a period of 5 years, signify that the companies in 
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relation to their respective generation facilities have complied with all the requirements under relevant ERC 
guidelines, the Philippine Grid Code, the Philippine Distribution Code, the WESM rules, and related laws, rules 
and regulations. 

FG Energy has been granted the Wholesale Aggregator’s Certificate of Registration on May 17, 2007, effective 
for a period of 5 years, and the Retail Electricity Supplier’s License on February 27, 2008, effective for a period of 
3 years. 

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 36 of the EPIRA, Electric Power Industry Participants prepare and submit 
for approval of the ERC their respective Business Separation and Unbundling Plan (BSUP) which requires them 
to maintain separate accounts for, or otherwise structurally and functionally unbundle, their business activities. 

Since each of FGP, FGPC and FG Bukidnon is engaged solely in the business of power generation, to the 
exclusion of the other business segments of transmission, distribution, supply and other related business 
activities, compliance with the BSUP requirement on maintaining separate accounts is not reasonably 
practicable.  Based on assessments of FGP, FGPC, FG Bukidnon and FG Energy, they are in the process of 
complying with the provisions of the EPIRA and its IRR. 

b. Clean Air Act 

On November 25, 2000, the IRR of the Philippine Clean Air Act (PCAA) took effect.  The IRR contain provisions 
that have an impact on the industry as a whole, and on FGP, FGPC and BPPC in particular, that need to be 
complied with within 44 months (or July 2004) from the effectivity date, subject to approval by the DENR.  The 
power plants of FGP and FGPC use natural gas as fuel and have emissions that are way below the limits set in 
the National Emission Standards for Sources Specific Air Pollution and Ambient Air Quality Standards.  Based on 
FGP’s and FGPC’s initial assessments of the power plants’ existing facilities, the companies believe that both are 
in full compliance with the applicable provisions of the IRR of the PCAA. 

On the other hand, BPPC believes that the Project Agreement specifically provides that it is not contractually 
obligated to bear the financial cost of complying with the new law.  Pursuant thereto, compliance of the Bauang 
Plant with RA No.  8749 shall be subject to the final agreement between DOE, NPC and DENR, specifically on 
the manner of compliance by all NPC-IPPs, including BPPC.  In this connection, the DENR has issued a 
Memorandum on September 19, 2006 directing all regional directors to hold in abeyance the implementation of 
the Continuous Emission Monitoring System (CEMS) which is required under the PCAA, until such time that a set 
of guidelines has been approved.  On July 31, 2007, the DENR issued Dept. Admin. Order 2007-22 which 
effectively superseded the September 19, 2006 memorandum. 

The new pronouncement prescribes a more detailed set of guidelines for compliance to the Continuous Opacity 
Monitoring System (COMS)/CEMS installation required under the PCAA, and likewise provides for a two-year 
window from issuance date for affected facilities to comply. 

BPPC has been conducting Ambient Air Emission Monitoring every quarter and Source Emission Monitoring 
once a year in lieu of the installation of the CEMS.  Results are submitted to the Environmental Monitoring 
Bureau (EMB) and the DENR-Region 1 Office. 

c. RA No.  9513, “Renewable Energy Act of 2008” 

On January 30, 2009, RA No.  9513, An Act Promoting the Development, Utilization and Commercialization of 
Renewable Energy Resources and for Other Purposes, which shall be known as the “Renewable Energy Act of 
2008” (the Act), became effective. 

RA No.  9513 aims to accelerate the exploration and development of renewable energy resources as well as to 
increase the utilization of renewable energy by institutionalizing the development of national and local capabilities 
in the use of renewable energy systems, and promoting its efficient and cost-effective commercial application by 
providing fiscal and non-fiscal incentives. 

The law also encourages the development and utilization of renewable energy resources as effective tools to 
prevent or reduce harmful emissions and thereby balancing the goals of economic growth and development with 
the protection of health and the environment.  The Act also intends to establish the necessary infrastructure to 
carry out the mandates specified in the law and other relevant existing laws. 

The Act provides a seven-year ITH and tax exemptions for the carbon credits generated from renewable energy 
sources.  A 10% corporate income tax, as against the regular 30%, is also provided once the ITH expires; energy 
self-sufficiency to 60% by 2010 from 56.6% in 2005, by tapping resources like solar, wind, hydropower, ocean 
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and biomass energy; renewable energy facilities will also be given a 1.5% realty tax cap on original cost of 
equipment and facilities to produce renewable energy. 

The law also prioritizes the purchase, grid connection and transmission of electricity generated by companies 
from renewable energy sources and power generated from renewable energy sources will be value added tax-
exempt. 

Within six (6) months from the effectivity of the Act, the DOE shall, in consultation with the Senate and House of 
Representatives Committee on Energy, relevant government agencies and renewable energy stakeholders, 
promulgate the Implementing Rules and Regulations of the Act. 

The Group is evaluating the significant impact that the Act may have on the Group’s future operations and 
financial results. 

The law also prioritizes the purchase, grid connection and transmission of electricity generated by companies 
from renewable energy sources and power generated from renewable energy sources will be value added tax-
exempt 

d. BIR Revenue Regulation No.  16-2008 

On December 18, 2008, the BIR issued Revenue Regulations (RR) No.  16-2008 which implemented the 
provisions of Section 34(L) of the Tax Code of 1997, as amended by Section 3 of RA No.  9504, dealing on the 
Optional Standard Deduction (OSD) allowed to individuals and corporations in computing their taxable income. 

Based on the RR, it allowed individuals and corporations to claim OSD in lieu of the itemized deductions (i.e., 
items of ordinary and necessary expenses allowed under Sections 34 (A) to (J) and (M), Section 37, other special 
laws, if applicable).  In case of corporate taxpayers subject to tax under Sections 27(A) and 28(A) (1) of the 
National Internal Revenue Code (NIRC), as amended, the OSD allowed shall be in an amount not exceeding 
40% of their gross income.  The items of gross income under Section 32(A) of the Tax Code, as amended, which 
are required to be declared in the Income Tax Return (ITR) of the taxpayer for the taxable year, are part of the 
gross income against which the OSD may be deducted in arriving at taxable income.  Passive income which has 
been subjected to a final tax at source shall not form part of the gross income for purposes of computing the 40% 
OSD. 
For other corporate taxpayers allowed by law to report their income and deductions under a different method of 
accounting (e.g. percentage of completion basis, etc.) other than cash and accrual method of accounting, the 
gross income pursuant to the RR shall be determined in accordance with said acceptable method of accounting. 

A corporate taxpayer who elected to avail of the OSD shall signify in its return such intention; otherwise it shall be 
considered as having availed of the itemized deductions allowed under Section 34 of the NIRC.  Once the 
election to avail the OSD is signified in the return, it shall be irrevocable for the taxable year for which the return 
is made.  In the filing of the quarterly ITR, the taxpayer may opt to use either the itemized deduction or OSD.  
However, in filing the final ITR, the taxpayer must make a choice as to what method of deduction it shall employ 
for the purpose of determining its taxable net income for the entire year.  The taxpayer is, thus, not allowed to use 
a hybrid method of claiming its deduction for one taxable year. 

For the taxable period 2008 which is the initial year of the implementation of the 40% OSD, the 40% maximum 
deduction shall only cover the period beginning July 6, 2008, which is the effective date of the said Act.  
However, in order to simplify and provide ease of administration during the transition period, July 1, 2008 shall be 
considered as the start of the period when the 40% OSD may be allowed. 

In 2008, the Group computed its income tax based on itemized deductions. 

e. Share buyback 

On May 12, 2010, a new two-year share buyback program was approved by the BOD of First Gen covering up to 
300 million of First Gen’s common shares representing approximately 9% of its total outstanding common shares.  
The two-year period commenced on June 1, 2010 and will end on May 31, 2012.  The number of shares and 
buyback period are subject to revision from time to time as circumstances may warrant, subject to the proper 
disclosures to regulatory agencies, by the BOD of First Gen.   

First Gen will undertake a buyback transaction only if and to the extent that the price per share is deemed 
extremely undervalued, share prices are considered highly volatile, or in any other instance where First Gen 
believes that a buyback will result in enhancing shareholder value.  As of April 7, 2011, there are no stocks 
purchased under the program. 
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and biomass energy; renewable energy facilities will also be given a 1.5% realty tax cap on original cost of 
equipment and facilities to produce renewable energy. 

The law also prioritizes the purchase, grid connection and transmission of electricity generated by companies 
from renewable energy sources and power generated from renewable energy sources will be value added tax-
exempt. 

Within six (6) months from the effectivity of the Act, the DOE shall, in consultation with the Senate and House of 
Representatives Committee on Energy, relevant government agencies and renewable energy stakeholders, 
promulgate the Implementing Rules and Regulations of the Act. 

The Group is evaluating the significant impact that the Act may have on the Group’s future operations and 
financial results. 
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from renewable energy sources and power generated from renewable energy sources will be value added tax-
exempt 

d. BIR Revenue Regulation No.  16-2008 

On December 18, 2008, the BIR issued Revenue Regulations (RR) No.  16-2008 which implemented the 
provisions of Section 34(L) of the Tax Code of 1997, as amended by Section 3 of RA No.  9504, dealing on the 
Optional Standard Deduction (OSD) allowed to individuals and corporations in computing their taxable income. 

Based on the RR, it allowed individuals and corporations to claim OSD in lieu of the itemized deductions (i.e., 
items of ordinary and necessary expenses allowed under Sections 34 (A) to (J) and (M), Section 37, other special 
laws, if applicable).  In case of corporate taxpayers subject to tax under Sections 27(A) and 28(A) (1) of the 
National Internal Revenue Code (NIRC), as amended, the OSD allowed shall be in an amount not exceeding 
40% of their gross income.  The items of gross income under Section 32(A) of the Tax Code, as amended, which 
are required to be declared in the Income Tax Return (ITR) of the taxpayer for the taxable year, are part of the 
gross income against which the OSD may be deducted in arriving at taxable income.  Passive income which has 
been subjected to a final tax at source shall not form part of the gross income for purposes of computing the 40% 
OSD. 
For other corporate taxpayers allowed by law to report their income and deductions under a different method of 
accounting (e.g. percentage of completion basis, etc.) other than cash and accrual method of accounting, the 
gross income pursuant to the RR shall be determined in accordance with said acceptable method of accounting. 

A corporate taxpayer who elected to avail of the OSD shall signify in its return such intention; otherwise it shall be 
considered as having availed of the itemized deductions allowed under Section 34 of the NIRC.  Once the 
election to avail the OSD is signified in the return, it shall be irrevocable for the taxable year for which the return 
is made.  In the filing of the quarterly ITR, the taxpayer may opt to use either the itemized deduction or OSD.  
However, in filing the final ITR, the taxpayer must make a choice as to what method of deduction it shall employ 
for the purpose of determining its taxable net income for the entire year.  The taxpayer is, thus, not allowed to use 
a hybrid method of claiming its deduction for one taxable year. 

For the taxable period 2008 which is the initial year of the implementation of the 40% OSD, the 40% maximum 
deduction shall only cover the period beginning July 6, 2008, which is the effective date of the said Act.  
However, in order to simplify and provide ease of administration during the transition period, July 1, 2008 shall be 
considered as the start of the period when the 40% OSD may be allowed. 

In 2008, the Group computed its income tax based on itemized deductions. 

e. Share buyback 

On May 12, 2010, a new two-year share buyback program was approved by the BOD of First Gen covering up to 
300 million of First Gen’s common shares representing approximately 9% of its total outstanding common shares.  
The two-year period commenced on June 1, 2010 and will end on May 31, 2012.  The number of shares and 
buyback period are subject to revision from time to time as circumstances may warrant, subject to the proper 
disclosures to regulatory agencies, by the BOD of First Gen.   

First Gen will undertake a buyback transaction only if and to the extent that the price per share is deemed 
extremely undervalued, share prices are considered highly volatile, or in any other instance where First Gen 
believes that a buyback will result in enhancing shareholder value.  As of April 7, 2011, there are no stocks 
purchased under the program. 

  

37. Events After the Financial Reporting Date 

a. Parent Company 

Share buyback 
For the period January 1, 2011 to April 7, 2011, the Parent Company had bought back 7,701,710 of its own 
shares at an average cost per share of P=58.00 under its Share Buyback Program (see Note 23). 

b. First Gen 

Assignment of Call Option 
On March 2, 2011, First Gen and Northern Terracotta executed a Deed of Assignment to assign and sell First 
Gen’s full rights and obligations over the first tranche of an aggregate 585 million EDC common shares covered 
by the Call Option Agreements executed by First Gen to Northern Terracotta.  The assignment gives Northern 
Terracotta the right to exercise the call option over 195 million EDC shares on or before April 19, 2011, which is 
the expiration of the first exercise period, at an exercise price of P=5.67 per share. 

Exercise of Call Option 
On March 8, 2011, Northern Terracotta obtained advances/deposits from First Gen amounting to P=1,106 million 
to cover the total cost of exercising the assigned call option over the entire 195 million EDC shares.  The call 
option on the said EDC shares was exercised on the same date. 

On April 1, 2011, First Gen exercised its call option over 390 million common shares of stock of EDC at the 
exercise price of P=5.51 per share, which represents the Year 1 option price of P=5.67 per share, adjusted for the 
cash dividend of P=0.16 declared by the EDC BODs last March 15, 2011, with March 29, 2011.  The transaction 
was made through a special block sale in PSE. 
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
First Philippine Holdings Corporation
4th Floor benpres building
exchange road corner Meralco Avenue
ortigas Center, Pasig City, 1605 Philippines
tel. no. (632) 631-8024, 
Fax no.  (632) 631-4089
Website:  www.fphc.com
email:  invrel@fphc.com

LEGAL COUNSEL
Quiason, Makalintal, barot, torres,
ibarra & Sison law Firm
21st Floor robinsons equitable-PCi tower
Adb Avenue corner Poveda road
ortigas Center, Pasig City, Philippines
tel. nos.  (632) 631-0981 to 85
Fax no.  (632) 631-3847

PUNO & PUNO LAW OFFICES
12th Floor east tower
Philippine Stock exchange Center
exchange road, Pasig City, Philippines
tel. nos.  (632) 631-1261 to 64
Fax no.  (632) 631-2517

EXTERNAL AUDITOR
Sycip, Gorres, velayo & Co.
6760 Ayala Avenue
Makati City, Philippines
tel. no.  (632) 891-0307
Fax no.  (632) 819-0872

STOCKHOLDER SERVICES  
AND ASSISTANCE
Securities transfer Services, inc.
Mr. Antonio r. Galvez
General Manager
Ground Floor benpres building
exchange road corner Meralco Avenue
ortigas Center, Pasig City, 1605 Philippines
P.o. box 13951
tel. nos. (632) 490-0060 local 101 or 631-7152

CORPORATE OFFICE
First Philippine Holdings Corporation
4th Floor benpres building
exchange road corner Meralco Avenue
ortigas Center, Pasig City, 1605 Philippines
tel. no. (632) 631-8024
Fax no.  (632) 631-4089
Website:  www.fphc.com
email:  invrel@fphc.com

Schedule of Annual Stockholders’ Meeting - 
Every Last Monday of May
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The Lopez Credo 
We,	as	employees	of	the	Lopez	Group	of	companies,	
believe	that	our	primary	reason	for	being	is	to	
serve	the	Filipino	people.	

Thus,	we	shall	always	conduct	ourselves	in	a	
manner	that	is	mindful	of	the	long-term	mutual	
benefit	of	the	Lopez	Group,	and	the	various	
publics	we	serve.	

We	will	be	responsible	stewards	of	all	our	
resources,	and	conscious	of	our	obligation	to	
present	and	future	generations.	

Since	1928,	and	in	the	years	and	generations	to	
follow,	our	commitment	to	the	distinctive	Lopez	
values	will	not	change	as	we	remain	committed	
to	serve	our	stakeholders.	

The Lopez Values
In	our	service	to	the	Filipino	people,	we	will	be	
guided	by	the	following	distinct	Lopez	values:	
-	A	pioneering	entrepreneurial	spirit
-	Business	Excellence
-	Unity
-	Nationalism
-	Social	Justice
-	Integrity	
-	Concern	for	employee	welfare	and	wellness

We	know	from	generations	of	experience	that	
it	is	by	living	according	to	these	values	that	a	
company	can	be	built	to	last.	




